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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM (“GEM”) OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG
LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market desighed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a higher investment risk may be attached than other companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and
should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that
securities traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the
Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this report,
make no representation as to its accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any 10ss
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of this report.

This report, for which the directors (the “Directors”) of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
collectively and individually accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of giving information
with regard to the Company. The Directors, having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best of their
knowledge and belief the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all material respects and not
misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
report misleading.

ERMESXBFAAMRARE (TH3IA1)GEM(TGEM ) I &

GEMBYESL > ThARNEABRM—ELHHTE > LEFARMALEEREMERIAER LTHADNFTERERERR &
ERENALTETHRRENZSIARNNETRR > LREASEAFNERERSEHIRERE

HIRGEM LT ABEEAF/NEAT > ZFGEMEENESIATRMNEREEZESFSEAZTRANTIZ KB AN ° BEEFEE
FREEGEMEENESEERMBENTIS

BERGRGEIBIRAGRBXIHETREZABTHTEE * HAZEFE ML TR TRREEEE ° WX T
BRI IR & 2 BF BT ER 7 A BT EE BRI EE F A BT 5| AE IR AKRIEIE ST

IR EBIE RSB IR ST HIGEMEE %5 £ A% R (GEM_EARRY 1) M TI# ° 5 8RB P EABEERERAE (THR
BB ; ZXREBEE (IEF)) FEL AR EFIELIH H&/@Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬁi\#ﬁﬁff o BEFME /”Eﬁ—ﬁ]é‘ﬁé’?%% ? B
BMEFHIRATE * RSB AR TS EE D HIIEBEETE REHEE S B FERERFER  EXLHE
R EFT BRI ELFZRE o



CONTENTS
H &

Corporate Information 2 AFER
Chairman’s Statement 4 FERE
Management Discussion and Analysis 5 EIE@Esisa koM

Biographical Details of Directors 10 HZFh=REEEBRERELE
and Senior Management

Report of the Directors 14 ZEEEHRE
Corporate Governance Report 28 HEEARE

Environmental, Social and Governance 48 1515 vt &= e /85E
Report

Independent Auditor's Report 90 JBILIZEMENIRS

Cconsolidated Statement of Profit or Loss 98 #4F&aiEmEEMEEEAR
and Other Comprehensive Income

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 100 4R&BEAFRRRE
Consolidated Statement of Changes In Equity 102 4RZEEFEEIR
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 104 4#Z&8EE&mn=x

Notes to the Consolidated Financial 106 43F&BA75ER:EBMIzE
Statements

Five-Year Financial Summary 200 FHFBBEREE



BOARD OF DIRECTORS

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Ms. Wu Shan

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Song Ke

Ms. Liu Jia

Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yu Hon

COMPLIANCE OFFICER
Ms. Wu Shan

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Ms. Wu Shan
Mr. Lam Yu Hon

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael (Chairman)
Mr. Song Ke
Ms. Liu Jia

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Song Ke (Chairman)
Mr. Sun Haitao

Ms. Liu Jia

Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Song Ke

Ms. Liu Jia

Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

BITESR
HiEERE (ZR)
S+

BIFRITES
RITSEE
BEL T
FETRE

ATWE
RSB

EREE
[+

RENR
Szt
PSR

BE%EZEE
RS SE (/)
RIS 4
PR+

WMEE S
RITIC4 ()
BB
BlEL+
RS RE

RBZEEE
HIEBRE (ZR)
RiTS4
PlEL+
RES

% ERE
RBEBRHMEBHAARAT
HEGHET

2 CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



\

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd

Citibank Hong Kong

Bank of China Limited
Hangzhou HTDZ Sub-branch

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Hangzhou Xixi Zixia Street Sub-branch

REGISTERED OFFICE

Third Floor, Century Yard
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902
Grand Cayman, KY1-1103
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Office 2401A on 24th Floor
Tower One, Lippo Centre
89 Queensway

Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT IN THE CAYMAN ISLANDS

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
Third Floor, Century Yard

Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902

Grand Cayman, KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE IN HONG KONG

Tricor Tengis Limited

17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE

8071

WEBSITE

www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom

FEFERIRIT

RIBRTTRINABRAE

TEIERTT(EB)

PEERITRNABRAR
TN B ZAT

PR TERTRNDERAE
TN R R EE 21T

BRI

Third Floor, Century Yard
Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902
Grand Cayman, KY1-1103
Cayman Islands

MMERREBTEERME

5B

S HEEITE
TIBERDEE
24182401AE

RHRSHEZTERNBRERE

Tricor Services (Cayman Islands) Limited
Third Floor, Century Yard

Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902

Grand Cayman, KY1-1103

Cayman Islands

REREZRNEBRELDE

BEEERARAR
58

ERIE165%
REERRTOT7IE
B 13 X 5%

8071

iRl

www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom

P ABIEEIRARAT] o 2022 FEHRE 3



CHAIRMAN'’S STATEMENT

EFREHRS

Dear shareholders,

| present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the "Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2022 on
behalf of the board (the “Board”) of Directors.

In 2022, the Group continued to streamlined its businesses in
order to focus its resources on the development of the smart retail
business. The business environment remained challenging during
the year. Interest rates have been rising at an unprecedented rate,
and the outbreak of the coronavirus continued to plague large and
small businesses globally. However, with every challenge there is
an opportunity and our agility, creativity and resilience enabled
us to navigate through this difficult time. The Group’s smart retail
business has shown improved results for the year, and with the
trend of more traditional enterprises and institutions migrating to
the cloud, we are confident with the prospect of this business.

The Group has ceased its sports training business and financial
technology services business which have long been loss-making,
and will consider to terminate other unprofitable business to cope
with the direction of the Group’s future development.

Lastly, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my appreciation
to our employees and the management team, clients, shareholders
and business partners for their unwavering support over the years.
The Group will continually promote its steady business growth to
bring greater returns to the shareholders.

Sun Haitao
Chairman and Executive Director

21 March 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE w ko

BUSINESS REVIEW

Smart Retail Business

The Group’s smart retail business is operated under its subsidiary,
Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Zhongtuo
Netcom”), which positions itself as an integrated smart retail
provider. Its main business is to provide new retail digital
transformation solutions and new retail integrated software
service platform to chain enterprises and merchants, and
extended services such as cloud services (cloud storage and cloud
computing), omni-channel payment services and SMS marketing
services. During the business development over the past two years
or so, the demand for domestic cloud services and cross-border
overseas business has been growing rapidly, the market extends
from Mainland China to overseas, and the cloud services business
has become the focal point of development.

The Group receives fixed income from the system development
and the sales of software and hardware, and also receives agency
fees that are based on customer’s volume of usage such as
transaction payment amount, cloud service usage and SMS traffic.
For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s smart retail
business generated revenue of approximately HK$27,071,000
(2021: approximately HK$34,393,000) and an operating loss of
approximately HK$2,832,000 (2021 : operating loss of approximately
HK$7,945,000). The decrease in revenue was caused by the
worsening situation of the coronavirus disease 2019 (“COVID-19")
in the people’s Republic of China (the “PRC") which has suppressed
demand from customers.

Financial Technology Services Business

The Group has ceased the financial technology services business in
order to focus the Group's resources on the smart retail business
after considering that the financial technology services business
had been continuously loss-making and could not cope with the
direction of the Group's future development. As such the financial
technology services business has been classified as a discontinued
operation of the Group. The Group's financial technology services
business did not generate any revenue for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: nil) and recorded an operating loss of
approximately HK$776,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,441,000).
Please refer to note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for
details of the discontinued operation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEF R

Sports Training Business

The Group operated Hui So Hung Table Tennis Sports Centre
Limited ("HSH Company”) to provide table tennis training services
to students with different ages and levels in Hong Kong. In April
2022, the Group transferred its 60% shares indirectly held by the
Company in HSH Company (an insignificant subsidiary) to Ms. Hui
So Hung, who is the other shareholder of the remaining 40% shares
of HSH Company, at nil consideration (taking into account of net
liabilities position of HSH Company), thereby exiting from the sports
training business and classifying it as a discontinued operation.
A gain on disposal of the subsidiary of approximately HK$140,000
was recognised by the Group in the first half of the year ended 31
December 2022. For the year ended 31 December 2022, the sports
training business of the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$66,000 (2021: approximately HK$1,938,000) and an operating
loss of approximately HK$263,000 (2021: approximately
HK$432,000).

Lottery Business

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's lottery business
generated revenue of approximately HK$211,000 (2021: nil) and
recorded an operating loss of approximately HK$2,093,000 (2021:
approximately HK$540,000). The Group is closely monitoring the
performance of the lottery business and may consider closing this
business, as it keeps recording an operating loss.

Going forward, the Company will continue to pay attention to the
development trend of the market and consumers’ needs while
adjusting its cost-saving measures to prepare itself for exploring
new business opportunities in the industry, thereby preserving and
generating value to shareholders of the Company.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Group had no significant events after 31 December 2022 and up
to the date of this report.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The consolidated revenue of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2022 amounted to approximately HK$27,348,000 as
compared with approximately HK$36,331,000 for the year ended
31 December 2021, representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 25%. The revenue of the Group was mainly derived
from its smart retail business.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
ERE w ko

The Group's discontinued operations, being its financial technology
services business, sports training business and apartment leasing
business, had incurred a net loss attributable to owners of the
Company of approximately HK$486,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022 (for the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s
discontinued operations, being its financial technology services
business, sports training business and apartment leasing business,
had incurred a net loss attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$7,382,000, which was mainly attributable to the
loss recognised upon deregistration of a subsidiary of the Company
engaged in the apartment leasing business).

Loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$9,746,000 during the year ended 31 December
2022 (2021: approximately HK$19,195,000), representing a decrease
of approximately 49% as compared with that of the year ended
31 December 2021. The decrease was mainly attributable to (i)
the absence of one-off loss recognised upon deregistration of a
subsidiary of the Company engaged in the discontinued apartment
leasing business during the year ended 31 December 2021; and (ii)
the Group’s smart retail business showing improved results for the
year ended 31 December 2022 mainly due to cost-saving measures
of the Group.

The Group adopted centralised treasury policies in cash and
financial management and focuses on reducing the Group’s overall
interest expenses.

DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021: nil).

LIQUIDITY AND GEARING RATIO

As at 31 December 2022, the Group recorded total assets of
approximately HK$41,364,000 (2021: approximately 90,941,000),
total liabilities of approximately HK$13,637,000 (2021:
approximately HK$50,582,000) and cash and bank balances of
approximately HK$28,203,000 (2021: approximately HK$48,961,000).
The current ratio of the Group as at 31 December 2022 was
approximately 3 (2021: approximately 1.76).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no bank borrowings or
facilities (2021: nil) and the gearing ratio of the Group was nil (2021:
12%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEEF R

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2022, the capital structure of the Group
consisted of equity attributable to owners of the Company of
approximately HK$27,396,000 (2021: approximately HK$38,681,000)
comprising issued share capital and reserves. As at 31 December
2022, the Company'’s total number of issued shares (the “Shares”)
of HK$0.005 each was 4,686,048,381 (31 December 2021:
4,686,048,381 Shares). Details of the movement in the Company’s
share capital during the year were set out in note 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no asset that was pledged
(2021 nil).

CAPITAL INVESTMENT AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENT OR CAPITAL ASSET
PURCHASE

During the year, the Group paid approximately HK$16,000 (2021:
approximately HK$38,000) for the purchase of property, plant and
equipment.

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group had no other specific
plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at 31
December 2022.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATION IN EXCHANGE RATES
The Group's sales and purchases for the year were mostly
denominated in Hong Kong Dollars (“HK$") and Renminbi (‘RMB").

RMB is not a freely convertible currency. Future exchange rates
of RMB could vary significantly from the current or historical
exchange rates as a result of controls that could be imposed by the
government of the PRC. The exchange rates may also be affected
by economic developments and political changes domestically
and internationally, and the demand and supply of RMB. The
appreciation or devaluation of RMB against HK$ may have impact on
the operation results of the Group.

The Group monitors its foreign currency risks and will consider
hedging significant currency exposures should the need arises.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEEs W

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
As at 31 December 2022, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities (2021: nil).

PROSPECTS

The Group's business growth will continue to be propelled by its
smart retail business. With the trend of more traditional enterprises
and institutions migrating to the cloud, the business will be focus on
the development of cloud services. At the same time, the Group will
closely monitor and may downsize or cease its loss-making lottery
business in order to focus its resources on business(es) with growth
potential.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had approximately 55
employees (2021: 70) in total.

Total staff cost including Director’s remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2022 amounted to approximately HK$14,414,000
(2021 approximately HK$16,927,000).

The salaries and benefits of the Group’s employees are kept at a
competitive level and employees are rewarded on a performance-
related basis within the general framework of the Group's salary
and bonus system, which is reviewed annually.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited. A resolution for the re-appointment of Baker
Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of the Company for the
subsequent year is to be proposed at the annual general meeting
(the "AGM") of the Company. The Company has not changed its
auditor in any of the preceding three years.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFERESREEREE#R

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao, aged 42, has been appointed as the chairman of
the Board and an executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Sun is
also the chairman of the Nomination Committee and a member of
the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Currently, Mr. Sun
also serves as the chairman of the board, chief executive officer
and an executive director of 51 Credit Card Inc. (“51 Credit Card”)
(listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2051) and a director of
various subsidiaries of its group including, among others, Hangzhou
Enniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.

Mr. Sun is an entrepreneur and obtained a Bachelor’s degree in
business administration from Hangzhou Institute of Electronic
Industry (now known as the Hangzhou Dianzi University) in the
PRC in June 2002. He has been engaging in Internet businesses
since 2004, and founded several Internet companies from 2004 to
2012. In May 2012, Mr. Sun led the team to create the credit card
management mobile application named “51 Credit Card Manager”
under 51 Credit Card.

Ms. Wu Shan, aged 38, has been appointed as an executive
Director, the authorised representative and the compliance officer
of the Company since April 2022. Ms. Wu is an executive director
and a vice-president of 51 Credit Card. Ms. Wu is mainly responsible
for the investment, finance and legal affairs of 51 Credit Card and its
subsidiaries (including the Company and its subsidiaries). She has
extensive and solid experience in corporate and commercial affairs.
Ms. Wu has held senior position in the corporate legal department
of a large state-owned enterprise, and subsequently joined 51
Credit Card in November 2014.

Ms. Wu obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in science majoring in
mathematics and applied mathematics from Hubei University in the
PRC in June 2008 and obtained a Master’s degree in law from Nankai
University in the PRC in June 2012. Ms. Wu currently holds a legal
professional qualification certificate in the PRC.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEREBENS

Mr. zhu Jianfei, aged 40, has been appointed as an executive
Director, an authorised representative, a compliance officer and a
director of various subsidiaries of the Company since September
2021. Mr. Zhu has considerable experience in management
consultancy, human resources practices and business
management, as well as ample experience in and insightful
views on different aspects such as organizational planning and
management, business innovation and operations, etc. in each
development stage of enterprises. Mr. Zhu served as an executive
director, a vice-president and an authorised representative of 51
Credit Card and a general manager of Hangzhou Panniu Financing
and Guarantee Co., Ltd.* (TN EF R EERABRAF), which is
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 51 Credit Card. From May
2015 to April 2022, Mr. Zhu served in a number of positions in 51
Credit Card, including the director of the human resources and
administration department of 51 Credit Card, etc. From June 2010
to April 2013, Mr. Zhu served in a number of positions at Cloudary
Corporation* (BREE{s B4 (L8) BRAE], also known as BAX
&), and subsequently served as the managing director of DataYes
Inc.* (BHEEIRRDAT)) from April 2013 to April 2015.

Mr. Zhu obtained a Bachelor’'s degree in human resources
management from Peking University in the PRC in July 2006 and
obtained a Master’s degree in accounting from Shanghai University
of Finance and Economics in the PRC in June 2012. Mr. Zhu has
resigned as an executive Director, the authorised representative
and the compliance officer of the Company on 14 April 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EFERESREEREE#R

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke, aged 57, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Song is also the chairman
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of each of the
Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.
Mr. Song has over twenty years' experience in the entertainment
and media industry. Mr. Song founded “Maitian Music” in 1996
and had served as its general manager for four years since 1996,
and then served as the executive vice-president and production
director for Warner Music (China) from 2000 to 2004. Mr. Song
founded Beijing Taihe Rye Music Co., Ltd. in 2004 and had served
as the chief executive officer and also the president of Taihe Media
Investment Co., Ltd. for eight years. He joined Evergrande Music
as the chairman of the board from 2012 to 2015, worked for Beijing
Alibaba Music Technology Co., Ltd. as the chief executive officer
and the chairman of the board from 2015 to 2018; and served as
the chairman in the China region of Live Nation Entertainment, Inc.
(listed on the New York Stock Exchange, ticker: LYV) from 2019 to
2020. Mr. Song graduated from the Tsinghua University in the PRC in
July 1988 with a Bachelor’'s degree in environmental engineering.

Mr. Wu Bo, aged 57, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Wu is also a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Wu is the founder
and chief executive officer of meiaoju.com, a serial entrepreneur in
Internet sharing economy, artificial intelligence and deep learning.
Mr. Wu obtained his Bachelor’s degree in automation engineering
from the Tsinghua University in the PRC and his Master’s degree in
computer science from Western Michigan University in the United
States of America (the “United States”). Mr. Wu has founded
focus.cn (a leading Chinese real estate portal), lashou.com (a
Chinese top group-buying site) and meiaoju.com (an Internet
service company which brings Chinese investments into the real
estate development market of the United States). Mr. Wu has
resigned as an independent non-executive Director and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company on 19 August 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT
EEREREEREBENS

Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael, aged 58, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since August 2017. Mr. Yu is
also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of each of
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company. Mr. Yu obtained a Bachelor of commerce degree from
University of New South Wales in Australia. He is a fellow member
of the CPA Australia and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. He had held senior management
positions in several listed companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Yu is
currently an independent non-executive director of each of
Golden Resources Development International Limited (listed on the
Stock Exchange, stock code: 677), Applied Development Holdings
Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 519), Lerado
Financial Group Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange,
stock code: 1225), Harbour Digital Asset Capital Limited (formerly
known as: Unity Investments Holdings Limited) (listed on the Stock
Exchange, stock code: 913) and WT Group Holdings Limited (listed
on Stock Exchange, stock code: 8422), respectively. Mr. Yu was an
independent non-executive director of EVOC Intelligent Technology
Company Limited (listed on the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2308)
from May 2016 to May 2021.

Mr. Yu is also a founding member of The Hong Kong Independent
Non-Executive Director Association. He is currently a licensed
person to carry out type 4 (advising on securities) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance. Mr. Yu has many years of experience in accounting,
corporate finance and asset management.

Ms. Liu Jia, aged 37, has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director since August 2022. Ms. Liu is also a member of
each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Liu is a lawyer
qualified to practise in Mainland China. Ms. Liu has over 10 years
of experience in handling legal aspects of contractual disputes and
collection of non-performing assets in Mainland China, and she is
currently a partner of Sichuan Toping Law Firm (P9)||[EE/2 =75
PIT).

Ms. Liu obtained a Bachelor’s degree in law from Tianjin University
in the PRC in July 2009 and a Master’s degree in international law
from Nankai University in the PRC in June 2011.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRS

The Directors hereby present the report of the Directors and the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 32 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis
of the Group's performance for the year ended 31 December
2022 by business segments information is set out in note 6 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 December 2022 and the
state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as at that date are
set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 199.

In order to ensure the Board maintains an appropriate procedure
on declaring and recommending the dividend payment of
the Company, a dividend policy (the "Dividend Policy”) was
adopted by the Board which aims to allow the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of the Company to participate in the Company’s
profits whilst preserving the Company’s liquidity to capture future
growth opportunities.

The declaration of dividends is subject to the Company’s ability
to pay dividends, which will depend upon, including but not
limited to, the financial performance and position of the Company,
Shareholders’ interests, business conditions and strategies, and
any other factors that the Board may deem relevant. The Board
may consider declaring special dividends from time to time, in
addition to the interim and/or annual dividends. The Board reviews
the Dividend Policy and its effectiveness on a regular basis or as
required to ensure the benefit of the Shareholders as a whole is
taken into consideration from time to time during recommendation
and declaration of dividends.

The Board does not recommend to pay dividend for the year ended
31 December 2022 (2021: nil).
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRE

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group's business, a description of the
principal risks and uncertainties facing by the Group, particulars
of important events affecting the Company and an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business, are set out in
the sections headed "CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT", “MANAGEMENT
DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS”, “"CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT”
and “ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” of
this report. These discussions form part of this “REPORT OF THE
DIRECTORS".

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group’s commitment to protecting the environment is well
reflected by the continuous efforts in promoting green measures
and awareness in its daily business operations. The Group
encourages environmental protection and promotes awareness
towards environmental protection to the employees. The Group
also implements green office practices such as promoting the use
of recycled papers and reducing energy consumption by switching
off idle lighting and electrical appliances. The Board satisfy the
performance on reduction of the greenhouse gas.

The Group reviews its environmental practices from time to time
and will consider implementing further eco-friendly measures and
practices in the operation of the Group’s businesses and enhancing
environmental sustainability. During the year ended 31 December
2022, the Group's business activities continued to be carried out in
compliance with the environmental policy of the Group.

For more details, please refer to the the "ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT” section in this report.

COMPLIANCE WITH APPLICABLE LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

During the year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no
material breach or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group that had a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRS

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee has reviewed the financial statements,
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group,
and financial reporting matters including a review of the annual
consolidated results for the year ended 31 December 2022 prior to
recommending them to the Board for approval.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS, SUPPLIERS AND OTHER
STAKEHOLDERS

The Company recognises that employees are its valuable assets.
Thus, the Group provides competitive remuneration package to
attract and motivate its employees. The Group regularly reviews
the remuneration package of its employees and makes necessary
adjustments to conform to the market standard.

The Group also understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with its customer and suppliers to achieve its long-term
goals. Accordingly, the Directors have kept good communication,
promptly exchanged ideas and shared business updates with them
when appropriate. During the year ended 31 December 2022, there
was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
business partners.

For more details, please refer to the the "ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL
AND GOVERNANCE REPORT" section in this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the Company’s share capital during
the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in notes 28 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and the
Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in note
35 to the consolidated financial statements and the consolidated
statement of changes in equity, respectively.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

In accordance with the laws of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium account is distributable to the Shareholders provided that
immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they
fall due in the ordinary course of business. As at 31 December 2022,
the Company did not have any reserves available for distribution
(2021: nil).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the year ended 31 December 2022 are set out in
note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Under the Company'’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the
laws of the Cayman Islands, there is no provision for pre-emptive
rights which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares to its
existing Shareholders first on a pro-rata basis.

FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and the assets and liabilities
of the Group for the last five financial years as extracted from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Group is set out on
page 200 of this report.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles, every Director shall be entitled to be
indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or legal liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a Director in
defending any proceedings, whether civil or criminal, in which
judgment is given in his favour, or in which he is acquitted. During
the year, there was appropriate directors’ and senior officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and senior officers of
the Group.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRS

RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group participates in defined contribution retirement schemes
for its employees in Hong Kong and the PRC. For its Hong Kong
employees, the Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the "“MPF Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Employment
Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The MPF Scheme is
a defined contribution retirement plan administered by independent
trustees. Under the MPF Scheme, the employer and its employees
are each required to make contributions to the MPF Scheme at 5%
of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF Scheme
vest immediately.

Regarding the employees in the PRC, pursuant to the relevant
labour laws, rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
participates in defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“Retirement Benefit Scheme”) organised by the relevant local
government authorities in the PRC whereby the Group is required to
make contributions to the Retirement Benefit Scheme at a certain
rate of the standard wages determined by the relevant authorities
in the PRC during the year. Contributions to the Retirement Benefit
Scheme vest immediately.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, there was no forfeited
contribution under the MPF Scheme and Retirement Benefit Scheme
which may be used by the Group to reduce the existing level of
contributions (2021: nil).

Details of the Group’s contributions to the retirement schemes are
shown in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

There was no equity-linked agreement entered into by the
Company, or subsisted during the year.

18

BIRE 5T E

FEESHEEBRTEES S EEBEHTR KRG
B - AEFRBEBEHIBIS5ECRHIM AR
BB AR EBEOIES7E (RERE) EBE2H
FEBREZ EERUBGIEAEERE (TR
stEl) - BREESF B EHBUREAEEZ M
FIRINGTE o RBBRETSHE  BEREER BT
AR EBBRIWAZ5% MRS 5t 3 FH M
mE B AW AZ LR330,00087T - sBiEE T3]
HRRENFERE o

FIPEREMS @ RETEBESEED - R K
B AEESR—IEHPEA RS BT
BRVREHREREF 58 (NRAEFIEE) ° &
It > ANEEAENF AR ERREEREE EIRET
B2 —ELERmBRRETEBIFHER o BIKEF
STEIZHRENRS RS o

HE2022F12A3MHILEE » TaEsst8 &E
RIEFTE) ™ EHR IR BO T el (A5 B B T8
RIRBHIUKF (20214 © £) ©

AEFREARESHENHITFEBENRGEMBRE
MizE10K% 11 o

Ar R 59 17 5
AATRENIL BT T RIFFERR T 555 o

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED e 2022 ANNUAL REPORT



\

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, which were not a contract of service with any
Director or any person engaged in the full-time employment of our
Company, concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group were
entered into or existed during the year.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the percentages of sales and purchases from the
major customers and suppliers of the Group, respectively, are set
out below:

(1) Sales
tHE
— the largest customer
-RAER
— the five largest customers (combined)
-AREFR (G

(2)  Purchases
REE
- the largest supplier
- R AHRIER
— the five largest suppliers (combined)
- AAMIER (G5)

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors or any of
their close associates (as defined in the GEM Listing Rules), or any
Shareholders (that, to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more
than 5% of the issued Shares) had any beneficial interest in the
Group's five largest customers and suppliers during the year.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

EFTHRS

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)
Mr. Zhu Jianfei (resigned on 14 April 2022)
Ms. Wu Shan (appointed on 14 April 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Song Ke

Mr. Wu Bo (resigned on 19 August 2022)
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael

Ms. Liu Jia (appointed on 19 August 2022)

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general
meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their
number is not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not
less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that
every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at an annual
general meeting at least once every three years.

Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, any Director (either to fill a
casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to the existing Board)
appointed shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of
the Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible for
re-election at such meeting. For details of the Directors proposed
for re-election at the AGM, please refer to the general mandate
circular to be issued by the Company for the AGM.

DIRECTORS' BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 10 to 13 of
this report.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
UNDER RULE 17.50A(1) OF THE GEM LISTING
RULES

Changes in the information of the Directors under rule 17.05A(1)
during the year ended 31 December 2022 and up to the date of this
report are set out below:

o Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael ceased to hold the license on type 6
(advising on corporate finance) regulated activities under the
Securities and Futures Ordinance from September 2022; and

o The annual Director’s fee of Ms. Wu Shan as executive director
has been changed to HK$408,000 with effect from 1 January
2023.
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Save as disclosed above, there is no other information required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS' SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors has a service contract with the Company
which is not determinable by the Company within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION

The Remuneration Committee considers and recommends to the
Board the remuneration and other benefits paid by the Company
to the Directors. The remuneration of all Directors is subject to
regular monitoring by the Remuneration Committee to ensure that
the levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate.
References to the remuneration standards of the industry as well
as the business development of the Company are made to ensure
the level of remuneration should be sufficient to attract and retain
the Directors, and the Company should avoid paying more than
necessary for this purpose.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in
relation to the Group’s businesses to which any of the Company’s
subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director or an entity connected with a Director had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during
or at the end of the year.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS
IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No contract of significance has been entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder
or any of its subsidiaries at any time during the year. In addition,
no contract of significance for the provision of services to the
Company or any of its subsidiaries was entered into between the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling Shareholder or
any of its subsidiaries.
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES OF THE
COMPANY IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY
OR ANY ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 December 2022, the interests or short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its
associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") (Cap. 571 of the
Laws of Hong Kong)), which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which
were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFQ),
or pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register
of the Company referred to therein, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the required
standard of dealings in securities by directors of listed issuers (the
"Required Standard of Dealings”) as referred to in Rules 5.46 to
5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules, were as follows:

Long position in shares of associated corporation

Name of associated
corporation

Capacity and nature

Name of Directors of interests

EFRFRFERITHRAERER
5] (R AR B A B B (7 - MERIAR
BRESFHEENERRRXE

R2022F 128318 EERARBRESTHAE
REABDXEEARE ZE (EXRESFRPER
B (TEBFREAE KAL) (FEEHIES71E) EXV
) 2 1D ~ BRARMD RESTHEERERES
ERBIEXVE BT MESDEBHE AN KRR
Frzmo A (BIEREES ME KRG ZZE
BXWRIERRAEE ZRRIRE) » HRIEE
5 RS KBS 35218 Bt iR sz R BIFTIE 2 AR
BEEMzBEIURE * HARIEGEM EHRAIE
SAEES 67TIEFTt EHBIT NESETESRS
ZSFRRE (IR ZHTEE)) BNERRAB KRR
FrrEmakatT :

RiEBEBRBZEE

Approximate
percentage of

Number of shares issued shares™

HEETRINZ
EENE HEEE 2B BRGNS R 1n 8 E BAE ST
Mr. Sun Haitao 51 Credit Card Founder of a discretionary trust who 108,159,464 7.96%
(“Mr. Sun”) can influence how the trustee
exercises his discretion?
BEERE(TREE) S1ERE AR EZFEANA
THEERNBENRBEETEIZIAY
Others@ 50,355,000 3.71%
Hiho
Others@ 142,708,272 10.51%
ﬂﬁﬁm
301,222,736 22.18%
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(1) The calculations were based on the number of shares as a percentage of the
total number of issued shares of 51 Credit Card (i.e. 1,358,320,188 shares) as at
31 December 2022.

(2) Rising Sun Limited (the sole shareholder of which is Wukong Ltd., which is
beneficially owned by a discretionary trust, Wukong Trust, founded by Mr.
Sun), (i) beneficially holds 108,159,464 shares in 51 Credit Card among which
97,297,298 shares were charged in favour of Hangzhou Zhenniu Information
Technology Co., Ltd.* (“Hangzhou zZhenniu”) (an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of 51 Credit Card), a non-qualified lender; (i) acts as a general partner
and controls 51 Xinhu L.P., which in turn holds 50,355,000 shares in 51 Credit
Card; and (iii) holds 142,708,272 shares in 51 Credit Card through various voting
proxies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, no other Director
or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have
any interest or short position in any shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporation
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which were taken or deemed to have under such
provisions of the SFO), as recorded in the register required to be
kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Required
Standard of Dealings.

(1) ZROEBMIN2022F12831851E B REBETRHEEH
(BP1,358,320,188/2 f%17) FIE DL ©

2 Rising Sun Limited (X2 &R AWukong Ltd (H#&REE
A ME B SsEWukong TrustBm#EA) ) (VBEEAS1E
FA£2108,159,464 8% f& (0 E 797,297,298 E U IEE B
BB ATINIRFEEREEARAT (TRMIRSF)) » —FH
SVEREREE2ERE ZMEBAR) AZm AMEHIER ; (i)
EAEZESEAMIZESI5T Xinhu L.P. > 51 Xinhu LP4FAE
5115 F£250,355,0008¢ 819 ; K (ii) BB EREEEF
BSUsHF£2142,708,2728% &5 ©
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INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER
PERSON IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2022, so far as was known to the Directors, the
persons or entities, other than the Directors or chief executives of
the Company, who had or was deemed to have an interest or a short
position in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of the
Company which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO, or which would fall to be

FERRKREMALIRELQFNA
2 HARMKRESTHEANER
R 3%

1R2022F 128318 °* BB > U TALTHE
B(EFHA 8 &aTHRABSRN) REQT K
7~ BERMKRESTRE IR EAERSIREES
ARSI BISE336IRRE BN A ANBBGFEZE
Stz #RIRE  WRERE S RIAE R HEXV
B 2R B3N B2 HREBEAA BN E 2 Bem o

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions2and3 & :

of Part XV of the SFO were as follows:

Number of

Shares directly

Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of

Names nature of interests and category® issued Shares™
EHRE
FRRRG HEBTRZ
215 S REEEE E1E KRS BAB S
Substantial Shareholders
ITERR
51 Credit Card® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
51ER®C RREEE 2 R
51 Credit Card (China) Limited® Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
SVERR(RE)ERAF® REEGEE 2 B
Hangzhou Zhenniu®@ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
FUNIRAE® REEHEE 2%
Hangzhou Jiahao Technology Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
(“Hangzhou Jiahao")?
MMNEFERERAR (THRMEF) KRB EE 2 #Ex
Shanghai Wuniu Network Technology Co., Ltd.* Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
("Shanghai Wuniu")?

B REEREBRAR (TEEEYF)) @ RREFEB 2 R
51RENPIN.COM INC.@ @ Beneficial owner 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%

BEEEEA
Mr. Wang Yonghua ("Mr. Wang")®- ¢ Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213 (L) 46.95%

g T )0
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Number of
Shares directly

Approximate

Capacity and or indirectly held percentage of
Names nature of interests and category® issued Shares™
HiggHE
FRRRM HEETRMNZ
&8 B REREE 21 KRG BEAE 2o
Tian Tu Capital Co., Ltd.* ("Tian Tu Capital”)® Interest in controlled corporation 2,199,963,213 (L) 46.95%
FITREREEERNERAE ((REKRE)® RREHEE 2 R
Tiantu Advisory Company Limited®: @ Interest in controlled corporation 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
KEFBAERATC® RREGEE 2
Tiantu Investments Limited®: @ Person having a security interest 1,834,963,213 (L) 39.16%
in shares
HEOFEREERNA
Other persons
HtAL
Tiantu Investments International Limited®- @ Beneficial owner 365,000,000 (L) 7.79%
KEREEEERAT @ EaBEAA
Mr. Zuo Lei Beneficial owner 333,690,000 (L) 7.12%
E2RE BEEBA
Notes: MaE
(1) The calculations were based on the number of Shares which each party (1) BEHEEEEN20225 128318 (EERBEERA N

is interested in (whether directly or indirectly interested or deemed to
be interested) as a percentage of the total number of issued Shares (i.e.
4,686,048,381 Shares) as at 31 December 2022.

51RENPIN.COM INC. is wholly owned by Shanghai Wuniu, which is in turn wholly
owned by Hangzhou Jiahao. Further, contractual arrangements have been
entered into between Hangzhou Zhenniu (a company wholly owned by 51 Credit
Card (China) Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by 51 Credit Card) and
Hangzhou Jiahao so that Hangzhou Zhenniu can control Hangzhou Jiahao. By
virtue of the SFO, the above companies are deemed to be interested in those
Shares held by 51RENPIN. COM INC., respectively.

Tiantu Investments Limited is wholly owned by Tiantu Advisory Company
Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital which is owned as
to approximately 40.35% by Mr. Wang. At as 31 December 2022, Mr. Wang is
deemed to be interested in an aggregate of 2,199,963,213 Shares, of which
1,834,963,213 Shares held by 51RENPIN.COM INC. is charged in favour of Tiantu
Investments Limited and 365,000,000 Shares are owned beneficially by Tiantu
Investments International Limited, a company wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital.

WRAEANED) NRMBEEEEITRMHEH (A
4,686,048,38182/%17) B D ELETE ©

51RENPIN.COM INC.E bi81B42EHE » LE1E4AH
MMBIFEEHES © LS MMIRF (B51EBF (FRE)
BRATEERS > MZATMRSIERAER2EHR) BN
MBIFET L SHZHE > BUNIRFBEZESIFINGE LT © 1R
BESRAERE > Em AT DB RAESS5TRENPIN.
COM INC.FTis B2 S 1D 2 1ad o

Tiantu Investments Limited A X Bl 5B R AR 2 &
A REZHAGRASRNEXRERE (EXEHERH
#40.35% 1) 2 EHER - HLE2022F12831H * £54&
EWRAFE S 2199963213 B M > Hb
1,834,963,2130& A&7 FH5TRENPIN.COM INC.FR 7 it K
FTiantu Investments Limited > 365,000,0008% 8% {2 Bl FHX
BREERERAG (—EHREREEZEER Z/AR)
5o
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(4) Pursuant to the deed of release dated 9 January 2023 entered into between
Tiantu Investments Limited and 51RENPIN.COM INC., 1,834,963,213 shares
secured in favour of Tiantu Investments Limited have been discharged. With
this regard, on 9 January 2023, Tiantu Investments Limited and Tiantu Advisory
Company Limited cases to have any interest share over the Company. Mr. Wang
is deemed to be interested in 365,000,000 Shares held by Tiantu Investments
International Limited, a company wholly owned by Tian Tu Capital afterward.

(5) (L) - Long Position.

Save as disclosed above, so far as was known to the Directors, as
at 31 December 2022, there was no person (not being a Director or
a chief executive of the Company) who had or was deemed to have
an interest or short position in the Shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO,
or which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the
provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

ARRANGEMENT TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year and at the end of the year was the
Company or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other subsidiaries.

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS
OR CAPITAL ASSETS PURCHASE

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not have any
material investments (2021: nil). The Group had no other specific
plan for material investment or acquisition of capital assets as at 31
December 2022.

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

For the year ended 31 December 2022, there were no connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions of the Company
which require compliance with any of the reporting, announcement
or independent shareholders’ approval requirements under
Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules. Details of material related
party transactions undertaken in the usual course of business
of the Group are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements. However, these transactions were either exempt from
reporting, announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements under Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules, or did not
fall under the definition of connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing
Rules.

26

(4) iR ¥ Tiantu Investments Limited 2 51RENPIN.COM INC.
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It » 720231891 ° Tiantu Investments Limited#] X &
BHBERATDVTBEERQATDNEARERS - HE £
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COMPETITION AND CONFLICT OF INTERESTS

During the year, none of the Directors or controlling Shareholders
or any of their respective close associates (as defined in the GEM
Listing Rules) has any interest in a business which causes or may
cause any significant competition with the business of the Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the total
issued Shares was at all times held by the public during the year
and up to the date of this report. The Company has maintained a
sufficient public float in compliance with the GEM Listing Rules.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

A detailed report on corporate governance is set out on pages 28 to
47 of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2022 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong
Kong Limited. A resolution will be proposed to the forthcoming AGM
to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as the auditor of the
Company of the subsequent year.

By order of the Board

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
sun Haitao

Chairman and Executive Director

21 March 2023

* The English name(s) has/have been transliterated from its/their respective
Chinese name(s) and is/are for identification only.
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CORPORATE CULTURE

The Group recognizes that a good corporate culture is necessary
to support and complement its corporate governance efforts
and corporate image, and has gradually developed a corporate
culture emphasising on lawful, ethical and responsible business
conduct over the years, which has been reflected in the overall
operations and management of the Group, in order to facilitate the
long-term sustainability of the Group. In order to promote open
communication in the workplace and high ethical standards among
staff and management of the Group, the Group has established
anti-corruption and whistle-blowing policies, to provide guidance
on identifying relevant breaches or improper behaviour, reporting
procedures and consequences of violations of such policies. For
further details on the Group's anti-corruption and whistle-blowing
policies, please see page 78 of the ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND
GOVERNANCE REPORT.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate
governance in order to uphold the transparency of the Group and
safeguard the interests of the Shareholders.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had applied
and complied with all the code provisions in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 15 to the
GEM Listing Rules except for the following:

CODE PROVISION C.2.1

Code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual.

Currently, Mr. Sun being the chairman of the Board, also serves as
the function of chief executive officer of the Company (the “"CEQ")
which is deviated from the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code
that the roles of chairman and the CEO are performed by the same
individual. The Board considers that Mr. Sun possesses the essential
leadership skills to manage the Board and extensive knowledge in
the business of the Group. In the opinion of the Directors, through
supervision by the Board and the independent non-executive
Directors, the same individual performing the roles of chairman and
the CEO can achieve the goal of improving the Company’s efficiency
in decision making, execution and effectively capturing business
opportunities.

EEXE

FAEEEHRD REFNEEXEHRIFNERTE
TEEATHFNEELRECVEN * ZFERETT
pL TR EE  BEMAEENEETANEEX
6’ BRREAEENEBRESNERETD  DUeE
FEBVRMAAFELRE - /7T RETFRAVE
MBBNEESETREBENSERIEE  AEH
HIE T REMANFREEE * AP EFAERNAE
75 BREFNERSEBRNBRIZMES -
ERAERRBERMEBRBRNVE—DFIE 5
RIZ - HERERAKREH78E °

EXERER
EERRNNEHBRENCRES > UREAE
B HOEBAR R (RIS AR SR MR o

HE2022E12831BLEEE > XA EERBKE
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The Board will review the effectiveness of this arrangement from
time to time. The Company is still looking for a suitable candidate to
fill the vacancy of the CEO in order to comply with the CG Code.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted a code of conduct for securities
transactions by Directors (the “Code Of Conduct”) which is on
terms no less exacting than the Required Standard of Dealings
against which issuers and their directors must measure their
conduct regarding transactions in securities of their issuers. The
Company has made specific enquiry with all Directors and has not
been notified of any non-compliance with the Required Standard of
Dealings and the Code Of Conduct by any of the Directors during
the year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND MEETINGS

The Board comprised the following Directors during the year and up
to the date of this report:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Sun Haitao (Chairman)

Mr. Zhu Jianfei (resigned on 14 April 2022)
Ms. Wu Shan (appointed on 14 April 2022)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Song Ke

Mr. Wu Bo (resigned on 19 August 2022)

Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael

Ms. Liu Jia (appointed on 19 August 2022)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out under the
section headed "BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT” of this report.

AT DENEEENEDURRITEHRE R Z ZEER L
MEEEEATRIZHRE
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The Board has implemented various mechanisms to ensure
that independent views are available to the Board, including:
(1) having three independent non-executive Directors (“INEDS")
representing at least one-third of the Board in; (2) ensuring
ongoing liaison between the Chairman and all INEDs through the
company secretary which allows continuous feedback is given
and timely consideration of any proposals; (3) making independent
professional advice available to Directors upon reasonable
request under the terms of reference of each of Committees of
the Company; (4) requirement for each INED to provide written
confirmation annually as to the factors affecting their independence
provided under the GEM Listing Rules; (5) in considering
prospective INEDs candidates, the Nomination Committee
assesses independence of the candidate(s) with reference to the
relevant guidelines set out in the GEM Listing Rules and other
factors, including but not limited to his/her character, integrity,
cross-directorships and significant links with other Directors,
time commitment, professional qualifications and relevant work
experience; (6) the Nomination Committee shall review the
structure, size and composition of the Board regularly in relation to
the Company’s Board diversity policy (“Board Diversity Policy”)
and make proposals accordingly.

The Company will conduct a regular review on the implementation
and effectiveness of such mechanisms.
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The Board meets regularly (at least four times a year at quarterly =ZEZgrHiecdHEEe 9% (EERESELHEE
intervals) for reviewing and approving the financial and operating /b Z) > UEBEMEAATD 2B EREER
performance, considering and approving the overall strategies and I8 > &Rt EA A B BB EE IS R ISR R it S TR
policies and approving the change of constitution of the Board EEE4AMLKEIIIFRITESNGM - TEE=ET
and the salary of INEDs of the Company. Additional meetings ANKERFEZMEIEINEE  EEHE ~ BBEEN
are convened as and when the Board considers necessary. The HtEBEFEAARNHEZEEE - BMNEEN2022
Directors attended those meetings in person, by phone or through SF2> @z HEDSEHFINOT -

other electronic means of communication. The attendance record

of the meetings of the Directors in 2022 is set out below:

Attendance/Number of meetings entitled to attend

HERS EREEEEHE
Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee Committee General
Name of Directors Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting

EE BRERY bN&sg REZEY
EEp B& ik B ik RRAE
Executive Directors
HiITEE
Mr. Sun Haitao 2/5 - 2/2 2/2 171
BEERE
Mr. Zhu Jianfei® 2/2 - - - -

BIRILED

Ms. Wu Shan® 3/3 - - - il
Site
INEDS
BLHHTEE
Mr. Song Ke 5/5 5/5 212 2/2 0/1
Rkt
Mr. Wu Bo® 2/4 2/3 1/2 1/2 0/1
BRSEES
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael 5/5 5/5 2/2 2/2 11
Ms. Liu Jia® 17 2/2 - - -
El Espequnll
Notes: bt
(1) Resigned on 14 April 2022. (1) FR2022F45 148 ©
(2)  Appointed on 14 April 2022. (2)  F2022FE4B14RERF -
(3) Resigned on 19 August 2022. (3) 202258 B 19H BHE ©
(4) Appointed on 19 August 2022. (4) R20224E8 319 HERAE -
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EEEBHRS

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE BOARD AND
DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTION

The Board has the overall responsibility for the stewardship of the
Group, including the responsibilities for the adoption of long-term
strategies and appointment and supervision of management to
ensure that the operation of the Group is conducted in accordance
with the objective of the Group. Execution of daily operational
matters is delegated to the management. Such arrangements are
reviewed by the Board to ensure they align with the Company’s
business needs annually.

Currently, Mr. Song Ke, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael are
the INEDs. All of them are under a term of service of three years
commencing from the date of their respective appointments or
the date of entering into their respective letter of appointments.
All Directors, including the INEDs, are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the AGM in accordance with the Articles,
provided that the appointment may be terminated by the Company
or the Director concerned with a written notice pursuant to their
respective service contracts and letter of appointments.

Save as otherwise disclosed under the section headed
"BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT" of this report, there is no other relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships) among members of the Board. All of them are free
to exercise their independent judgement during the year. The
Company has received annual written confirmations from the INEDS
in respect of their independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM
Listing Rules. The Company considers the INEDs to be independent
in accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the GEM
Listing Rules.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT
OF THE DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each member of
the Board received training on corporate governance, regulatory
developments or other relevant topics during the year, and the
Directors are continually updated on developments in the statutory
and regulatory regime and the business environment to facilitate
the discharge of their responsibilities. The Company Secretary has
also prepared an induction training package for the newly appointed
Director.
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) ( \\\,
»\ Details of trainings attended by each Director in continuous SEERENGRA SESLHEHES
\ professional development during the year are set out below: FIENE :

Scope of Training
1EoEE s
Legal and
Directors’ regulatory Business Corporate
Name of Directors duties updates updates governance
EERE EEWE EEREEEN EFE TEER
Executive Directors
HITEE
Mr. Sun Yes Yes Yes Yes
Rt B B B B
Mr. Zhu Jianfei® Yes Yes Yes Yes
BRSO A 5 5 5
Ms. Wu Shan®@ Yes Yes Yes Yes
C=3! i pequnc] B B B B
INEDS
BUIFHITEE
Mr. Song Ke Yes Yes Yes Yes
PR b B B B B
Mr. Wu Bo® Yes Yes Yes Yes
BREEES B B B B
Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael Yes Yes Yes Yes
REELRE B B B B
Ms. Liu Jia® Yes Yes Yes Yes
BlELZ LW B B B B
Notes: Hiat -
(N Resigned on 14 April 2022. M 20224 B1ABBHE ©
2) Appointed on 14 April 2022. (2) R2022F4B14BEHRE ©
(3) Resigned on 19 August 2022. (3) R202258 19 H FHE ©
(4)  Appointed on 19 August 2022. (4)  FA2022FE8B19BEZRME ©
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE FERITHAR

Currently, Mr. Sun takes up the role of chairman and serves as the  HE °® BEEEFRASTEE ° B INEFETEAE
function of chief executive of the Company, which is deviated from  ZHEkAE ° REE T DX SATEEC.2. MERIRE o 5%
code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code. For further details, please [EFERARS IFRHEXEC.2.1ME 12D ©

refer to the section headed “CODE PROVISION C.2.1" of this report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee (collectively,
the “Board Committees”) in order to maintain a high level of
corporate governance standard of the Company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE AND ACCOUNTABILITY

The Audit Committee comprised three members and all members
are INEDs. The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Yu Tat Chi
Michael, with Mr. Song Ke and Ms. Liu Jia as members.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor
and assessing their independence and performance; review the
Group’s financial information and compliance; and review the
Group's financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems.

Summary of the work performed by the Audit Committee during the
year:

- reviewed the audited consolidated financial statement, annual
results announcement and the annual report for the year
ended 31 December 2021;

- reviewed the unaudited consolidated financial statements
for the three months, six months and nine months ended 31
March, 30 June and 30 September 2022, respectively,

- reviewed the financial reporting system, the risk management
and internal control systems, and the effectiveness of the
internal audit function;

- made recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment
of the auditor of the Company; and

- discussed with the auditor of the Company the audit matters
before the commencement of the audit work.

The Audit Committee held five meetings during the year. Individual

attendance records of each member of the Audit Committee are set
out on page 31 of this report.
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The Board Committees have adopted specific terms of reference
clearly defining their respective powers and responsibilities. These
committees are required by their terms of reference to report to the
Board in relation to their decisions, findings or recommendations,
and in certain specific situations, to seek the Board's approval
before taking any actions. The Board reviews, on an annual basis,
all delegations by the Board to each of the Board Committees to
ensure that such delegations are appropriate and continue to be
beneficial to the Group as a whole.

AUDITOR’'S REMUNERATION

For year ended 31 December 2022, the remuneration payable in
respect of the audit and non-audit services rendered by the auditor
of the Company are as follows:

EXLEGCEMBRENHEN BB Z IEER
EHE - BELEREZEFZEGMERTE « R
FEBERAEFETRS  TEETHEBRT
ERREATSHMNSKESGIME EFEEF
GNEFEMNREFTEEG A RE  LURRFRZ
EREAH BT EENTEERRE A

% Eh B BN <&

HE2022F12831HIEFEE * A A T ZE IR
2 BHRIFBARBEN ZMESWT -

Approximate

Type of services amount
AR EREY B4 %R
(HK$'000)
(F#&7T)
Audit services BT 1,120
Non-audit services FEBEEHERTS 780

NATURE OF NON-AUDIT SERVICES

The non-audit services provided by the auditor of the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2022 include reviews of the
Company’s annual results announcement for the year ended 31
December 2022 and unaudited consolidated financial statements
for the three months, six months and nine months ended 31 March,
30 June and 30 September 2022, respectively.

DIRECTORS' AND AUDITOR'S
RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of financial statements which give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Group. In preparing such financial statements, it
is fundamental that appropriate accounting policies are selected
and applied consistently. The statement of the auditor of the
Company about its reporting responsibilities on the consolidated
financial statements is set out in the section headed “INDEPENDENT
AUDITOR’S REPORT" of this report on pages 90 to 97.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDs. The Nomination Committee
is chaired by Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board and executive
Director, with Mr. Song Ke, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael as
members.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review
the structure, size and composition of the Board at least annually;
identify individuals suitably qualified to become members of
the Board, to assess the independence of the INEDs and make
recommendation to the Board on relevant matters relating to the
appointment or re-election of Directors and succession planning of
the Board.

Summary of the work performed by the Nomination Committee
during the year:

- reviewed the structure, size and composition and diversity of
the Board, and the Board Diversity Policy;

- reviewed the nomination policy and procedures for
directorship during the year;

- assessed the independence of the INEDS;

- made recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the re-election of Directors; and

- considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
appointment of Ms. Wu Shan as an executive Director and
Ms. Liu Jia as an independent non-executive Director.

The Nomination Committee held two meetings during the year.

Individual attendance records of each member of the Nomination
Committee are set out on page 31 of this report.
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Nomination Policy
The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”).

Summary of the Nomination Policy

The Company embraced high transparency in the Board member
selection process. The Nomination Policy is aimed to ensure the
Board maintains a balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The Nomination Committee utilizes various methods
for identifying director candidates, including recommendations
from Board members, management and professional search firms.
In addition, the Nomination Committee will consider director
candidates properly submitted by the Shareholders. All director
candidates are evaluated by the Nomination Committee based upon
the director’s qualifications, as stated in the Nomination Policy.
While director candidates will be evaluated on the same criteria,
the Nomination Committee retains the discretion to establish the
relative weighting of such criteria, which may vary based on the
composition, skill sets and experiences of the collective Board
rather than on the individual candidate. The Nomination Committee
has been delegated to identify individuals suitably gualified to
become Board members and select or make recommendations
to the Board on the selection of individuals nominated for
directorships. The Board is ultimately responsible for selection and
appointment of new Directors.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy and measurable
objectives which are set for the purpose of implementing the Board
Diversity Policy.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company recognised and embraced the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance quality of its performance. The Board
Diversity Policy aimed to set out the approach to achieve diversity
on the Board. Selection of candidates for members of the Board will
be based on a number of objective criteria, including but not limited
to skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence,
age and gender, and will take into full consideration of the
Company’s business scale and specific requirements from time
to time. Currently, members of the Board have different business
and professional backgrounds, and among all five members of the
Board, two are female. Given the current composition of the Board,
the Nomination Committee is of the view that gender diversity
is achieved and shall focus on maintaining the gender balance.
The Nomination Committee is responsible for supervising the
implementation of this policy and reviewing it, as appropriate, to
ensure its effectiveness.
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At present, the Nomination Committee considers that the Board
is sufficiently diverse and will review the Board Diversity Policy
regularly to ensure its effectiveness and recommend the same to
the Board for approval.

The Board and Nomination Committee have reviewed the Board
Diversity Policy during the year to ensure its effectiveness and
resolved that the diversity in the Board composition was in the
interest of the Company.

For the details of the current gender ratio in the workforce,
including senior management of the Group, please see page 67 of
the ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT in this
report. Given the current composition of the workforce, the Board
is of the view that gender diversity is achieved and shall focus on
maintaining the gender balance. The management will review the
gender composition of the workforce and set targets based on the
future needs of the Group's development.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprised four members and a
majority of the members are INEDS. The Remuneration Committee
is chaired by Mr. Song Ke, with Mr. Sun, the chairman of the Board
and an executive Director, Ms. Liu Jia and Mr. Yu Tat Chi Michael as
members.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure for all Directors’ and senior management remuneration;,
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive Directors and senior management,
which include benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation
payments, including any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment; make recommendations
to the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors,
consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment
and responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group; and to review and/or approve matters relating to share
schemes under Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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Sd‘mmary of the work performed by the Remuneration Committee
during the year:

reviewed the remuneration of the Directors;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors;

- assessed performance of the executive Directors and approve
the terms of the executive Directors’ service contracts;

- reviewed and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors,
INEDs and senior management; and

- considered and made recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages for Mr. Song Ke, Mr. Wu Bo, Mr. Yu Tat
Chi Michael and the proposed remuneration of Ms. Wu Shan
as executive Director and the proposed remuneration of Ms.
Liu Jia upon her appointment as independent non-executive
Director.

The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year
ended 31 December 2022. Individual attendance records of each
member of the Remuneration Committee are set out on page 31 of
this report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board recognises that the Directors are collectively responsible
for the corporate governance duties. Pursuant to the code provision
of A.2.1 of the CG Code, such duties include but are not limited to:

developing and reviewing the Company’'s policies
and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board;

reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of the Directors and senior
management;

reviewing and monitoring the Company’ s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements;

developing, reviewing and monitoring the Code Of Conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and

reviewing the Company's compliance with the CG Code and
the disclosure in the corporate governance report.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Board has reviewed
and performed the above mentioned corporate governance
functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROL

Risks arise during the Group's pursuance of its long-term strategy
and it is the Board's responsibility to evaluate and determine
the nature and extent of risks that it is willing to take. The
Board acknowledged it is responsible for the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group including the task of
reviewing such systems and ensuring their effectiveness. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in carrying out its responsibilities and
is also responsible for reviewing and monitoring the effectiveness
of the Group's internal audit function.

The Group adopts the “three lines of defence” framework
for effective risk management and follows The Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
("C0OS0") Internal Control — Integrated Framework for the design,
implementation and review of internal controls.

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems
are, however, designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and can only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.

With respect to the handling and dissemination of inside
information, the Company has formulated its guidelines including
dissemination of information to state purpose and on a need-to-
know basis, with an aim to ensure that the insiders abide by the
confidentiality requirement and fulfill the disclosure obligation of
the inside information in accordance with the applicable laws and
regulations.

The Board had performed an annual review on the effectiveness of
the Group's risk management and internal control systems relating
to financial, operational and compliance controls for the year
ended 31 December 2022. Also, the Board and Audit Committee
had received and considered the evaluations from internal control
department of the Group, the major risks detected through the
systems and discussed the needs for further improvement. The
Board was of the view that throughout the year ended 31 December
2022, the financial reporting system and the risk management and
internal control systems of the Group were adequate and effective.
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The Board's annual review for the year ended 31 December
2022 also assessed the adequacy of the Group's resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the accounting, internal audit, financial reporting functions and
ESG performance and reporting. For this aspect, the Board was
satisfactory. The Board was also not aware of any material internal
control failings or weaknesses.

Risk Management

The “three lines of defence” is the Group's official organizational
structure for carrying out its risk management activities, which
includes the identification, assessment, monitoring and mitigation
of risks.

The First Line of Defence - Daily Operation

The first line of defence is represented by all functional departments
responsible for the day-to-day operation and management of the
Group. They are the risk owners that constantly encounter risks
during their operation and mitigate them by following the Group’s
policies and procedures. Risk owners are also responsible for
designing and implementing internal controls related to their risks.

The Second Line of Defence - Risk Monitoring

The second line of defence is mainly represented by the internal
control team of the Group which takes up the role of risk
management and monitoring. They holistically assess and identify
the risks of the Group and evaluate the impact, formulate policies
and procedures to mitigate those risks, and are also responsible for
supervising the first line of defence in the improvement of internal
controls.

The Third Line of Defence - Independent Assurance

The third line of defence is represented by the Group’s internal audit
team which performs regular internal audit. The internal audit team
is highly independent and reports to both the Board and the Audit
Committee directly. The primary task is to perform independent
evaluation on the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems.

Outside the organization’s structure, the external auditor and other

regulatory bodies supplement the three lines of defence to further
strengthen the Group’s governance and controls.
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During the year, the Board had re-assessed the risks faced by the
Group for which the Board considered to be significant. Below is
a summary of the key risks of the Group to date along with the
applicable risk mitigation responses.

1. Market Competition Risk

The Group's businesses face fierce market competition.
China’s technology industry is very dynamic and highly
competitive. To ensure continual growth, the Group must
constantly remain innovative, assess changing consumers’
needs and provide in-demand services over its competitors.
There is the risk that the Group is unable to maintain its edge
and lose its market share. The Group has mitigated this risk by
carrying out competitor analysis and benchmarking, and also
by monitoring the market behavior constantly to timely react
to market changes and disruption. Continuous devotion to
product innovation and marketing enables the Group to meet
customers’ needs and scale up its businesses.

2. Government Policies and Regulations Risk
The Group's smart retail business and lottery business belong
to industries that are highly regulated by the PRC government.
Participants in these industries have to adhere to strict
regulations. As these industries grow and the regulatory
landscape keeps on evolving, the PRC government often
promulgates new measures and restrictions with which all
participants have to cope. Failure to comply with these rules
and regulations will lead to serious consequences including
possibility of business termination. To mitigate this risk, the
Group has maintained a strong team of lawyers to ensure
the full compliance of laws and regulations. The Group also
fosters close communication with the PRC government and
remains vigilant in the latest regulatory updates.
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3. Information Security Risk

The Group's smart retail business and lottery business
serve the mass population and hence collect a lot of user’s
confidential information and sensitive data. These data and
information must be well-secured and protected from theft,
leakage and damage. Failure to do so will cause the Group to
impair its reputation, lose businesses and even be prosecuted.
The Group places a strong emphasis on information security
and has a team of information security experts. A series
of measures is implemented to ensure customers’ data is
secured, including regular testing of the Group’s data system
to eliminate any breaching loopholes, implementing content
segregation and access authorization controls for sensitive
data.

Internal Control

The Group follows the principles and guidelines of COSO Internal
control — Integrated Framework in implementing its internal control
system. The Group’s internal control system includes a defined
management structure with limits of authority, and standardized
workflow procedures designed to help the Group to achieve its
business objectives, protect its assets against unauthorised use or
disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use
or for publication, and ensure compliance with relevant laws and
regulations.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group's internal audit
team has carried out independent internal audit activities on the
Group’s major businesses. The Board and the Audit Committee have
reviewed and monitored the Group's internal audit function and
consider it to be effective.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Lam Yu Hon is the company secretary of the Company. Mr. Lam
has over 15 years of auditing and finance experiences from various
international accounting firms and Hong Kong listed companies. He
obtained a Master of Science degree in Professional Accounting
and Corporate Governance and a Bachelor of Applied Science
degree in Computer Engineering. He is a Chartered Secretary and
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute
and the Chartered Governance Institute, a fellow member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accounts, a member of the
Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia Canada, a
Certified Internal Auditor and a Certified Treasury Professional. Mr.
Lam is also the chief financial officer and the company secretary of
51 Credit Card.
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Mr. Lam is a full-time employee of the Group, and has day-to-
day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. For the year ended 31
December 2022, Mr. Lam took no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training as required by the GEM Listing Rules.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO
CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL
MEETING ("EGM")

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have
the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within two months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one days of such
deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board to convene
such meeting shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.

PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PUT
THEIR ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular
communication and disclosure of information to the Shareholders.
The Company delivers quarterly, interim and annual reports
and publication of the quarterly, interim and annual results
announcements and other required disclosures of information on
the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company to all the
Shareholders.
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The Company endeavours to maintain two-way communications
with the Shareholders through various channels. The Shareholders
are encouraged to put their enquiries about the Group through the
Company’s email at 8071IR@u51.com or by mail to the address of
the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at Office
2401A on 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre, 89 Queensway, Hong
Kong. All the enquiries will be dealt with in a timely manner.

The Shareholders are also encouraged to attend the AGM and EGM
and to put their enquiries to the Board directly. Notices are duly
circulated to the Shareholders in order to ensure each Shareholder
is informed to attend the AGM and EGM. Board members will be
available to answer questions raised by Shareholders in a prompt
manner at the aforesaid meetings. Pursuant to the GEM Listing
Rules, voting by poll is mandatory at all general meetings.

The detailed procedures for conducting a poll are set out in the
proxy forms and will be explained by the chairman of each of the
AGM and EGM orally at the beginning of the aforesaid meetings. The
poll results will be posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company after the AGM and EGM.

PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING FORWARD
PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS' MEETINGS

Shareholders who wish to make proposals or propose a resolution
for consideration at general meetings may convene an EGM in
accordance with the procedures set out in the section headed
"PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING (“EGM")” above.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company believes that maintaining a high level of transparency
is a key to enhancing investor relations. It is committed to a policy
of open and timely disclosure of corporate information to the
Shareholders and public investors.

The Company regularly updates the Shareholders on its latest
business developments and financial performance through its
annual, interim and quarterly reports. The website of the Company
(www.irasia.com/listco/hk/chinanetcom) provides an effective
communication platform to the public and the Shareholders.

The Company welcomes any views Shareholders may have
regarding the Group's affairs. As outlined above, these may
be raised during the general meetings of the Company, or
alternatively, or send electronically or physically to the email
address or the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong
stated above.

The Company has in place the shareholders’ communication policy
which sets out the policies in relation to communication with the
Shareholders. Such policy which is published on the website of
the Company shall be reviewed by the Board on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness.

The Board has reviewed the Company’s shareholder communication
policy during the year ended 31 December 2022 and is satisfied with
its current implementation and effectiveness.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

To conform to the amended requirements of the GEM Listing
Rules, which became effective on 1 January 2022 including but
not limited to the Core Shareholder Protection Standards as set
out in Appendix 3 to the GEM Listing Rules, certain amendments
to the memorandum of association of the Company and the
Articles has been made. For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 1 June 2022, 23 June 2022 and circular dated
6 June 2022.
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APPROACH

The Group is committed to promoting the transparency of
operations and creating positive impacts on the environment and
society in which it operates, and maintaining good communication
with the stakeholders.

The results of the Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG")
review shown in this ESG Report (the "ESG Report”’) demonstrate
the importance of environmental protection that the Group places
on top of its business development targets, and explain how the
Group seeks to continually improve its ESG strategy. The ESG Report
also illustrates the focus of the Group’s resources utilized for its
core operations, which allows the Company to continuously create
value for the stakeholders.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Report Profile

The ESG Report focuses on the Group’s main operations in Hong
Kong and the PRC and covers the period from 1 January to 31
December 2022 (the "Reporting Period”), which is consistent with
the financial year covered by the 2022 annual report of the Group.
It describes the Group's progress towards the goal of creating
sustainable value for the Shareholders and other stakeholders.
During the process of preparing the ESG Report, the Group has
conducted thorough review and evaluation of the existing ESG
practices with the aim of achieving better performance results in
the future.
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Report Scope and Boundary

The ESG Report contains information that is material which
allows the readers to understand the Group’s ESG practices and
performance in its daily operations in Hong Kong and the PRC.

The scope of the ESG Report covers all subsidiaries listed in the
financial statements during the Reporting Period, which include
four business segments in Hong Kong and the PRC:

. Smart Retail Business
Engages in the provision of new retail digital transformation
solutions and new retail integrated software service platform,
and extended services

o Financial Technology Services Business "o’
Engages in the provision of financial technology services, such
as credit facilitation and post-origination services

o Sports Training Business o2
Engages in the provision of sports training services

o Lottery Business
Engages in the development of computer systems and
provision of technical consultancy services in the PRC

Notes:

1. Since the financial technology services of the Group had only been terminated
after the year, it has been included within the scope of this ESG report.

2. The sport training business of the Group has been ceased from April 2022.

HE SRR EE
B HEREARE WA HEE T RAEENE
BROEEREEN B  HEREARARE
R BESZEH o

BRI HEREARSNEERENREHABZ
EMBZRENAENB AR SENEB KPR
A D -

e HIETEEE
RERHENTEHNFTCHERERDRERNT
E BRI IRTS T & UKL MRS

o  EEFIFIRFEEFE
HEREEMBERYS > ANEEREKRE
BIR

e EEHGEE
WERMHET NIRRT

e REEEK
P PR B 35 B ik R AR R 88 R SR e AT s s AR
%

Hat -

1. B R EB AR ER X FEEZ B THAIE B
EBEIETIRE - HERERREHEER -

2. KEFIRE B IR HE T E2022F A FREAR LB ©

P EEERARAT o 2022 FERE 49



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
RIE-HERELGHRS

Preparation Basis of the ESG Report

The ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Guide (the "Guide”) as set out in Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing
Rules on the Stock Exchange and complies with all provisions of
“Mandatory Disclosure Requirements” and “Comply or Explain”, as
well as the reporting principles of materiality, quantitative, balance
and consistency. In preparing the ESG Report, the Group has
adopted the international standards and emission factors specified
in the guidance materials on ESG issued by the Stock Exchange for
computing the relevant key performance indicators (“KPIs”), and
there is no change from previous year in the way the ESG Report
has been prepared. The application of materiality is detailed in the
section headed “Materiality Assessment” of this ESG report.

In order to comply with the disclosure obligations of “comply or
explain” provisions, this ESG Report has outlined the overall Group’s
performance in environmental protection, human resources,
operating practice and community involvement during the
Reporting Period. The Guide for the ESG Report from page 79 to 91
is provided for cross-referencing purpose.

Source of Data and Reliability Statement

The information disclosed in the ESG Report are from the Group’s
internal documents, statistical reports and relevant public materials.
The Group undertakes that the ESG Report does not contain any
false information, misleading statement or material omission, and
takes responsibilities for the contents hereof as to the authenticity,
accuracy and completeness.

Contact Us

The Group attaches great importance to readers’ valuable opinions.
Should you have any questions or suggestions about the ESG
Report, please contact the Group via:
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E-mail: 8071IR@u51.com BES : 8071IR@u51.com

Address: Office 2401A on 24th Floor, Tower One, Lippo Centre,  #haf - EESIEHEIIFE HE R\ EE248
89 Queensway, Hong Kong 2401AZE
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STAKEHOLERS OF THE GROUP

The Group is actively looking for every opportunity to understand
and engage the stakeholders to ensure that improvement of the
products and services can be implemented. The Group strongly
believes that the stakeholders play a crucial role in sustaining the
success of business.

Stakeholders
BRE

Areas of concern
RREEEE

TEBZFHE

AEEEESRSERE  UTRRAFHEHR
B BRUNEERRERS AREREHHEY
EHHERERYMSREERAE -

Communication and responses
EiE KOl

Stock Exchange

B 22 P
Government
and regulatory

authorities
BUN K BE E A8

Suppliers
HrER

Investors

REE

Compliance with GEM Listing Rules, and timely and
accurate disclosures.

BTGEM L AR R LU @R R R (R L IR BE o

Compliance with laws and regulations, prevention
of tax evasion and social welfare.

BTRERER - BRER KA EEF o

Payment schedule and stable demand.
TREFBRREEHRRK o

Corporate governance, business strategies and
performance, and investment returns.
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Meetings, training, workshops, website updates
and announcements.

g% 5 AEE s ALEHRAE
Interaction and visits, government inspections,
tax returns and other information.

BERES « BIFESE - MEKRAMER -

Site visits.
RIZRE -

Interviews, Shareholders’ meetings, financial
reports and operational reports for investors,
media and analysts.
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Stakeholders
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Areas of concern
R EEEE

Communication and respohsé’é
7818 K [l FE

Media and Public

S D/

Customers

eSS

Employees

(2]

community

HE

Corporate governance, environmental protection
and human rights.
hEERBRRARE

Product and service quality, delivery schedule,
reasonable prices, service value and personal data
protection.

ERKRHEE RORKEER - SIEER - RBE
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Rights and benefits, employees’ compensation,
training and development, working hours, working
environment, labour protection and work safety.
R REF ~ BERME  BIIRERE TR T/
RIE - BTRERITIEFLZE

Community environment, employment and
community development, and social welfare.
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company’s announcements, quarterly, interim
and annual reports.
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After-sales services.

BRI -

Training, interviews with employees, internal
memoranda, and employees’ suggestion boxes.

Eil - BEREE - ABETHEREEERME

Ccommunity activities, employee voluntary
activities and community welfare subsidies and
donations.
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ESG MANAGEMENT

The Group looks at issues that may have a reputational impact on,
or that may pose a risk to, the Group in short-, medium- or long-
term. Issues that are important to the stakeholders, including
but not limited to, customers and employees, as well as non-
governmental organizations, are also crucial to the Group. All
potential issues are covered and evaluated in the annual risk
assessment. The Group is positive in developing opportunities
with a focus on work ethics to ensure that the success in business
development is sustainable with the benefits to be passed on to the
employees, the customers and the environment.

Integration of sustainability into the business strategies as well as
daily operations of the Company is a must to pursue the business
model. To deal with the ESG issues effectively, understanding
of, and interaction with, the employees, customers and other
stakeholders are of the highest priority. The Group believes that
effective management of the ESG issues is important to long-
term success in the rapidly changing world. With a thorough
understanding of the ESG risks and opportunities, the Group will
be better positioned in allocating resources to reduce and recycle
different kinds of waste, and responding to the increasing demand
for higher standards of waste treatment by the regulators.

The Group is confident that as part of the business decision-
making process, by involving all relevant stakeholders in the ESG
management process, the ESG issues will be monitored closely, and
the long-term success of the Group will be assured.
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The sustainability strategy of the Group in the following aspects
applies to all the work streams:

o to promote environmental sustainability;,

o to attract, retain and support employees;

o to engage with stakeholders;

o to promote sustainability of local communities;

J to strengthen community relations; and

to grow suppliers’ commitment.

ESG Governance Structure

To facilitate an effective management of the ESG issues, the Group
has established a governance structure. The Board has an overall
responsibility for overseeing the Group's ESG-related risks and
opportunities, establishing and adopting the ESG-related strategies
and targets of the Group including setting KPI for environmental-
related issues and setting higher standards of energy efficient
measures and waste treatment, reviewing the Group'’s performance
annually against the ESG-related targets, and revising the ESG-
related strategies as appropriate if significant variance from the
ESG-related target is identified. The Group has set up an ESG
working group which includes the Director, the Financial Controller
and the Senior Manager to support the Board in implementing ESG-
related strategies and targets, and promoting the implementation of
measures in relation to the ESG issues identified.
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Based on the sei goals and targets, the Board will continue to EESRBEEREFMLZENENREEESARER
‘ review the Group's progress in relation to ESG issues in order to B8 « @ REAEBETNER > LUTETRE
O build a more sustainable business and bring greater benefits for the XU AEEMEERBLFH o

society as a whole.

Board EF g

° The Board is responsible for the overall decision making process and overseeing the formulation,
administration, and assessment of the ESG system.

s EFTEEEERR BERER  HIRELRMHGTE « EEAFMEG -

ESG Working Group IR1E « 2 R EBTIE

° The ESG Working Group is responsible for assisting the Board in managing and monitoring the ESG matters on
a daily basis.

s RE -HEKERIFHEEERHEFESHERERERRE - HEREREE -

Functional Departments E&AEZEFT

o Functional departments are responsible for the execution of measures to achieve the preset ESG-related
strategies and targets.

o HEEBFIRBEWITHM > UBRBRNRIE - S RELEHARERER -
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Materiality Assessment

The Group has identified ESG issues that have potential or actual
impact on its sustainable development from various sources,
such as issues identified in previous ESG reports, internal policies,
industry trends and the Sustainability Accounting Standards Board'’s
Materiality Map'. The ESG issues have been analysed with reference
to an array of factors, including the Group’s overall strategy,
development, and goals and targets. The Group has conducted a
materiality assessment to rate the identified ESG issues that are
pertinent to its business and stakeholders, and their respective
levels of impact.

The table below summarises the results of the materiality
assessment on the identified ESG issues:

Identified ESG issues
BHIRIE - HEREARAEEH

SEMHTME
AEBEEHICESEREHHFEZER BT
REMREENIRE - 1B KREAEE ’ Gl 5l
RIE - B REARETEENER ~ REPER
TEBBRKEGENZEGNEEMEE © T
2E—RIAXR (BIERNEENEERE - EENU
RENEERE) % BETHRE HERES
BN o AEBHEEEBAFHEBHENEH
AIRE - HEREAETERETEENTERES
EZRZFEBEIKFEITIIR ©

TREEHEHABIRE - HER
SMEFEER -

EARAFHENTE

Product
Responsibility

EmEE s

The material ESG issues are considered as those which have or may
have a significant impact on:

o the various branches of the Group in Hong Kong and the PRC;
o the current and future environment and/or society;
o the Group's financial and/or operational performance; and

o the stakeholders’ assessments, decisions and actions.

p Sustainability Accounting Standards Board's Materiality Map, https.//materiality.sasb.org/
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Supply Chain

Management

Development

and Training
FRAIEI

EEZRE - HEREAFEANUTELEEN
WAIREEMEATEZEE !

o AEERBERPEZEMELRE
o RERFREZBRER HHE ;
o FEEZHMBR/HEERR; K

o FPEZEHE S RERKATE ©

! KEBFHERIZE EHIEZ B * https.//materiality.sasb.org/
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ENVIRONMENTAL

Overview

Sustainable environment is the foundation for long-term
economic and social prosperity. The Group believes that
sustainability represents not just an ethical obligation, but
also a gateway to the business success. Therefore, the Group
prioritizes environmental protection, strives to mitigate any
undesirable impact on the environment and continues to
contribute to sustainable development.

In order to achieve this, the Group closely monitors the rates
of emissions, waste generation and resources consumption
to achieve the environmental goals of the Group. To present
a comprehensive emission overview, we compared the
emission figures and relevant intensities of the Reporting
Period to the year ended 31 December 2021.

Compliance and Grievance

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with all
relevant environmental laws and regulations that have
significant impacts, including but not limited to, the Waste
Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Law
of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Protection
((hEANRAEMBIRFEFREZ L)) and Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Pollution Prevention and Control on
Water Pollution ({(FRZE A REFEKSEBA/AED). During the
Reporting Period, there were no non-compliance incidents or
grievances noted by the Group in relation to environmental
iSsues.

R4
s
AREERZRERCERMERAERZ
B - AEERD IFELEREIER—E
EREBEREFUIINNGRKE - EIL » K&
ERIREREEN BN HBRBBHIRRE
REREETE X TEBLSIFEERFD
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MEEUKRBEREER  UBRAEEZIER
RER - HEJNEEH R > HAREBRS
AR BYBE R 3R R B R 2 S R E 20214612
A3BLEFEZIERETEER

BRKREHR

REBSHE AEEETHEASEAREY

PREMRBIRFRERIERE  BREENRERE

BIEBIEIAE(BEYREREG)  (PEAR
HMBIRIZRER) R (PEARIMEKT
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A1. Emissions

Air Emissions

Due to the nature of the Group’s core business activities,
it does not own or control any stationary or mobile
source that involve fuel consumption. Thus, no air
emission is generated during the course of its daily
operations.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

During the Reporting Period, the Group produced 50.97
tonnes of Carbon Dioxide (2021: 76.23 tonnes) and
0.93 tonnes of Carbon Dioxide per capita (2021: 1.12
tonnes per capita). The emission of greenhouse gas
results principally from the consumption of electricity.
During the Reporting Year, the greenhouse gas emission
intensity decreased 17% when compared to the previous
reporting year, which achieved the target set in previous
reporting year. The significant drop in greenhouse gas
emission intensity is mainly contributed by COVID-19
situation. Due to the pandemic, the business of the
Group reduced and work from home arrangement has
been made for the employee, as well as one of the
Hong Kong offices has been sold, which leads to great
reduction in the greenhouse gas emission during the
Reporting Period. To uphold the principles of sustainable
development, the Group is committed to reducing or
maintaining the total greenhouse gas emission intensity
between 90% to 120% of the level of baseline year ended
31 December 2022 in the next reporting period.

Although the greenhouse gas emission is immaterial
which is from normal consumption of electricity
as mentioned above, the Group strives to achieve
environment sustainability and has implemented various
mitigating measures stated in the section headed
“Energy and Water Consumption”.

A1l. BERD

RASHEK
HARAEEZOERESHNMEE » B
BHEA SERIE S RIREEEFEZ BIE
RECRER > WEBHFEEBEIEPILE
EAIREETEM o

BEREHN

REREHRE > AEBESE T 450.971
& bh% (20214 176.23M8) K A190.93
ME — S 1EAR (20214F © A¥91.120F) < 38
ERBHREEREEIIHE - RBRE
FE X AERBHNZEER L—ERS
FERD17% > Ef F—ERSFER
2 BE  BERBHMEEKRRLD
FEHRCOVID-19% 15 - HINE B
% AEBZEBRL > TAEESEH
BRI(EZZH > mMEEeERES—@
EEMAE S UBREHERZRER
BHRBEERL c ARSOUFESEREZ
RA) > AREBEBN T —ERSHERA
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Details of the emissions are shown in the following table:

P BEIN TR ¢

KPI A1.2!
R NIERA1.2'
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions
BEREEHHE
Emission
Emission Indicators Source 2022 2021 Type 2022 2021
IR KR 00E 021E BHER 02E 1%
Scope 2: Energy Indirect Emissions
HEL . RN
Unit of electricity Carbon 50.97 76.23
consumed 86,373.75 kWh ~ 119,04049 kwh Dioxide tonnes tonnes
HREENSf 86,373.75FRE  119,00049F K &tk 50971 76,230
Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide Produced during the Reporting Period: 50.97 tonnes 76.23 tonnes
REEPHmEL 2 CatREE 50,970 76.230
Total Amount of Carbon Dioxide Produced Per Capita during the Reporting Period: 0.93 tonnes 1.12 tonnes
per capita per capita

RREREFELZ A EItREE !

The Group are accounting for Scope 2 carbon emission (indirect emission
from consumption of purchased electricity) only. The latest national emission
factor for mainland China issued by Ministry of Ecology and Environment of
the People’s Republic of China, and the latest emission factor of HK Electric as
published in the HK Electric Sustainability Report 2021 are adopted.

A¥90.9308 NI1128

! EFEZE B E2HIGG R (FHFES BB E LI
BERL) o IR EN RAFIE £ REIRIF BT 3 fih 2 A B A [
RITEIRBINFE » LU R BIEE 12021 F AIfF A2 3 R #R 7
P AMBBIE BT RATHILA L ©
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Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes
The Group does not produce any hazardous waste during
the course of its daily operations.

Office general refuse including waste paper, and other
general disposal of food packaging and beverage cans
and bottles are our main source of non-hazardous waste
which are handled properly on a daily basis to maintain
hygiene in workplace. The said waste is minimal in
guantity and therefore no relevant data is collected.
Nevertheless, the Group advocates the idea of green
and sustainable working environment and adopted the
“4R" principle - reduce, reuse, recycle and recover, to
minimise the generation of wastes.

A2 & A3. Use of Resources, and
Environment and Natural Resources
Energy and Water Consumption

Environmental sustainability is the key to the long-term
development of the Group. Thus, the Group always
aspires to promote sustainability and strives to minimize
resources wastage. The Group has established the
“Smart Usage of Electricity, Water and Paper Rules”
to promote efficient resources consumption. The
aforementioned rules have set out clear guidelines on
adopting green practices, including but not limited the
guidelines of energy saving, water saving and paper
saving.

FAERNHEAEEEBRETUEEESE
WA EREEY) -
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During the Reporting Period, the Group consumed
86,373.75 kWh of electricity (2021: 119,040.49 kWh)
and the electricity consumption intensity is 1,570.43
kwWh (2021: 1,750.60 kWh), representing a decrease
of approximately 10% of the electricity consumption
intensity, due to the facts as stated in section
“Greenhouse Gas Emissions” above. For the water
consumption, the Group consumed 947.31 cubic metres
of water (2021: 943.81 cubic metres) and the water
consumption intensity is 17.22 cubic metres per capita
(2021: 13.88 cubic metres per capita). The slight increase
in water consumption might be accounted for by the
complete records fully disclosed for this Reporting
Period, while only a reasonable assumption was made
for incomplete records for the last reporting period.
Hence, this might contribute to the increase as reflecting
more accurate water usage of the Company during
the Reporting Period. No material sewage and waste is
produced and discharged into water and land during the
course of the Group’s daily operations. The electricity
and water consumption intensities are detailed in the
following table:

KPI A2.1&2.2
BRI NIEIEA2.15%2.2

RIS AR EX NEERAEED K
—EiFTIiRE  AEEEH#E86,373.75
FREFE (20214 © 119,040.49F R
BF) » FEBEEA1,570.43F RBF (2021
F 11,750.60F LB * EEZERLLY
10% °c ERFEKE * NEBIHFE47.31
I 75K IKE (20214F ¢ 943.813L /5 3K)
FEKBE A AY917.2231 75 K (20214 -
A913.8837 /5 K) o FEKEEM EFEY
FBRRAREAEEEIEETELH
m_E—ER SR AER R B 2 08k
EHGIERR o BINERMKIRAAE)
REBEHEARNZAKERE EANER
o AEEN A B EEBIZP U EEIK
R EE A e B E R BE K R BEEY) ©
EEEMEKETEN TR

Use of Resources Indicators Source 2022 2021

BIREREE KR 20224 20214

Consumption per capita Electricity? 1,570.43 kWh 1,750.60 kwWh

per capita per capita

ANGHEEE B2 A391,570.43 A$91,750.60

TR B TR

Water? 17.22 cubic 13.88 cubic

metres metres

per capita per capita

K3 A917.22F R AY313.88FEEF

AS the Hong Kong office of the Company located in Admiralty shares the office 2 HRE R UK BRI EBP RN ELS1EHEREARA

with 51 Credit Card and there is no separate meter for individual office unit, the =T NURILEE T KER  FUL 95 B8 o (251
electricity data are equally borne. Only the relevant electricity data related to KA TR E A IEFIBIE « HERE BIRLHEE o

the Company are taken account in the ESG report.

For the Hong Kong office located in Admiralty, relevant water consumption fees 3 PRSI EEWAEMS * EAM/HEEFE ST
are included in the rental fees, therefore the figures disclosed have excluded Y MBS B ST B AT 2 KHFE o

water consumption at the Hong Kong office.
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The Group will make continuous efforts in working
towards the target of maintaining or reducing the
electricity consumption intensity and water consumption
intensity between 90% to 120% of the level of baseline
year ended 31 December 2022 in the next reporting
period respectively.

The Group has implemented the following measures to
reduce the usage of electricity:

o turn off air-conditioners and lights during non-
office hours and/or in idle rooms,

o turn off unused lighting and appliances to reduce
energy consumption;

o regularly maintain office equipment such as air-
conditioners, computers and lights, etc.; and

J educate employees on energy saving.

The Group does not have any issue in sourcing
water, and the existing supply of water meets the
daily operational needs. Water consumption by the
Group is minimal, which mainly serves the purpose
of basic cleaning and sanitation. In order to reduce
water wastage, the Group actively promotes water
conservation awareness among the employees. For
instance, staff members are reminded to tightly turn off
the faucets after use.

Packaging Materials

As the Group’s core business activities do not involve
the use of packaging materials, and thus, no data in this
respect is available.

REERBES > FRET—ERS
HEANREEEREMFEKERED
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A4. Climate Change

Ad. mIZEE
The Group reviews and identifies the climate-related risk REBTETREIENREE > 5§58
annually while conducting the risk assessment. We have B AR EERARR - HPIEMR
considered the potential climate-related risks in respect ZAAR M I E TE/ MEM R E BB
of the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate- EREAERE  HhaESEaR
related Financial Disclosure, which are the physical risks (5 an i iy R RUIB 7)) Re iR L B (54
such as extreme weather conditions and transition risks BIEEENEEEML) 0 WAALWT
such as regulatory change on environmental matters,
and summarised as below:
Short
Potential (current Medium Long
Financial reporting  (one to (four to
Risk Type Risks Impact period) three years) tenyears)  Mitigation Strategy
REER &
[ BREER) il BRNBYE BEME)  (-E=F)  (OEHE)  BRRR
Physical o Extreme weather ¢ Reduced revenue from / / ¢ Located our offices in top
Risks conditions such as husiness and supply tier cities
flooding and typhoon chain disruptions o Established adverse
o Sustained elevated o Increased cost related weather condition policy
temperature to the rising need for ¢ Adopted energy
cooling conservation measures
ERAR o BERRER WEKE o EBEREEETHER / / o BEMRAZHA—HYT
B LON:1 o HIERSRARREHER
¢ HERR o ARAEXLARHEN o IR
PRASEN
Transaction ¢ Changesin o Higher operating costs / / ¢ Continues to monitor the
Risks environmental-related to adopt new practices regulatory environment
regulations to ensure that the Group
meets the expectations
of regulatory authority
and complied with the
environmental-related law
and regulation.
BERR o ARBERMNAREL o FENHRANEEN / / o REREEERE JURR
NI FERRARERERRL
BTRRERRNARE
o
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SOCIAL

Overview

The key to the Group's success depends on a strong team
of committed and innovative talents. The Group focuses on
building a harmonious working environment for all employees
and providing various training opportunities in order to attract,
motivate and retain talents.

Compliance and Grievance

As a responsible employer, the Group complies with all
relevant employment laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on it, including but not limited to the
Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap. 485
of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Minimum Wage Ordinance
(Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Sex Discrimination
Ordinance (Cap. 480 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Cap. 282 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China ({&
#= ARILFEEE)%)) and Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((FZEAREMESEHEREE)) and Law of
the People’s Republic of China on Production Safety ({HZE A
REMBIZE2EEZE)).

B1. Employment

The Group has established internal policies in
accordance with the relevant labour laws and
regulations related to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, holidays,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and
other benefits and welfare, employment development
and training, child and forced labour.

To ensure that the Group’s key policies are clearly
and consistently communicated to the employees, the
Group has established an "Employees’ Handbook”,
which details the rights of the employees, such as
working hours, leave entitlements and other benefits
and welfare. "Employees’ Handbook” is available to all
employee upon request.

i
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\ The Group believes that a diversified and cohesive team
9 is indispensable to the success of business. The Group
strives to ensure that the recruitment process is fair and
without any discrimination.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had a total of 55
employees (2021: 70 employees).

The breakdowns of the Group’s workforce by gender,
age group and region are as follows:

BY GENDER

%R

44% 56%

36%

2 E R

AERERE  ZTCEARENZEEK
HWIREBRINT P Gk o AEEJIKE
RIBESIBIZ AT R AIAR o

20224128318 * AEEBEHASH
BE (20214 : 708E8) °

AEBZETRMR - FHAER RitE
Bl ZBRMAIIT -

64%

o—o MaleZEE oo Femalez|#

BY AGE GROUP

BERAR

4%

43%

o0 <30 o—0 30-50

43%

56%

o0 >50
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BY REGION O
BiE

2%

98% 97%

o—o The PRCH o—o Hong Kong&#

BY EMPLOYMENT TYPE
BEREE

Q0
98% . 100%

o—o Full time2 8% o-o Part timeZR B

2%
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Duﬂné the Reporting Period, the employee turnover
rates are as follows:

KPI B1.2
RASRARRAIE1RB1.2

RREHMENZBEMEARNT :

Employee Turnover Rates 1ES K E
Overall 27Ee
By Gender IR
Male B
Female gz
By Age FEH?
<30 <30
30-50 30-50
> 50 > 50
By Region i E
Hong Kong 5B
The PRC FRE

Welfare and Benefits

The Group has established a fair and reasonable
remuneration policy, adhering to the principles of
fairness, incentive and legality. For effective human
resources management, the Group offers rewards (e.g.
promotion) and inflicts punishments (e.g. warning and
dismissal) according to the employees’ performance and
conduct.

Employees are entitled to all statutory holidays, leave
and welfare as stipulated in the national and local
laws and regulations, including but not limited to paid
maternity leave, marriage leave, compassionate leave
and annual leave.

In addition, the Group believes that maintaining a good
work-life balance is vital to the employees’ physical and
mental health. Thus, employees are never forced to
work overtime.

44%

45%
42%

50%
34%
100%

100%
43%
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-
discrimination

The Group always endeavours to provide a fair working
environment where employees are treated equally
and respectfully. All employees are assessed and
remunerated based on their skills and competencies
irrespective of their race, religion, gender, age and
disability. Through the enforcement of the policy of
prohibiting discrimination and harassment, the Group
strives to create a workplace free of bullying, belittling
and sexual harassment.

Health and Safety

The Group is dedicated to providing a safe working
environment for all employees. Occupational health and
safety of employees are always the Group's top priority.
The Group makes every effort to minimize potential
occupational hazards.

In the midst of the Novel Carnivores pandemic, the
Group has implemented all practicable preventive and
protective measures to minimize occupational risk,
including but not limited to employees’ and visitors’
health declaration, daily temperature checks, wearing
of surgical mask, social distancing requirements and
provision of sanitizers. The Group will pay close attention
to the latest development and regularly reviews the
measures implemented to ensure the measures are
effective.

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
the relevant laws and regulations in regard to health
and safety, including but not limited to the Occupational
Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases ({FR%E
AN REMBRZHEAEED).

During the last three reporting periods, no work-related
fatalities and lost days due to work injury were recorded
by the Group.
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B3.

The Group has implemented the following practices to
create and maintain a comfortable, safe and healthy
working environment for the employees:

o provide sufficient lightings at workplace;

o ensure the proper use of personal protective
equipment at work;

o prohibit smoking in the workplace; and
. conduct regular safety inspections.

In case any employee encounters any work-related
injuries, the Group will take all necessary measures to
make sure that proper medical care is offered to the
relevant employees.

Development and Training

The Group regards employees as its most valuable
asset. Thus, the Group places emphasis on personal
development of the employees. The Group believes
that investing in employees through training will help
promote job satisfaction and staff loyalty. Different types
of training were provided to the employees to enhance
their knowledge and capabilities.

B3.
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Orientation training sessions were provided to newly %ﬁ)\ﬂ%ﬁlﬁ%%ﬁ)\ﬁﬁ%tﬁ%}ll ’ %-.?EPEI% [

recruited staff members. The training covers the REEEFN ~ HPPIBSLEE ~ B1E
introduction of the Group, their own department PR AE R TIFE o E4h > 288 T
structure, responsibilities, required skills and working HERHEERE > mAmERES
instructions. Moreover, on-the-job training is provided to B/ BIEAENRRRE2EETAE
all staff members regardless the gender and employee EHHE R UAERIZHEEER
category, which is conducive to making sure that all o BE AR EIBIITE RS
staff members possess sufficient knowledge and skills to (A ILE G e I EE AR Rl R 8% o BTN R M
provide quality services to the customers. Furthermore, Bl BRREEEE  AEREER
as the said training was provided on a regular basis, AN RER - EBENRMERKRDE
thus no records were collected. The training was also ER o RIS BTN TS
provided to the Directors, which covers their duties, SNBSS

legal and regulatory updates, business updates, and
corporate governance. During the Reporting Period, the
average training hours received by the directors are as

follows:
KPI B3.2
R A NISIEB3.2
Development and Training Indicators BRRIENIEE
Average hours of training that directors EE2HEMNTFIIEIRE
participated in 6.5
Average hours of training per director IR & 555 E R F LI5S
by gender
Male B 7.5
Female M 5.0
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In-addition, employees are encouraged to attend
external training courses and seminars in order to
strengthen their knowledge and expertise in relation
to their work. The training seminars and courses
include, but not limited to, updates on GEM Listing
Rules, corporate governance, as well as changes and
development of relevant laws and regulations. Fees
incurred for the courses or seminars are reimbursed by
the Group upon management’s approval.

Labour Standards

The Group strictly abides by the Employment Ordinance
(Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China ({fh#E A REMBEEEE)),
Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China
((RE AN BHFMESEHEREE)) and other related labour
laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the PRC to
prohibit employment of any child and forced labour.

Recruitment process of the Group is subject to a
stringent internal review process that includes verifying
personal information of applicants. For instance, the
recruitment department collects the identity proof
from candidates to ensure that their age fulfil the
requirements as stipulated by the law. When such
instances are discovered, the management will make
necessary reports to the relevant enforcement agencies
and investigate internally the possible faults in the
recruitment process which led to such incidents.

The employment of forced and child labour is strictly
prohibited. During the Reporting Period, all employees
were over the age of 18, and had been properly
employed in accordance with the requirements of all
applicable laws and regulations. No confirmed non-
compliance incidents or grievances were noted by the
Group.
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B5. Supply Chain Management

The Group places emphasis on its supply chain
management. In addition to improving cost
competitiveness, the Group also values the sustainability
of its supply chain. The Group supports the purchase
of environmentally-friendly products to minimize the
environmental impact caused by its business operations.
The Group also closely cooperates with the suppliers to
maintain the quality of products and services provided to
the customers.

The Group’s “Technology Outsourcing Services
Management Policy” clearly sets out guidelines on
the performance of competitive bidding and vendor
appraisals. Under the policy, quotations from more than
one supplier are required to be sought for comparisons
to ensure the fairness of supplier vetting. The Group
strives to adhere to the policy of engaging responsible
outsourcers that minimize the total emission of
greenhouse gases, waste generated and resources
consumed. The Group’s staff will also consider the
supplier's contribution to environmental protection and
qualifications as factors in selecting the supplier.

Moreover, the Group closely monitors the performance
of the existing suppliers and selects new vendors based
on defined criteria, such as qualification, company
scales, and reputation, etc. Approved suppliers
are evaluated on a regular basis by the respective
purchasing departments to ensure that the quality of
products and services that the Group purchases are up
to standard. Suppliers who are not up to standard for a
prolonged period of time will be disqualified.

During the Reporting Period, the Group does not engage
any critical suppliers due to the nature of the Group's
core business activities.
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B6. Product Responsibility B6. EmEE

The Group strictly complies with the relevant laws and
regulations relating to product responsibility that have
significant impacts, including but not limited to the
Trade Descriptions Ordinance (Cap. 362 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) and the Sale of Goods Ordinance (Cap. 26
of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Product Quality Law of
the People’s Republic of China ({1 #E A R E &
B&7%)), Law of the People’s Republic of China on the
Protection of Customer Rights and Interests ({1 #EA R
HMBEH & E 5 (R5%5%)) and Civil Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((FZEA RHEFMEIREH)).

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware
of any non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations related to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to the products
and services provided.

Quality Assurance

The Group aspires to improve its brand reputation by
ensuring the quality of products and services. In order to
minimize product liability risk, the Group has established
the “"Product Quality Assurance Process” to ensure
that the products strictly adhere to internal quality
standards. In the event of product failure not caused
by improper use, the Group would recall the products
and provide refund to customers. Moreover, customers
are offered with other value-added services, including
product warranty and after-sales services.

During the Reporting Period, there were no products
sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety or health
reasons.
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Complaints Handling Procedures

Customers’ opinions and feedback help to drive
continuous improvement of the Group and are vital to its
pursuit of excellence. Various communication channels
(e.g. via website and customer service hotline) have
been established, aiming to better address customers’
concerns.

The Group makes every effort to promptly investigate
and resolve all disputes and complaints lodged by the
customers. “Relevant System in Relation to the Handling
of Customer Complaints” has been established to ensure
that all customer complaints can be properly handled.
All complaints received are handled by the customer
service team. Upon the receipt of a complaint, the
responsible personnel will investigate into the matter
and appropriate action will be taken in a timely manner.

Personal Data Privacy

In order to build customer trust and loyalty, the
Group has established measures to reduce the risk of
employees leaking confidential information to outsiders.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of customers’
personal data for any purposes other than what
have been stated in the customer contracts. If any
employee who has been discovered of misappropriating
customers’ private data, the Group will take disciplinary
action against the employee concerned and reserve its
right to legal action.

Moreover, non-disclosure agreements are signed by all
employees of the Group to ensure that they are aware of
their legally binding obligations of protecting confidential
information of the Group.

Furthermore, the Group maintains information
technology systems with high level of security to
prevent unauthorized access to confidential information.
Operating systems, security programs and hardware are
updated on a regular basis so as to protect customer
information from hackers.
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Intellectual Property Rights

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all laws and regulations related to intellectual property
rights in Hong Kong and the PRC that have a significant
impact on it, including but not limited to the Copyright
Ordinance (Cap. 528 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and
Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China ({fhZE
ARFAFEREIZA)) and Copyright Law of the People’s
Republic of China ({FZE AN REFMBIZEEREE)).

The Group acts proactively to enforce intellectual
property rights against third-party infringers. The Group
has established the “Trademark Management Policy”
and the “Intellectual Property Management Policy” to
ensure that its intellectual property is closely monitored
and adequately protected. The legal department is
responsible for identifying any unauthorized use of
the Group’s trademarks by third-parties. Legal actions
will be taken in due course upon identification of any
trademark infringements.

Anti-corruption

During the Reporting Period, the Group complied with
all relevant laws and regulations relating to prevention
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to, the Prevention of Bribery
Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Drug Trafficking (Recovery of Proceeds) Ordinance
(Cap. 405 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Organized
and Serious Crimes Ordinance (Cap. 455 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), and Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China ({F #ZE A B &£ M E /) /%)) and Anti-Money
Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China ({4
AN RBHME R FEEED).

The Group does not support, nor does it tolerate any
corrupt practice and payment or receipt of bribes for any
purpose. All employees are strictly prohibited to abuse
their power and/or take advantage of their position for
personal gain.
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The “Employees’ Handbook” of the Group clearly sets out
guidelines for the acceptance of gifts. As stipulated by
the “Employees’ Handbook”, all employees are required
to exercise caution and judgment when accepting gifts.
Gifts should not be accepted if they are of a value higher
than RMB300 (or equivalent).

Moreover, “Anti-corruption Management Policies”
clearly sets out the procedures and channels for
reporting corruption and fraud cases. As stipulated in
the policies, all employees should immediately report
any suspected fraud cases. After a potential fraud case
is being reported, investigation is to be conducted with
due care. An investigation report is to be prepared and
submitted to the Board. For any proven fraud case,
punishment will be inflicted pursuant to the policies.

The Group has “Whistle-blowing Policy” in place
to encourage employees to report any suspicious
fraudulent activities. It provides guidance for
employees to report their concerns of any suspected
misconduct, malpractice or irregularity within the
Group. The Group intends to protect the whistle-
blower from common concerns such as confidentiality
and potential retaliation. The whistle-blower’s identity
remains anonymous and is protected throughout the
investigation. Also, the whistle-blower should not be
placed into any disadvantaged position in relation to the
employment. Therefore, the employee(s) reporting in
good faith under this procedure shall be assured of the
protection against unfair termination or victimization,
even if the reports are subsequently proved to be
unsubstantiated.

During the Reporting Period, no corruption and money
laundering cases against the Group or its employees
were noted or reported. The Group has provided detailed
and comprehensive information to the Directors and
staff for having a thorough understanding of the anti-
corruption issue such as the “Employees’ Handbook”
and the "Anti-corruption Management Policies”. Besides,
the Group arranged training for all Directors to enhance
their alertness to corruption, conflict of interests and
integrity issues, and provided induction training for
all new employees which includes training on basic
ethics such as anti-corruption. During the Reporting
Period, the Directors attended the training related to
anti-corruption. The Group closely monitors regulatory
development and will continue to arrange relevant

training for the Directors and its staff, where necessary.
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B8. Community Investment

The Group understands the importance of giving back to
the society. In order to contribute to a more sustainable
and harmonious society, the Group encourages the
employees to take part in community services.

During the Reporting Period, the Group had not
organized any community and charity activities due
to the COVID-19 pandemic. The Group will explore
volunteer opportunities and organise relevant activities
particularly in areas such as education and community
environment in the future after the COVID-19 situation
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are improved and restrictions are lifted.

HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT
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ESG Aspects
IRIR - HERERER

BtZFRIRIR ~ L G R ERKRSIE5I

RA RS
R IRIR

Related Section(s)
tHRAE &R

Remarks
s

A1. Emissions
Al. BEELY)

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.

BERBERFORERBEN - mMAKRIHMAEES - BERE
SEEYNEESNERAETHETABEATENR
RLERRIRBIBERS o

KPI'A1.1

RASRAE IS IRAT
The types of emissions and respective emissions data.

PR B AR B B

Overview, Compliance
and Grievance, Emissions,
Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes

BE ~ SR~ HF
Y~ BEREEREY

N/A

No material sewage and
waste is produced and
discharged into water and
land during the course

of the Group's daily
operations.
AEENHEEZBAEZETR
G F [m) 7K R [ 3 2E A Ko BF
HEBEREKLEEEY)

No air emission is
generated during the
course of the Group's
operations.
KERSEBERHmE
FEEFRASHER o
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A1. Emissions (Continued)

Al BEY) (4B)
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KPI'A1.2

RASRAE M IEIRA.2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emission in total (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

B (BEN) RERERE (BE2) AE RTINS (UHE
SRR (WER) BE WUESESE - BIERME)

KPI A1.3

FAREBIEIRA13

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).

FREL R EEREYRE LMEETE) Kk (NER) 2 E (1L
BEEE - BEKREHE) ©

KPI A1.4

FARESIEIREA1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production
volume, per facility).
FrESEEEEYEE (LUETE) X (MER) 2 E (WA
FESEN - BERME) o

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

BERBEHIN

N/A No hazardous waste is
generated during the
course of the Group's
operations.

TER REBEEBEPHREE
L EAESEEY -

Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes

EEREEEREY
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A1. Emissions (Continued)
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A2,

KPI' A1.5

RASRAARISIZA1.5

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

HHFTET BB B 1R R A IE RIS L B ARPRERERBY D BY o

KPI'A1.6

RARESIEIRA1.6

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HRIPAERBEBREYNG E « RIMPIT LAV REEE
BiE k2 RS B RTINS 5 o

Use of Resources

A2. EiRIERH

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including
energy, water and other raw materials.

BMERER(BEER - KEMERMED) BIBEE

KPI A2.1

RS AE R FEIRA2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kwh in "000s) and intensity
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
RIEERONEER FEEER (B - RoUh) EiEs
(UFEFREE) MBE (WUSESEN - SIEXRE
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Emission, Use of
Resources, and
Environmental and Natural
Resources

BE) ~ BIRG R RIRIE K
KARER

Hazardous and Non-
hazardous Wastes

BEEREEERY

Use of Resources, and
Environmental and Natural
Resources
BRFARIRIERAAER

Use of Resources, and
Environmental and Natural
Resources
BERFARRIERAAER
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KPI A2.2

RASRAEISIZA2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BFEKBREE (WNSESE( - BERMHE) -

KPI' A2.3

RASRAAISIZA2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

HRFTET 1 BIAE R A B 1R e A E B = B AR R EY
BRI ER o

KPI'A2.4

RARESIEIRA2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

it SRECGE KR R B RIRERE ~ PRET MK = B
1B 2 ER B B2 PRI B o

KPI'A2.5

FARENEEIRA2.5

Total packaging material used for finished products (in
tonnes) and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

KR PTAEEMEINARE (UWEETE) Kk (ER) 8L E
BA5E

Use of Resources, and
Environmental and Natural
Resources
BERFEARRIENRRAER

Use of Resources, and
Environmental and Natural
Resources
BERFEARRIENRRAER

Use of Resources, and
Environmental and Natural
Resources
BRERRRIERRXAER

Packaging Materials

BEMK
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the Group’s operations.
AEEEEBEPHIRGE
PRI EIEREATRL o



HKEX ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX B & FFIBIE e rEaHREES

(Continued)

ESG Aspects

RiE

HERERER

RERS (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
tERAE & FaE

A3. The Environmental and Natural Resources

A3. IRERXAER

A4,
A4.

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant impact on
the environment and natural resources.

R ITAHIRIBERRABRENEATEOIBER

KPI' A3.1

FARERIEIZA3N

Description of the significant impacts of activities on
the environment and natural resources and the actions
taken to manage them.

B R HRIERARE RN EALERERNER
BREAFENITH ©

Climate Change

mIZEE

Policies on identification and mitigation of significant
climate-related issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer.
kR B AR EEHBEITAEELENEARIZIERH
EEIBER ©

KPI' A4.1

ARG SIEIZA41

Description of the significant climate-related issues
which have impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

B EERPIEEHETAELERENEARGEERSE
B KREHTE -

Use of Resources, and
Environmental and Natural
Resources
BERFERHRIRIERKAETR

Use of Resources, and
Environmental and Natural
Resources
BERFERRIRIERKAETR

Climate Change

RIEEE

Climate Change

RIREE
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(Continued)
Part B: Social

NB RS (&)
ZE g

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE - ERERER HH R Z &R i

B1. Employment

B1. &

82

Information on the policies and compliance with laws
and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal,

recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,

equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare.

BRAFINE R E ~ BREAEF - TIERE -~ B - TE5%
g~ ool s REGUREMGFERENNER KBTS
BTABEARENEREZRERRONER -

KPI'B1.1

R ENIEIEBR.

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for
example, full- or part-time), age group and geographical
region.

R~ BERLE (WERBEFERE) - FieiER kt@E o
HEE4EE] -

KPI B1.2

RASREMIEIRB1.2

Employment turnover rate by gender, age group and
geographical region.

R~ FRRARRMERIDIEEMAKLLE o

Overview, Compliance and
Grievance, Employment

B ~ SRR B

Employment — Our Team

R — Iz mE

Employment — Our Team

R — Iz B
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(Continued) NAR5| ()
ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
IRIR - HERERER HERA E Ef ik
B2. Health and Safety
B2. BFHZE

Information on the policies and compliance with laws Health and Safety

and regulations that have a significant impact on the

issuer relating to providing a safe working environment

and protecting employees from occupational hazards.
ERRHZ2TFREAMREREERRHEMZENEER RREZSE
RETHETABERTZENERRERROINER ©

KPI B2.1

RS A FE1EB2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in Health and Safety
each of the past three years including the reporting year.

R@E=F (BREERFE) SFRTUHMIABRLEE - EEHETE

KPI B2.2

RARENISIEB2.2

Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety
AILEEETIEEE - EEHELe

KPI B2.3

RASRAE M IE1RB2.3

Description of occupational health and safety measures  Health and Safety
adopted, and how they are implemented and monitored.

M PTEAN B E RE 2 2180 » U RERRIT REER  RBEHAZS

JiiE o
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(Continued) SEELTNG=)),
ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
IRIR - HERERER HERA E Ef ik
B3. Development and Training
B3. ZERIE
Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and skills Development and Training
for discharging duties at work. Description of training
activities.
BRI EEEIT LIFRM BN R AEREER o #ilig  ZEEKIEI
SNES) o
KPI B3.1
RASRAA M FE1EB3.1
The percentage of employees trained by gender and Development and Training
employee category (e.g. senior management, middle
management).
BEREEER (WEREEE - PRAEERES 891 BEERE
ZiIMEB B ©
KPI B3.2
RARAANISIEB3.2
The average training hours completed per employee by Development and Training
gender and employee category.
B4R KR EELERE D » SR EETMZ I FIIREL o ERRIEN
B4. Labour Standards
B4. &T#A
Information on the policies and compliance with relevant  Labour Standards
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
BRBIIET KRS THBERRETHETABEARX  HIEH
E0EREREIROINER o
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(Continued) NBRS| (&)

ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
RIE - EREREDR tERAE & s

B4. Labour Standards (Continued)

B4. T X5 (4)

B5.
BS.

KPI B4.1

RARAAIS1EBAN

Description of measures to review employment practices
to avoid child and forced labour.

R SRR\ E B 891E fE LA R B8 T Ko sl g5 T o

KPI B4.2

FARAENISIEBA.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices
when discovered.

T B IR B R IE R R H bR A R B P ERE A A B o

Supply Chain Management

e EE

Policies on managing environmental and social risks of
the supply chain.

BIRHEEMNIRIE R & RRECR o

KPI B5.1

BSR4 R E1%B5.1

Number of suppliers by geographical region.
BHE s D EEEEE o

KPI B5.2

R ERIEIEB5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers,
number of suppliers where the practices are being
implemented, how they are implemented and
monitored.

WA RREAREENEL > mERITERIBMNMNMER
8 ~ URABRABMAITREEZR A o

Labour Standards

55 T#ER]

Labour Standards

5 T#ER]

Supply Chain Management

g

Supply Chain Management
HAER SR

Supply Chain Management

iR EE
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(Continued)

ESG Aspects

B

HERERER

RERS (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
tERAE HaE

B5. Supply Chain Management (Continued)
B5. {HEHEETE (1)

Bé6.

KPI B5.3

RARAANISIEB5.3

Description of practices used to identify environmental
and social risks along the supply chain, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

LA R RS IRV IRIE Rt g R RV IE G
USRI T REEER 5% ©

KPI B5.4

R ENIEIEB5.4

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and services when
selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

MM BRIE R E RS ARERAE R KRIRFBNIEEF > X
T BRI T R BRZR 5% ©

Product Responsibility

B6. EmE1F

86

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising,
labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided and method of redress.
BRIFMEHERMNRBNRERAZS - BE - BBERARE
EEURBHA ENBERERETHETABERZENAE
RERRIRBIBNER

Supply Chain Management

(Cadis gt

Supply Chain Management

MR EE

Product Responsibility
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(Continued)

ESG Aspects
IRIR - HERERER

RERS (&)

Remarks

Related Section(s)
tERAE &

Bé6. Product Responsibility (Continued)

B6. EmEE (&)
KPI B6.1
RS AE X FE1%B6.1
Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to
recalls for safety and health reasons.
EENCEXEDREHTR 22 BEREEAMABRIWNE
L o

KPI B6.2

FARENISIEB6.2

Number of products and service-related complaints
received and how they are dealt with.

RERANESKRRBIRFHE UREH X

KPI B6.3

RARAANISIEB6.3

Description of practices relating to observing and
protecting intellectual property rights.

i B A S K (R IR AN EERE B RE V1B B -

KPI B6.4

FARAANIS1EB6.4

Description of quality assurance process and recall
procedures.

W E SR T BT R EmBINIZER ©

KPI B6.5

FARAENISIEB6.5

Description of consumer data protection and privacy
policies, how they are implemented and monitored.
HIUH B & BERHRE RAAFREE » U ABRAIT B2 5
o

Product Responsibility —
Quality Assurance
EnEf—EERE

Product Responsibility

— Complaints Handling
Procedures
EmETEFEREER

Product Responsibility —
Intellectual Property Rights
EmEE—FHEERE

Product Responsibility —
Quality Assurance
EnET-—EER:E

Product Responsibility —
Personal Data Privacy
EmET—BAERLE
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(Continued)

ESG Aspects

RIE

HERERER

RERS (&)

Related Section(s) Remarks
tERAE HaE

B7. Anti-corruption

B7.

88

RET

Information on the policies and compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

BRAM LEERRS ~ 813 ~ BRI R BB BT EET
ANBERTZENEMERAROINER o

KPI B7.1

RS IE1RBY.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RERBAHBTANEEERE T ESEMNESHAE
VBB M afRahiE R o

KPI B7.2

FARERIEIEBT .2

Description of preventive measures and whistle-
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

L HIE R R MIZT ° USABRRITREERAA ©

KPI B7.3

AR ERIEIEBRT.3

Description of anti-corruption training provided to
directors and staff.
BRREERETHRESE -

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption

k&5

Anti-corruption

k&5
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(Continued) NAR5| ()
ESG Aspects Related Section(s) Remarks
IRIR - HERERER HERA E Ef ik

B8. Community investment

B8. HHERE
Policies on community engagement to understand the community Investment
needs of the communities where the issuer operates and
to ensure that its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.
Bt E2ERTHETASEMTHERTSENBRERE HeRE
EREHEERHEN @IS o

KPI B8.1

RARARNIS1EBS.1

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, Ccommunity Investment
environmental concerns, labour needs, health, culture,

sport).

FEIEMEE(WHE - BRFE -HFIHER BE X HERE

1E~8BH) -

KPI B8.2

R ERIS1EBS.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus ~ Community Investment
area.

AEIHEMBAER WERRERE) - Hegks
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ BET RS

@ pakertilly
w4575

Independent auditor’s report to the members of
China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 98 to 199, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSASs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA ‘s Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

90

RPEAEERARARRRZBIZHENRS
(RESHEFMALZBEIRAE)

BER

AIZELED (LU 78 TERf9)) EBZIIEINHEI’E
19E 2 HERBERBRAR (TEAR) REW
BB (B TEEEH)) WEEUMHBRE » 25K
B BIRREIEN2022F 12831 HB G & B
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ERENIR S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS AR EZEIR

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional RBFRFINZEZHE > FESEZIBEARMASIZN
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the AHBNGSHBEREPEEENSIE - RMEETESH
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These ZEEEGEEMHFRRLTMILENSRERIBILES
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the B’ MAGHMILEHEERGLERER -
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these

matters.

Revenue recognition on provision of smart retail services
IEHE ETE RN m tE5T

The Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
FREIXEE BHEEZTEERMREREENSZE

Revenue from the provision of smart retail services Our audit procedures to assess the revenue recognition of
amounted to approximately HK$27,071,000 and accounted smart retail services include the following:
for approximately 99% of the Group's total revenue for the FHfIFHEE ESERFW ARV EZIZTEIE
year ended 31 December 2022.
BE2022F12B31HLEFE » REEZZTERFAEWGELA o  Understanding the business process of the smart
#27,071,00087C * 1 HEEARNELI99% © retail business;
EREETEEBNERRER ;
We identified revenue recognition from the provision of
smart retail services as a key audit matter due to the o Assessing the design, implementation and operating

significance of revenue generated from provision of services effectiveness of key internal controls relating to
and is one of the key performance revenue indicators of the revenue recognition;

Group, which gives rise to an inherent risk that revenue could SR RS R SR N SRR B R A - B
be recorded in the incorrect period or could be subject to BN

manipulation to meet targets or expectations.
BARRHESTERBUaEDSMREERER DEINE o |nspecting the key terms and conditions of contracts
AR TSP AR A W s IV B B Az It Th A &2 B RO RE SRAB RN e 4512 with customers and major business partners to

Z— MA@ EE T ERBEAN AR A ENE RN assess if there were any terms and conditions that
TR 2 B R o may have affected the accounting treatment of the
related revenue; and

Details of revenue recognition from the provision of smart GEHAE AR EAEEBASHN T B RIEMH
retail services and its accounting policies are set out in note METE 2 B D e SRS N e 5t ERIEMIE
5 and note 2, respectively, to the consolidated financial RAGHE &

statements.

RESEZERBRI 2 WA REGSBRFBEDIENES Inspecting, on a sample basis, the customer
P75 ¥R Y5 S e Y2 acceptance documents, the contracts and invoices

evidencing that the performance obligations of
services were satisfied and control was transferred.
R ERBIEERE 2 BOXRBEUIBREIT AT
HEEENERRBBH - GRIKREE o
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Assessing loss allowance of trade receivables
TG B B U BRI 1R 1

The Key audit matter
FREZEE

FSEERSEIE (E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BMEERTEREMRERERNGE

At 31 December 2022, the Group’s gross trade receivables Our audit procedures to assess the loss allowance for
amounted to approximately HK$7,344,000 against which trade receivables include the following:
a total loss allowance of approximately HK$2,805,000 was Ff9sFHE & S EW R IBEEREENEZIZTEE

recorded.
R20224%F128318
7,344,000/ 70 * #R1S B RABEIEEE & 492,805,000/ 7T ©

Management measured loss allowance at an amount equal
to expected credit losses (“ECLs”). ECLs are a probability-
weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are
measured as the present value of all expected cash shortfalls

(i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Group e

in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive). The ECLs take into account the
ageing of trade receivables balances, the repayment history
of the Group’s debtors of different risk characteristics,
current market conditions, debtor-specific conditions, and
the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected
lives of the trade receivables.

BIEEZRBREERE (TTHAGEEBE)) TE2HEEE - |
HREEBEBEEEEANBRMEGS - EEBEKRIZMBTER
mIRE (RESNEN SEENREREN BS%5EHE
HWEINRERE 2 MNERR) NIRETE - BHEERES
BT EBZRNFIEGRNREK - SEEAEETEREREHN
BBANERES  BEmR - ARERGNEBRERE R &
SEE ZREWEIETER AR E R BRI EE ©

BEEENESBERRIBERENS -

Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the
design and implementation of management'’s key
internal controls relating to credit control, debt
collection and estimation of ECLS;

BT HEREERMEEES - WEKRHREER
B ETRRI R A H M5 BT

Assessing, on a sample basis, whether items in the
trade receivables’ ageing report were classified
within the appropriate ageing bracket by comparing
individual items in the report with underlying
documentation;

BB LB B 5 FEWGRIERR L 3 &5 P 59 {E Bl 18 B S4B R
X4 HETERETNIEERE D ABEE R ;

Obtaining an understanding of the key parameters
and assumptions of the ECLs model adopted by the
management, including historical default data and
management'’s estimated loss rates;
BREREMRARAEEREERENERES 8RR
% BREELENSEAEIRBGLETHEEE ;
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KEY AUDIT-MATTERS (Continued)

Assessing loss allowance of trade receivables (Continued)

#HE B 5 Wk TR 1R 5 e ()

The Key audit matter
FREZER

We identified loss allowance for trade receivables as a key e

audit matter because determining the level of loss allowance
requires the exercise of significant management judgement
which is inherently subjective.

EMEEEZ R FIERE BRI ERR ARMREZSEE TV ERE
EEERENKTINEEEEEEESEAE > MAEAE L
BEBRE o

Details of loss allowance of trade receivables are set out
in note 24 and note 3(a)(ii) to the consolidated financial
statements, and its accounting policies are set out in note 2
to the consolidated financial statements.

B EWRIBBREENEBEN RS BmRM 24K
5E3(a)(i) > HESTECRREN RS M FEIRERMEE2 o

FSEE&RSEIE (E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit
BMEERTREMRERERNSGE

Assessing the reasonableness of management’s loss
allowance estimates by examining the information
used by management to form such judgements,
including testing the accuracy of the historical
default data and evaluating whether the historical
loss rates are appropriately adjusted based on
current economic conditions and forward-looking
information;
BRREEEEERNERABERANER » SiFH
FELENBIBENERG R EEFIEBRAEZEGIRIEE
AV AEAR R R AT ERMEREE R TEEIR
EFEEREEGHSTNEEY ;

Reperforming the calculation of the loss allowance
based on the Group’s credit loss allowance policies;
and

RBiE EEENEEHEREERRENTERER
-

Inspecting, on a sample basis, receipts from
counterparties subsequent to the financial year
end relating to receivables balances with bank
statements and relevant remittance documentation.
TR IRTT Y BR B8 e ABRA R RS 3R B I I E
EHBBEH S WIS EREIEAE SR ERNIRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ BET RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this Other Information, we are required
to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable
the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations,
or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.

94
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o ©
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TELEIRE ©
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B ERENIR S

AUDITOR'S ‘RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control,

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control;

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors;

R BZLES
HNEE

FAEE IR R ARIE

HFVERASEFREILSGEYHRRERMS
NEFERRIREFERMERE BRI
WEEHHFARMTROZBEARS - HIEDEE
RERBERARE > NMEAMBER - AR RAER
SRBHEAEMATESHABRERSE -

BEREBRSERIZE ‘I‘&ﬁ?ﬁ*%%%ﬁﬁu?_
TRBZIIFAEREBER B FENERHES

BRIt o $ESRMRIL A A ENGFEEsRE L 1HJTIE'J‘JZ”
RESEBRRBER TR ECREREZSGESM
B RAFH BV RER * BIRAR A ERIERRE

AEREEBESERETESNBES > HMER
FEHE RIFEFRIREEE o TfI75 ¢

o HAKRFERNEMEGFRERMER GG
BRGEERERRANELR « R RATT
BEFUEBHZFAR ® UKRERTEEM
BENESERE (FARMARRNER - B
REREFRISE M EBER ~ R IE ~ ERER FE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B\ BET RS

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern;

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation;

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.
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AﬁDITOR(»S/ﬁESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Sai Ho.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 March 2023

Chan Sai Ho
Practising certificate number P07705
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
mEamAkEMEEINAR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE2022F12831HLIEFE BT

2022 2021
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FAET FET
(Restated)
(E7)
Continuing operations RS2
Revenue U 5 5 27,282 34,393
Cost of sales and services HE MARTE A 9 (21,419) (30,864)
Gross profit EF 5,863 3,529
Other income Heug A 7 907 162
Other losses, net HEs48 > 358 8 (1,279) (1,930)
Administrative expenses TEER 9 (16,022) (18,462)
Finance costs BIFEERAS 12 (112) (129)
Loss before tax PRI ATESIE (10,643) (16,830)
Income tax credit FriSiit e 13 - 2,115
Loss for the year from REFEREERZ
continuing operations REERIE (10,643) (14,715)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations 7k B B4R F 425>
REEEE 14 (511) (7,382)
Loss for the year REEEE (11,154) (22,097)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income Hithz2mE (X)) WA
Items that may be reclassified HEREEN I EETRe
subsequently to profit or loss: ZHEH :
Exchange differences on translation of foreign B GINEFE B R E%E
operations, net of nil tax MNpRZRIE (1,356) 1,026
Reclassification of cumulative translation HEBIIERRENDIE
reserve upon disposal of a foreign operation, [EHAEEE 0 0%
net of nil tax ZIE = 367
Reclassification of fair value reserve upon HERADEE AEM
disposal of debt instruments at fair value SEBANEBEHIAER
through after comprehensive income, net of nil  EFFDIEA A EEEERE
tax 2R IE (215) -
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for AEEHMEE FEX)
the year, net of tax WA > 30BRIRIE (1,571) 1,393
Total comprehensive expense for the year ZxEE 2B 4E%E (12,725) (20,704)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
GERmREMEEIRAR

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

EHE2022F12831HLEFE LB TTHIR)

2022 2021
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5E FAET FET
(Restated)
(87%1)
Loss for the year attributable to: THIALREGEEERE :
Owners of the Company KRBHEBA
- Continuing operations —FHEIREET (9,260) (11,813)
- Discontinued operations — BRI REETS (486) (7,382)
(9,746) (19,195)
Non-controlling interests JEER R
— Continuing operations —IFEREEE (1,383) (2,902)
- Discontinued operations —EARIEEEE (25) -
(1,408) (2,902)
(11,154) (22,097)
Total comprehensive expense TIATEGEZ@EES
attributable to: FEEC I
Owners of the Company ZiN/NEIEZ DN
- Continuing operations —EREER (10,799) (10,489)
- Discontinued operations —BARIREER (486) (7,382)
(11,285) (17,871)
Non-controlling interests eI R
- Continuing operations —FEREETR (1,415) (2,833)
- Discontinued operations — BRI ER (25) -
(1,440) (2,833)
(12,725) (20,704)
Loss per share from continuing and REFERSESEBRE
discontinued operations RIS SIRES1E
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) BN 5 (5 858) 15 (0.21) (0.41)
Loss per share from continuing operations RBEIFEKSEH 2
SREE
Basic and diluted (HK cents per share) BAREE (FE) 15 (0.20) (0.25)
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated BBtz T A4 S TEIRER 2 AR SRS ©
financial statements.
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2022

Note HK$'000 HK$'000
b5 FHET TET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment Y BEEEE 17 25 56
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE 18 385 1,936
Financial asset at fair value through BARBESTAREMEM!
other comprehensive income WA SREE 21 - 330
410 2,322
Current assets RENEE
Inventories =5 22 38 49
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EMER RIS 24 12,144 21,262
Amount due from an intermediate FEW—RI PR AR Z
holding company A 25 - 18,346
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary EW—ERRNBARZ
I 25 1 1
Cryptocurrency nEatE 19 568 -
Cash and bank balances R& K IRIT4E R 26 28,203 48,961
40,954 88,619
Current liabilities RENEE
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENRIE 27 11,881 19,531
Contract liabilities aHaE 23 850 1,102
Lease liabilities HEaE 18 288 1,458
Amount due to ultimate holding company PR RASIERR A B 2 18 25 618 18,965
Amount due to an intermediate holding FE—REFBERARZ
company B 25 - 4,290
Loan from an intermediate holding company E—EF TR AT 2
I=EN 25 - 4,946
13,637 50,292
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2022 2021

Note HK$'000 HK$'000

B FHET FHET

Net current assets MENEEFE 27,317 38,327

Total assets less current liabilities HEERRHEE 27,727 40,649
Non-current liability EREAE

Lease liabilities HEaE 18 - 290

Net assets BEFE 27,727 40,359
Capital and reserves B EE

Share capital Rg s 28 23,430 23,430

Reserves HiE 3,966 15,251

Equity attributable to owners of the Company — A&AFES AFE(GER 27,396 38,681

Non-controlling interests JEIERE 331 1,678

Total equity RER4REE 27,727 40,359

The consolidated financial statements on pages 98 to 199 were
approved by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2023 and are

signed on its behalf by:

Sun Haitao
BEE
Director

BE

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated

financial statements.

FIBEBIVBEZGEMHBHREREN2023F35 21

HEEEGHETHR N EELAESE
Wu Shan
St
Director
BE
BEMT =~ M st B4R & B PSR AR 2 AH R EBMD o
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Attributable to owners of the Company

RATEE Bl
Financial
assetat
fair value
through
Share other Foreign
(apital- Capital Capital Comprefiensive currency Non-
ordinary Share  contribution  redemption Warrant income~~ translation Other— Accumulated controling
shares premium Teserve Teserve Tesenve Tesenve Teserve Teserve |osses Subtotal Inferests Total
(note ) (notei) (noteiii (note ) (note) (notevi (note vi
RLAEE
AR
AEIAN
- BAEE  IRER SRERM fung #ER
ZER  RheE  rEEE & 4 éf fE  EfEE  EnER st E o)
() (W) (W) (=) (=) (i) (Fszvi)
HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§000
Tin TEn Tin Thn Thn Thn Thn Thn Tin Tin TEn Thn
Balance at 1 anuary 2021 RONEIR1B 265 B 3466638 91m 1 466 m 116559 (9 (356089 56,552 (1739) 5814
Loss for the year TEEFA - - - - - - (19,195) (19,19) 290 (22007)
Other comprefiensive income FEERMRENA
forthe year - - - - 130 - - 134 8 139
Total comprehensive income/expense) FEEAEN/ (BE) 48
forthe year - - - - 130 - (19,195) (17871) (283) (20,704)
Lapse of warrant options SRR - - (666) - - - 666 - - -
Deregistration of subsidiaries HEKELT - - - - - - - - 6,249 6,209
Balance at 31 Dacermber 2021 RENAYIAZEE BA 346638 97 1 - 5 117883 [ B Be81 14678 10359
Attributable to owners of the Company
KAFRRAERS
Financial
asset at
fair valug
through
Share other Foreign
capital- Capital Capital comprehensive  currency Non-
ordinary Share contribution redemption  Warrant income translation Other - Accumulated controlling
shares — premium reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses ~ Subtotal  interests Total
(note i) (noteii)  (noteii)  (noteiv) (notev) ~ (motevi) (note vii)
HAAEE
HARM
2ERAN
- EREE  ORER  fmEEN  MER HER
BER  RiEE  REME i fife fife [ EftBE  EER it 8 it
(H) (hist) (e (sti) [ ) N =)
HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS'000
1AL TEn T T T T Tin 1A 1A 1AL TEn T
Balance ot 1 anuary 2022 RNEBR 2 B4 3,466,638 9,111 1 - N5 117,88 (49 (3579.214) 38,681 1678 40,359
Lossfor the year KEERS = s = = = = - - (0746) (0746 (1408 (11,150)
Other comprefiensive income FEEEHRENA
forthe year - - - - - (215) (1,324) - - (1,539) (32) (1571
Total comprehensive expense FEERERNAR
forthe year = = = = = (215) (1,324) = (9,746) (11,285) (1,440 (12,729)
Disposal of  ubsidiary HE—BHEAT - - - - - - - - - - 9 9
Belance at 31 ecember 2022 RUENBYIBZES 2430 3466638 9111 1 = - 116559 (49) (3588,960) 27,39 331 110
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(iif)

(iv)

(vii)

The share premium account of the Company arises on shares issued at a
premium. In accordance with the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
share premium account is distributable to the shareholders of the Company
provided that immediately following the date on which the dividend is proposed
to be distributed, the Company will be able to pay its debts as they fall due
in the ordinary course of business. The share premium account may also be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

The capital contribution reserve represents capital contribution from an
intermediate holding company.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of the share
capital of the Company repurchased and cancelled.

The warrant reserve represents the net proceeds received from the issue of
unlisted warrants of the Company. This reserve will be transferred to the share
capital and the share premium account upon exercise of the unlisted warrants,
where the unlisted warrants remain unexercised at the expiry date, the amount
recognised in the warrant reserve will be released to the accumulated losses.

The Group has certain debt instrument measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income. For this instrument, changes in fair value are
accumulated within financial asset measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income reserve within equity. The accumulated changes in fair
value are transferred to profit or loss when the investment is derecognised or
impaired.

The foreign currency translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations as well as the effective portion of any foreign exchange differences
arising from hedges of the net investment in these foreign operations.

Other reserve represents the difference between the consideration paid for the
additional interest in the subsidiary and the non-controlling interest’s share of
the assets and liabilities reflected in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the date of the acquisition of the non-controlling interests.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated
financial statements.

0]

(iif)

(vi)

(vii)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HAEBHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

BHE2022F12831HLIEFE BT

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHETT
cash flows from operating activities REEEFSIRERE
Loss before taxation PRIGAIESIE
From continuing operations HEREE (10,643) (16,830)
From discontinued operations BRI EER (511) (7,383)
(11,154) (24,213)
Adjustments for: EMTIISEELRE
Finance costs recognised in profit or loss PRI FERR 2 B TS B A 117 170
Interest income from bank deposits IRITIFEABIF EWA (433) (673)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 42 ~ B LR #E 2 ITE 25 58
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRREEZINE 1,367 2,028
Written off for financial assets at fair value BAREBEFAEMEZEWAZ
through other comprehensive income SREEMHE 115 -
Recognition of loss allowance B R EMEWRIBRIEEE 2
for trade and other receivables HET 629 2,338
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries SHIHN B AR 2 518 = 6,616
Covid-19-related rent concession M ERREEEEE R R (50) (33)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RENBAR ZWEm (140) -
(9,524) (13,709)
change in operating assets and liabilities: REEEREERET :
Decrease in inventories EFERD 7 46
Decrease/(increase) in trade and B 5 R E W IE R (8 00)
other receivables 7,140 (17,328)
Decrease/(increase) in amount due to A —RREER AT 218
an intermediate holding company b (3En) 18,003 (17,996)
Decrease in amount due from YW —EREANB AT 2B
a fellow subsidiary PR - 1
Decrease in restricted cash ZIREIRE R = 2,689
Increase in cryptocurrency & E g (609) -
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to FEERARIZER A B 2 A
ultimate holding company GREZL) /1810 (18,347) 18,965
(Decrease)/increase in amount due to E—B R EIER AT 2 I8
an intermediate holding company GRizL) /10 (4,290) 2,187
(Decrease)/increase in trade and B 5 R EMPETRIE OrZl) /a0
other payables (6,240) 13,380
(Decrease)/increase in contract liabilities S8 B&CEL) /1Em (45) 328
Cash used in operations REFRARE (13,905) (11,437)
Income tax refunded RIBEFTEM = 1,681
Net cash used in operating activities RS EEFTAIREBEE (13,905) (9,756)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HEBHERER

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #iZE2022512831H LEFEE B THIR)

2022 2021
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Cash flows from investing activities BRETHFRBRESNE
Interest received B 433 673
Payment for acquisition of property, BEYE - BERRENR
plant and equipment (16) (38)
Net cash outflows from disposal of HE—ENB AR IR ML FEE
a subsidiary (82) -
Net cash generated from investing BEEHREES SE
activities 335 635
Cash flows from financing REZEBRERE
activities
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEEREE EAREGD (1,223) (2,078)
Interest element of lease rentals paid B EEREE 2 EIHD (65) (118)
Repayment for loan from an intermediate BIERE—BPBZER AR ZER
holding company (4,800) -
Interest paid for loan from an intermediate Tk B —REREER AR ZER
holding company EHFE (104) -
Proceeds from loan from an intermediate kE—EFEERAB ZEMRE
holding company I8 = 4,800
Net cash (used in)/generated from FhEEREN (FRA) FRBIRS 348
financing activities (6,192) 2,604
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents IRE& &R L BEYH L FEE (19,762) (6,517)
Cash and cash equivalents at FEYz R RIESEEY
the beginning of year 48,805 54,648
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net PR H)F (996) 674
Cash and cash equivalents at ERZRAERIRNEEEY
the end of year 28,047 48,805
Analysis of the balances of cash and RERIRESLEBMERGRZ DN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances RS HIRTHER 28,047 48,805
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated — FEMt Z izt 24 TSR 2 ABRREB1D ©
financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MBI IR

(BBTTHITR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap.
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The address of the Company's registered office is at
Third Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands.

The Company’s shares have been listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 2
March 2001.

In the opinion of the directors, the parent company is
5TRENPIN.COM INC. (incorporated in the British Virgin Islands)
and the ultimate parent company is 51 Credit Card Inc.
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands, and listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 2051).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as, the
“Group”) are principally engaged in the smart retail business,
financial technology services business, sports training
business and lottery business.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“"HK$"), which is also the functional currency
of the Company and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand (“"HK$'000") except when otherwise indicated.

These consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of
the Company on 21 March 2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFE@:HKEHNE
POLICIES

These notes provide a list of the significant accounting K FREERZEF SV BRREFRAZ
policies adopted in the preparation of these consolidated EEHREER c REAEEBEEN > ZE
financial statements. These policies have been consistently BE—BEREBRRFIERZMEEE ° 43
applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. EUBRRBANAER (RPEEBEZERE
The consolidated financial statements are for the Group [RABREW B AR °

consisting of China Netcom Technology Holdings Limited and
its subsidiaries.

(a) Basis of preparation (a) REEZE
(i) compliance with Hong Kong Financial (i) BTFEEBHBHRSER (TE5EH
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) and the HEHREER ) REELFIEH
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong (TEEREER) BB EHE

companies Ordinance (“HKCO")

The consolidated financial statements of the KRBNGEEHFRREBRES
Company have been prepared in accordance BB REEN KRB ERBFRHE
with HKFRSs and the disclosure requirements of NiEBEFR TR o Lo IbE
the HKCO. In addition, the consolidation financial REMBRERTE ST EMFR
statements include applicable disclosures required GEMz& %5 AR A (TGEM L]
by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities ANz BRIEEIRX °

on GEM of the Stock Exchange (“the GEM Listing

Rules”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BBTTHITR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHKEHEE &)
POLICIES (Continued)

108

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for the
certain financial instruments that are measured at
fair values at the end of each reporting period.

Use of estimates and judgement

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with HKFRSS requires management
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income
and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience
and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results
of which form the basis of making the judgements
about carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are
reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to
accounting estimates are recognised in the period
in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the
application of HKFRSs that have significant effect
on the financial statements and major sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 4.

(a)

mREE(E)

(ii) ELEEIEL

(iii)

REMBRERDBELRAERE
A EETEMIADNE®R
SRR ANBEE -

15t RAVEZ EH

RN EBBMBREERVEY

BHREE > EXEEBFFLH
B~ S5 RBR MERZEBR

WEBUKREE ~ 818 - AR
B2 B EE o IR S KAE

FRREENEEERURNE
RERTHBAECENEEH
thRERMEL > HERBHAEH

BEAREMKREIZEERE
BRREGEFLFIENER - B
BRAE R A AEBRUILIR (A5 AE o

s A B 2 R L s AR RER o 1
Gt st 2B R EHE
HY B8RSR FRET Z B
5 MIESTHE R R ARKIAM

T8 AEFHEST 2R K
RERHARIBEST ©

%'E!é?_lﬁﬂﬂ*f%ﬁﬁi%ﬁiﬁﬁu
RFFEHE M BRERAEATE
BYFIER AR St R EMEN TR
FORIS AT 5T 5 ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(NETTEITR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(iv) New and amended standards adopted by the

(v)

Group

The Group has applied the following amendments
for the first time for their annual reporting period
commencing 1 January 2022:

Amendments to
HKFRS 3

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework

Covid-19 Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Property, Plant and Equipment
— Proceeds before Intended
Use

Onerous Contracts —
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Amendment to
HKFRS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 16

Amendments to
HKAS 37

Amendments to
HKFRSs

Annual Improvements
to HKFRSs 2018-2020

The amendments listed above did not have any
material impact on the amounts recognised in prior
periods and are not expected to significantly affect
the current or future periods.

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted and effective

Certain new accounting standards, amendments
to accounting standards and interpretations
have been published that are not mandatory
for the year ended 31 December 2022 and have
not been early adopted by the Group. These
standards, amendments or interpretations are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity
in the current or future reporting periods and on
foreseeable future transactions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 =

POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Basis of preparation (Continued)

(v)

110

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted and effective (Continued)

AR MBI IR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BBTTHITR)

New standards, amendments, improvement and interpretation

METEER « 53] » SRR

EEFEERE (F)

(a) RREE(E

(v) EHRERQRERZATEERRZ
(=

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RT5IRERERRZ B
EEHRMER

HKFRS 17

BEMBREEF 7R

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

BENBREENFEI10RK
BEGTERE28K 2 1BE]

Amendments to HKFRS 16
ERUBREENE 1652185

Amendments to HKAS 1

BRGHERF 1R

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
ERGHENSIRNEBNERE
EREHIREE2R 2B

Amendments to HKAS 8
ERGHERER B

Amendments to HKAS 12

BRGHEF125%
Zf&5]

NG

Insurance Contracts and
the related Amendments
R AL RABRIER]

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture
REERHABENTNEEARZENEEHERTE

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
HEZHEEERER

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

RESIEREBENEREERES
ZAERAEET (20205)

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

BEHRKE

Definition of Accounting Estimates
EEHhENER

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising
from a Single Transaction
HE-QRETHNEEREEERN
EILARIA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEEHHEBEHNE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(b) Subsidiaries (b) B AT

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities)
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights
to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from
the date that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for business combinations by the Group (refer to note
2(c)).

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised
gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of
the transferred asset. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of
subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive
income, statement of changes in equity and statement of
financial position respectively.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

112

POLICIES (Continueqd)

(c) Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account
for all business combinations, regardless of whether
equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a
subsidiary comprises the:

o Fair values of the assets transferred;

o Liabilities incurred to the former shareholders of
the acquired business;

o Equity interests issued by the Group;

o Fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a
contingent consideration arrangement; and

o Fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the
subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent
liabilities assumed in a business combination are,
with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair
values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises
any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the
acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEEHHEBEHNE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Business combinations (Continued) (c) ¥EEH (&

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

. Consideration transferred;

o Amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquired entity; and

o Acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity
interest in the acquired entity, over the fair value
of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair
value of the net identifiable assets of the business
acquired, the difference is recognised directly in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration
is deferred, the amounts payable in the future are
discounted to their present value as at the date of
exchange. The discount rate used is the entity's
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which
a similar borrowing could be obtained from an
independent financier under comparable terms and
conditions. Contingent consideration is classified either
as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a
financial liability are subsequently re-measured to fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages,
the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is
re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date. Any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are
recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEeHKENE (£

114

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

POLICIES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost
less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs
of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the company on the basis of dividend received
and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries
is required upon receiving a dividend from these
investments if the dividend exceeds the total
comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period
the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the
investment in the separate financial statements exceeds
the carrying amount in the consolidated financial
statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent
with the internal reporting provided to the chief
operating decision maker (the “"CODM"). The CODM, who
is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been
identified as the executive directors that makes strategic
decisions.

Foreign currency translation

(i) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars, which is the
Company functional and the Group's presentation
currency.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEEHHEBEHNE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(f) Foreign currency translation (Continued) (f) SMEmE (&)

(i) Transactions and balances (ii) X5 RiZER

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange
gains and losses resulting from the settlement
of such transactions and from the translation of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at year end exchange rates are
generally recognised in profit or loss. They are
deferred in equity if they relate to qualifying cash
flow hedges and qualifying net investment hedges
or are attributable to part of the net investment in a
foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on a
net basis within other gains/(losses).

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value
was determined. Translation differences on assets
and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as
part of the fair value gain or loss. For example,
translation differences on non-monetary assets
and liabilities such as equities held at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised in profit
or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss and
translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through
other comprehensive income are recognised in
other comprehensive income.
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AR MBI IR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BBTTHITR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IE@:HEHE (&)

116

POLICIES (Continued)
(f) Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(i) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign
operations (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

o assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement
of financial position;

. income and expenses for each statement of
profit or loss and statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

o all resulting exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising
from the translation of any net investment in
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other
financial instruments designated as hedges
of such investments, are recognised in other
comprehensive income. When a foreign operation
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net
investment are repaid, the associated exchange
differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part
of the gain or loss on sale.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical
cost less accumulated and subsequent accumulated
impairment losses depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component
accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when
replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are charged
to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method
to allocate their cost or revalued amounts, net of their
residual values, over their estimated useful lives as
follows:

. Furniture, fixtures and fittings 3-5 years
o Computer and office equipment 3-5 years
Over the shorter

of term of lease
or 5 years

o Leasehold improvements
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IE@%‘H&%ME@%&
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POLICIES (Continueqd)

(g) Property, plant and equipment
(Continued)

The asset’s residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (note
2(hy).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing proceeds with carrying amount. These are
included in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(NETTEITR)

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEEHKENE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are
not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstance indicate that they might be impaired.

Other non-financial assets are tested for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely
independent of the cash inflows from other assets or
groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial
assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each
reporting period.

Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of the entity
that has been disposed of or is classified as held for sale
and that represents a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations, is part of a single
co-ordinated plan to dispose of such a line of business
or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary
acquired exclusively with a view to resale. The results
of discontinued operations are presented separately in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BBTTHITR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHKEHEE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

120

()

(k)

Cryptocurrency

Cryptocurrency held by the Group through third-party
custodian service provider, which are accounted for as
intangible assets under cost model. The cryptocurrency
held by the Group is considered to have an indefinite life.
Accordingly, it is not subject to amortisation and tested
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired.

The Company has classified cryptocurrency on hand at
the end of a period as a current asset as management
has determined that cryptocurrency markets have
sufficient liquidity to allow conversion within the Group's
normal operating cycle.

Investments and other financial assets

(i) Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the
following measurement categories:

. those to be measured subsequently at fair
value (either through other comprehensive
income or through profit or loss); and

. those to be measured at amortised cost.
The classification depends on the Group’s business

model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(NETTEITR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEe:HBEHNE4£&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

Classification (Continued)

For assets measured at fair value, gains and
losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or
other comprehensive income. For investments in
equity instruments that are not held for trading,
this will depend on whether the Group has made
an irrevocable election at the time of initial
recognition to account for the equity investment
at fair value through other comprehensive income
(“FVOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt instrument when and
only when its business model for managing those
assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on trade-date, the date on
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the
asset. Financial assets are derecognised when
the rights to receive cash flows from the financial
assets have expired or have been transferred and
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership.

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried
at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHKEHEE (&)

122

POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Investments and other financial assets
(Continueq)

(iii) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group's business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection
of contractual cash flows where those cash flows
represent solely payments of principal and interest
are measured at amortised cost. Interest income
from these financial assets is included in finance
income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is
recognised directly in profit or loss and presented
in other gains/(losses) together with foreign
exchange gains and losses.

FVOCI: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows and for selling the financial
assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest, are
measured at FVOCI. Movements in the carrying
amount are taken through other comprehensive
income (“OCI"), except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income and
foreign exchange gains and losses which are
recognised in profit or loss. When the financial
asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss
previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in other
gains/(losses).

(k) EREMEMEE (&)

(iii) &2 (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEEHKENE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Investments and other financial assets (k) REREMEMEE (&)

(Continued)
(iv) Impairment (iv) #E
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis NEB LRI EMEEET G ER

the expected credit losses (“ECLs") associated
with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost
and FVOCI. The impairment methodology applied
depends on whether there has been a significant
increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the
simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised
from initial recognition of the receivables, see note
24 for further details.

- Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration
in the financial instrument’s external (if
available) or internal credit rating;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MBI IR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

POLICIES (Continued)

(k) Investments and other financial assets

(Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

FEGSBERME (&)

(k) RERHEMEMEE (&)

(iv) 1 (#)

significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread, the credit
default swap prices for the debtor;

existing or forecast adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its
debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; or

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments
are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument
has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at
the reporting date. A debt instrument is
determined to have low credit risk if i) it has
a low risk of default, ii) the borrower has a
strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business
conditions in the longer term may, but will not
necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

FaMBmRMEE

(NETTEITR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEe:HBEHNE4£&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(k)

(1

(m)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

(iv) Impairment (Continued)

The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or
external credit rating of “investment grade”
as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate
to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

- Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of
financial position where the Group currently has a legally
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts, and
there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the
asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable value
is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business less the estimated costs necessary to make the
sale.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEEHHEBENE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(n) Trade and other receivables (n) EZREMEWKIHRIE

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for 2 S ENFIEAN ERERBRERLE

\

goods sold or services performed in the ordinary course B R oIR RS MIEWE B BIRNEE ©

of business.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at B Z WIS R RGGRESERE
the amount of consideration that is unconditional unless 0 RIEHBIERMER D AR
they contain significant financing components, when NEERER

they are recognised at fair value.

The Group holds the trade receivables with the objective AEBUKRGHNRESREAENFE
to collect the contractual cash flows and therefore B RWEIE  RILHBRAERFE
measures them subsequently at amortised cost using ERBIHE AT E o BRAKEEBERK
the effective interest method. See note 2(k)(iv) for a HHVERER ° H2REMWEE2(K)(V) ©

description of the Group's impairment policies.

(o) cash and cash equivalents (0) REKRIREZEEY
For the purpose of presentation in the statement of MIRSRERNEINMS > REKBRS
cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on HEBYEEFHEESURFRN &R
hand and deposits held at call with financial institutions, 1~ RRAARR A =@ B I AT A BB 8%
other short term, high liquid investments with original MABNEEIREBNGER « HEihkg
maturities of three months or less that are readily HenEsieE (B AR REK) o

convertible to known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

(p) Share capital (p) B#&
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. ZERE DRSS o
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue BB ST S AR BRI B A
of new shares or options are shown in equity as a RHERPIRABMEMEBENIRIEES
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. (J0BRIRIE) o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(NETTEITR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEe:HBEHNE4£&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(q) Trade and other payables

(r)

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and
services provided to the Group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other
payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting
period. They are recognised initially at their fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between
the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the
redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over
the period of the borrowings using the effective interest
method. Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities
are recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the
extent that it is probable that some or all of the facility
will be drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred
until the draw-down occurs. To the extent there is
no evidence that it is probable that some or all of the
facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a
prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated financial
statements when the obligation specified in the contract
is discharged, cancelled or expired.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

(q) BB REMETRIE

(r)

PEAABIERARAR o 2022 FERS

ZERRIEN M B EAARA M A E
RENRIRERKRRFZEE ° BRIF
PR SRR 1218 B T FRRHRW * &8
B S REMBEMRIBTI AR EE - %
EMERVERABERES  BREA
BRI BN A E -

B8

BENFRANEE HRFREELENR
BRA) HEEE 0 HERRBIHI A E -
PRIGAIAE (PR32 5 A4 ) 208 (0] & %8
P ERERIEE B RABERNRE
PRIBmbERY - EEMRAR SRS HE
BIREBIBER T * RILERBER
WERESS A EMZ Z M o EILIER
T RERTEEERNERELR -
I EE R TR EMIRAE PRI
EEEMBRT * ZBRBETEARE
ARBETRBHANRIE * WK HEHAE
BRI e o

EGNTIRENSEELR - BUSRER

B BERILREMHREPZIR

RIFEEARERTIEEEARER
SHERRDI12E8  SRIEESES
MENAILE ©

127



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BBTTHITR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEEHHEBENE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

128

(s) Borrowing costs

(t)

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of a qualifying asset are capitalised during
the period of time that is required to complete and
prepare the asset for its intended use or sale. Qualifying
assets are assets that necessarily take a substantial
period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale.

Other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred.

current and deferred income tax

The income tax charge or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based
on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction
adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities
attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax
losses.

(i) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the company and its subsidiaries
and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to
situations in which applicable tax regulation is
subject to interpretation and considers whether
it is probable that a taxation authority will accept
an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures
its tax balances either based on the most likely
amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.

(s)

(t)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 ITEC:HKEHE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)
(t) current and deferred income tax (t) BPHARRIERRISHR ()
(Continued)
BAEFF1EH

(i) Deferred income tax (ii)

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities
and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the
initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income
tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction
other than a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither accounting
nor taxable profit or loss and does not give
rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is
probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences
and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not
recognised for temporary differences between the
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in
foreign operations where the company is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEEHHEBENE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

130

(t) Current and deferred income tax
(Continueq)

(ii) Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred
tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.
Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset
where the entity has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit
or loss, except to the extent that it relates to
items recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also
recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.

(u) Employee benefit

(i)

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that
are expected to be settled wholly within 12 months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in
respect of employees’ services up to the end of the
reporting period and are measured at the amounts
expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled.
The liabilities are presented as current employee
benefit obligations in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

(t) BPEARZIEIEFRISIR (42)

(ii)

EEFFR ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEe:HBEHNE4£&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(u) Employee benefit (Continued) (u) BERH (&

(ii) Post-employment benefit

The employees of the Group are mainly covered
by various defined contribution pension plans.
The Group makes and accrues contributions on
a monthly basis to the pension plans, which are
mainly sponsored by the related government
authorities that are responsible for the pension
liabilities to retired employees. Under such
plans, the Group has no other significant legal or
constructive obligations for retirement benefits
beyond the said contributions, which are expensed
as incurred.

(v) Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make
good obligations are recognised when the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of
past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount
can be reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognised
for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the
likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement
is determined by considering the class of obligations as
a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood
of an outflow with respect to any one item included in
the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of
management’s best estimate of the expenditure
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period. The discount rate used to determine
the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision
due to the passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.

(ii) #ILEREEF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BBTTHITR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IESHKEHEE (&)

132

POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when goods or services is
provided to the customer. Depending on the terms of
the contract and the laws that apply to the contract,
goods or services may be provided over time or at a
point in time. Goods or services is provided over time if
the Group's performance meets any one of the following
criteria:

o provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

o creates and enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

] does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right
to payment for performance completed to date.

If goods or services transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference
to the progress towards complete satisfaction of
that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains
the goods or services.

The progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligation is measured based on one of
the following methods that best depicts the Group’s
performance in satisfying the performance obligation:

o direct measurements of the value transferred by
the Group to the customer; or

o the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of
the performance obligation.

If a contract involves multiple goods or services, the
transaction price will be allocated to each performance
obligation based on the stand-alone selling prices.
Where these are not directly observable, they are
estimated based on expected cost plus margin.

(w)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)

2  SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEEHKENE (&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(w) Revenue recognition (Continued) (w) Uz 2D (42)

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an
unconditional right to consideration. A right to
consideration is unconditional if only the passage of
time is required before payment of that consideration is
due.

A contract liability is recognised when a customer
pays consideration, or is contractually required to pay
consideration and the amount is already due, before
the Group recognises the related revenue. The Group
recognised its contract liabilities under other payables
and accruals as receipt in advance from customers in
the consolidated balance sheet.

The following is a description of the accounting policies
for the principal revenue streams of the Group:

(i) Provision of smart retail services

The Group engaged in smart retail business which
includes distribution, maintenance and technical
support of omni-channel payment devices and
software applications, provision of software
development services, provision of technical
consultancy services for cloud server service,
internet of things and SMS traffic service.

Revenue from the omni-channel payment services,
technical consultancy services for cloud server
service and SMS traffic service are charged based
on customers’ volume of usage such as amount of
payments processed, server usage and SMS traffic
volume, and are recognised when the service is
delivered to the customer.

Revenue from the provision of software
development services and certain technical
consultancy services are recognised at point in
time when the service is rendered.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFES:HEHEE (,%)
POLICIES (Continueqd)

(w) Revenue recognition (Continued) (w) Unss iR (48)
(ii) Lottery business (ii) BEEH
Revenue from provision of management, marketing MEBERAREEANEREE
and operating services for lottery system and B mBHEEREERBOWA
lottery halls is recognised when the services are IR HEARFS R T LAREST o
rendered.
(iii) Sports training business (iii) FEEANGFE
Revenue from provision of sports training services REBRMEEB SRR 2 WAt
is recognised when the services are rendered. TR AR TSI FERD ©
(x) Earnings per share (x) SRRE
(i) Basic earnings per share (i) BEREXEF
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: BREABNTHETYIEURSE
e the loss attributable to owners of the o BRUKABHE ABMHLE

company, excluding any costs of servicing
equity other than ordinary shares; and

o by the weighted average number of ordinary o
shares outstanding during the financial year,
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary
shares issued during the year and excluding
treasury shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEe:HBEHNE4£&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(X) Earnings per share (Continued) (x) SREF (#&)

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used
in the determination of basic earnings per share to
take into account:

o the after-income tax effect of interest and
other financing costs associated with dilutive
potential ordinary shares; and

. the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been
outstanding assuming the conversion of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares.

(y) Leases

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease
incentives receivable.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

(ii) SREBERF

ERBFERNAEREESRESR
BAFEANET * UEtk !

o HEEEAZERMERENF
BREMBRE R ABIERFIE
REZE, &

s BRREBUFABEELIES
BBy R EETRRRINE S
RRINAEFIEN o

(y) &

HEEENEEREBREREER LE
TG E - HEARSEEE M
(BEEEEEMR) REREKREEE
BRVPIRE °

RS EREEEEREEFROEEN
T BEEaRSER -

HENREZBEERNIFRITIE - W
REZESEREZNER (LB RE BT
ERAEEEER) ° AIERAEEA
BYIE EEMAIER  BMER) A A RTELE
LHEEIRIE N ERBEMAINERESR
B DUBRLURR ~ BERNGHEARR
MAZFBIFIE o
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EE'@HH%MEC@
POLICIES (Continueqd)

(y) Leases (Continued) (y) #HE (&)
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: AETIESERFE > REBRERUT
HEIE

e where possible, uses recent third-party financing e  TERISEMIBERT ’ HAMEB A
received by the individual lessee as a starting point, APTUEN BT EASE = R E(E &
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions FCELEITIRE > MR M B UNERSE
since third party financing was received,; = HRMBMRMENR ANES ;

e Uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk- o WEFAHAFEZ=SRMER UER
free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases EREAGE SAEEFHE
held by the Group, which does not have recent TRERFNERRMRIETARE ; &

third-party financing; and

e makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, e HHEBMFHEHTHAE > WEH-
country, currency and security. B ~ B RIER ©

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available HMEBTEENEEEREERRER
to the individual lessee (through recent financing or ABEA(BBOLARENTIZEE) B
market data) which has a similar payment profile to the IS BMEEREL AIAEBRBER]
lease, then the Group use that rate as a starting point to AL X EaLR U EE I S ERF
determine the incremental borrowing rate. Ko

Lease payments are allocated between principal and HEMNRRAERMBERAZEIEHD
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or Bg o M ATERSRAENEENMG
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant EULS KB aEREN BRI E—
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the Ko

liability for each period.
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. 2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 T E&itElE (&
I POLICIES (Continued)

O
(y) Leases (Continued) (y) #HE #)
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the FERAEEENRATEEIFEUTEIE !
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease HEEBNYBRITEEEE ;

liability;

e any lease payments made at or before the e MREWMBHENZAIPTIERERAE
commencement date less any lease incentives ENFBBWENEREEESE ;
received,

e any initial direct costs; and o (HAVIRERER; &

e restoration costs. o BIRALA o

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the FREEE—RNEENTEREHAK

shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a ERUREEAE) RREGETIU

straight-line basis. ITEE o

Payments associated with short-term leases and all BIGMHERFAREBEHERRHNN

leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight- RIBEENBRES A% o MR

line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term EiEHERAT -EAIUTEEEES
leases are leases with a lease term of twelve months or BEERENEE -

less without a purchase option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(BBTTHITR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEE:HHEBEHNE (&)

138

POLICIES (Continued)

(y) Leases (Continued)

The Group has early adopted Amendment to HKFRS 16 —
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions from 1 January 2020.
The amendment provides an optional practical expedient
allowing lessees to elect not to assess whether a rent
concession related to Covid-19 is a lease modification.
Lessees adopting this election may account for qualifying
rent concessions in the same way as they would if they
were not lease modifications. The practical expedient
only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct
consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic and only if all
of the following conditions are met (i) the change in
lease payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the
consideration for the lease immediately preceding the
change; (ii) any reduction in lease payments affects only
payments due on or before 30 June 2021; and (iii) there is
no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all
qualifying Covid-19-related rent concessions.

(y)

HE (&

AEEB B2020F1 B 1HERAIRME
B BREERE 165 2T — AR
WRSHERESRR o B5TIRHEAIER
WRITRE R A AR ERREHE
THRETBEEES] L HEFFAEA
BEEAHILEITIE o EAILEERK
BEARIREEREEEENBEEES]
AL REEREEEEAR -
BI{TRE R A EBAREAI TR
FRFERERNEZAREEERE
TIFRERERER | (VAENRES)
ERNEENEETNERARZEHA
WIEE EABERRERZAE ; (i)
B E N REVE IR MER B 202166
B30H3Z A EHBIARR ; K(iNEE
BEMFER IR I EEE T2 -

FEBBAANSRTINNEERRS
BRI AR ERPITRE X
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 IFEe:HBEHNE4£&)
POLICIES (Continued)

(z) Government grants (z) EIRT#EEA

88 S EFRER U E MR B R EBRTT
GRIEWSFRER  BUSHEEAR
BEMHEST -

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grant will be received and the Group will comply with all
attached conditions.

BERRANBAHIERT S RmE
PRSP R B ERMEIE AL I T R e BT ©

Government grants relating to costs are deferred
and recognised in the profit or loss over the period
necessary to match them with the costs that they are
intended to compensate.

(aa) Interest income (aa) F 2 U A

Interest income on financial assets at amortised cost
calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss as part of other income.

(ab)Warrants

Warrants issued by the Company that will be settled
by a fixed amount of cash for a fixed number of
the Company’s own equity instruments are equity
instruments. The net proceeds received from the issue
of warrants are recognised in equity in warrant reserve.

(ab)

RABRMNKAFERBIHAAE
WEMEEZHBUA » RIBRERR
HARAB—&R 7

s g tEsE

RRABETZRREEREBERRE
UARBIEEZEERATAEN - B
BITRREB BB RIR P AN
i (FRIRAEE ) NFERD o SBARIER
BRI REEETERESRERES R

i B o MBREEREBBNAR
BT RN R REE BRI E
BRI ERFTRIE

The warrant reserve will be transferred to share capital
and share premium accounts upon the exercise of the
warrants. When the warrants are still not exercised at
the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in
the warrant reserve will be transferred to accumulated
losses.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2

140

POLICIES (Continueqd)

(ac) Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)

the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:

0

(i

(i)

has control or joint control of the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or
is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or a joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

IEGHBENE (&)

(ac)FAER

ETHERT » —ARRAESEREE
B

(@)

ZhAEEBATHZATRELR
MEeZAL

() FERSHEERIAER ;

iy HAEEAEATE , N

(i) BEEBERFEEFREZ
TEEEEME ;

ZRBEREEU TR ER

$$%%H e P

AR—BR(HS—E
ISYNSIRNIZYNSIEAE
fBAE) 2BMEARHK

(i) BERFEESE—-F=7
z6g ;

CHINA NETCOM TECHNOLOGY HOLDINGS LIMITED ¢ 2022 ANNUAL REPORT




\

2 SUMIVIA‘hY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

(ac) Related parties (Continued)

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

(iv)

(vii)

(viii)

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the
third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a),

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of
the key management personnel of the entity
(or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those
family members who may be expected to influence, or
be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the

entity.

2 FEGHHBRBEGE)

(ac)FAER (&

(b)

ZHEABRBBUTRGEER

(&)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

ERAS=ABEEZ
AEZ—BEA%E=
ZHMERTE ;

w0
i

7

BEREATERNELAERE
HERASHEENEMRIL
RILERREFEE

@OFFREATHERA
EAREALHER (HER
ZBRAE)ZTEEEEM
= B4

BERIHEA-—HZEEZE
AR ERAEENEERET
AERMTEEEREABR
7% o

ZRANTZ RSP SER TR B
EORERHEEZIALRNZZBZAL
FEZZERGME o
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

142

(a) Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks, including market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk.
The Group's overall risk management program focuses
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks
to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out
by the senior management of the Group.

(i)

Market risk

Foreign exchange risk

Transactional currency exposures arise from
revenue or cost of sales and services by operating
units in currencies other than the unit’s functional
currency. Substantially all the Group’s revenue
and cost of sales and services are denominated
in the functional currency of the operating units
making the revenue, and substantially all the cost
of sales and services are denominated in the
operating unit’s functional currency. Accordingly,
the directors consider the Group is not exposed
to significant foreign currency risk. The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will
consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposure should the need arise.

In virtue of exposures on foreign currency risk
being minimal, the respective quantitative
disclosures have not been prepared.

(BBTTHITR)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 MBEKRER

(a)

gy PSS

FEBNEBLIHCHEERZEMHR
% BETHER - EERBRREE
TEE - AEENEERREESSE
FLRE TR TH I B9 RITRAUME I 70 B
BHAERVBRENEETIFREE
R EERAEENSREERETT -

(i)

EEBLUNEBEHENE
BEAA W I E KR A
Ko FEBEBAZH WD RIHE
RIBRBRAUNELERANEEE
URITHEEE R IIE * BMEKREH
HERIRB A IS EB I
FEEMIIE - At > EFRVAE
EETEEBEERIINERR - &
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group does not have material exposure to
interest rate risk. A reasonably possible change in
interest rate in the twelve months is assessed by
the Group; which could have immaterial change
in the Group’s loss for the year and accumulated
losses. Changes in interest rates have no material
impact on the Group’s other components of equity.
The Group adopts centralised treasury policies in
cash and financial management and focuses on
reducing the Group’s overall interest expenses.

The directors are of the opinion that the Group’s
sensitivity to the change in interest rate is relatively
low.

Credit risk

Credit risk is managed on a group basis. The
Group’s credit risk mainly arises from cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, deposits
and other receivables, including amounts due
from related companies, and financial asset at
FVOCI. The maximum exposure to credit risk
is represented by the carrying amount of each
financial asset in the consolidated statement of
financial position. Management has policies in
place to monitor the exposures to these credit
risks on an on-going basis.

(NETTEITR)

3 WMEBEREKRERGE)
(a) MBEMBEE (&)
(i) HHEME (1)
AR

FERTETREAF AR -
AEBEEME T ZEARMEY
GIERREEE  HNYAEENF
W18 e 3R 5T E5 18 7] SEiE Al AY &
AR FREHWAERHAM
BoffD T EERERTE - K
EENRERMBEERRFR
MABECR > WHEIERRERER
RYEEEH SR o

EERn AEEHNREHH
BREBE -

(ii) FEmEEE

EERBRLERNEEEE - K&
EpNEERREIERERE KRR
TEEY  EHBERE - EE
R BN FEWGR IR (B R MR U B R A
BIIR) IR AR BES AEM
EHBRAZEREE - &BEEH
R EMBRREREES
MEENRAEE BEEEHE
R WHEREZEEERM -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BiiSEIGEIE (42) Y

. "

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(ii) Credit risk (Continued)

For cash and cash equivalents, they are all
deposited or traded with high quality financial
institutions without significant credit risk.

The Group has significant concentration of
credit risk in industries or countries in which the
customers operate. Significant concentrations
of credit risk primarily arise when the Group has
significant exposure to individual customers. At the
end of the reporting period, 33% and 69% (2021:
36% and 47%) of the total trade receivables was
due from the Group's largest customer and the five
largest customers respectively within the smart
retail business segment.

The Group applies the HKFRS 9 simplified approach
to measuring ECLs which permits the uses of
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables.

To measure the ECLS, trade receivable has been
grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

(a) MBRERRER (&)

(ii) FEmEAE (&)

REMREEENERNEES
AEERRHEE SRI%EEE
ZERBRS ©

AEREEFPEENTERRER
FESEETHNEERR - BFE
REEEETHNBEREEREAE
| {8 ) = P AR B K R R B
£ o RIRER ° EFEUGRIA
HERABI33% F269% (20214F © 36%
KA47%) DRIREAERBEZZTE
EBNMHUERAZERRAKRER °

FEBRBEBMBREERSE9
ERENBIER A ERMESR
BE RO RESHEMBES
PR IR e SR I B HA TR B S 1R
o

A BEREEERER BZRW
MR REBEREFNEERBRRR
KEEAEHREIT O o
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3 FINANGI'AL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group recognised lifetime expected loss
allowance for all trade receivables carried at
amortised cost based on either individually
customers who are long overdue with significant
amounts or known insolvencies or non-response
to collection activities, or collectively assessing
them for likelihood of recovery based on ageing of
the balances with similar risk characteristics taking
into account the forward looking information.

Management reviews the recoverable amount
of each individual trade receivable regularly, if
any, to ensure that adequate impairment losses
are recognised for irrecoverable amounts. In
this regard, the management considers that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced. The loss
allowance as at 31 December 2022 and 2021 is
illustrated as below:

3 MBRBRER#E)
(a) MBRARRER (4
(ii) 1EEmB ()

REBMBBHENATIRZE S
FWRIREDFENRRAGEER
BEE DERRAARERS
BRENENERERIARHUEE
HFHOEZERNER > HEE
BRIEMERNBRT * RER
ERLUARSBZERIRE A Z
EEPECERFGUREEE
ZRIBEME ©

EEEETEHRSEREZ R’
MEAE) T WREEE XU
FE R B BJ Uk (o] < BR AR SR 2 55 Y
BEBRE - Hit > EEERALE
EEMNEERBREARBEE - 1t
2022F 22021512 B31 B E B
e )1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 Bi#HEREMREE (&)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) BAFEREEEZE (&)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued) (ii) =EREE (&

Gross

Expected carrying Loss

loss rate amount allowance

FJEHRESIE R 4EERE(E E5iE 8

% HK$’000 HK$°000

At FHET FB5T

As at 31 December 2022 2022%F12H31H

Current (not past due) BPEA (RiEfR) 9.7% 2,088 202
1-30 days past due BHA1E30H 14.6% 1,145 167
31-60 days past due #HEA31ZE 608 22.4% 1,267 284
61-90 days past due BHI61E90H 47.9% 1,329 637
More than 90 days past due  #HEBEI0H 100.0% 1,515 1,515
7,344 2,805

Gross
Expected carrying LosS
loss rate amount allowance
FEHARSIEE HERRTE(E ESiER
% HK$'000 HK$'000
Bt FET FETT

As at 31 December 2021 2021%F12831H

Current (not past due) BPEA (R fAp) 0.7% 11,449 79
1-30 days past due BEER1ZE30H 11.1% 4,526 504
31-60 days past due AHA31ZE60H 87.8% 262 230
61-90 days past due BEA61E90H 89.1% 348 310
More than 90 days past due  EHAEBE90H 100.0% 1,301 1,301

17,886 2,424
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 B#ERBEIE (&)

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) MAFEEAMEZE (&)

(ii) credit risk (Continued) (ii) EEREE (&)

Trade receivables are written off where there is
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators
that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within profit or
loss. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are credited against the same line item.

The credit quality of deposits and other receivables
including amounts due from related companies
have been assessed with reference to historical
information about the counterparties default.
Management does not believe the credit risk are
significant, considering the existing related parties
do not have defaults in the past and management
does not expect any losses from non-performance
by these counterparties.

Financial asset at FVOCI is considered to be
insignificant and have low credit risk, and the
loss allowance recognised during the year was
therefore limited to 12 months’ expected losses.
The instrument is considered to be low credit risk
where it has a low risk of default and the issuer has
a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term.

EESEARA R E 5 B U
BZ PR’ RIS E 5 B WS
o mAEEAWEINTREE
(A8 BB ARERELER
ENEMETE -

B R RWRIEZ R EBERIEDR
REFRREBEFRE - KLAS
WiE z AR WEIRIET AER
HHA

1R R H AR UTR IR (B35 FE U
HABMIE)NEEEHEEZEA
FHEFHEONELERETT
e ERIBERELBTLE
BOKEEERRAAERBE A
BHOMEEEMAEGE > EEER
AEERBILAEKX o

BAnBESAHMEENARN
THEERESTEREREER
Bz AL RERERIYEER
BERRI2E/NEREGE - B
TMITEEMNRBRBERAEETA

B KMEN MBI ESHNIR
THREEER > ZWEEREE
P
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

148

(a) Financial risk factors (Continued)

(iii) Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management
rests with the Board, which has built an appropriate
liquidity risk management framework to meet the
Group's short, medium and long-term funding and
liquidity management requirements.

The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining
adequate reserves, continuously monitoring
forecast and actual cash flows, and matching the
maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities
at the end of the reporting period, based on the
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:

Bt 5

(BBTTHITR)

3 HMHA

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REIE (&)

(a) MBRERRER (&)

(iii) 7B EZ mEE

EFEH DAL ARERAR
“EME WERIABNADHA
SARERRE UBEALE
NI PR EME SRR
HHEIER o

AEBBBETICRAGESE T
BEERARERRESRE I

MR FELEERHESRRE o
REBEHR > EBERGHR

MRMMEGIENERERIRE
P

Total
Less than contractual Total
1 year or undiscounted carrying
ondemand 1-2years  cash flows amounts
—FRE BHRIR
BEX —ERE RETELH IREAE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET TET TET TET
At 31 December 2022 1#2022%12A318
Non-derivative financial FTEERERA
liabilities
Trade and other payables B R EMEMNTIE 11,881 - 11,881 11,881
Lease liabilities HESE 297 - 297 288
Amount due to ultimate e SRR ERAT]
holding company 2 g 618 - 618 618
12,796 - 12,796 12,787
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 B#ERBEIE (&)

(@) Financial risk factors (Continued) (a) MAFEEAMEZE (&)
(i) Liquidity risk (Continued) (iii) FEE LR (1)
Total
Less than contractual Total
1 year or undiscounted carrying
on demand 1-2years cash flows amounts
—FR, BHRIE
BER —EME RENELB RERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TAT THT AT
At 31 December 2021 120214128318
Non-derivative financial FTEERERA
liabilities
Trade and other payables B REMENZIE 19,531 - 19,531 19,531
Lease liabilities HESE 1,509 297 1,806 1,748
Amount due to ultimate [ ARG AR 2 70
holding company 18,965 - 18,965 18,965
Amount due to an intermediate & —FIRREERAE
holding company ZEHIE 4,290 - 4,290 4,290
Loan from an intermediate B — R REER AT
holding company ZEM 4,997 - 4,997 4,946
49,292 297 49,589 49,480
(b) Capital management (b) BAREIRE
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to REFEEEANEEZZRENERLE
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going HEKE  DAKREIRMESREAEHM
concern in order to provide returns to shareholders BeRiEA NIBHERN ° WEFEENE
and benefits for other stakeholders, and to maintain an REFELIREE S o

optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the AT AR EAREE > NEENEZH
Group may adjust the amount of the bank borrowings BIRIT RS IR TR EMEESEE
and dividends paid to shareholders, return capital to HRREEES BITHRILESE
shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce DUR/IMETS o

debt.
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

150

(b) Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing
ratio. This ratio is calculated as total borrowings divided
by total equity. Total borrowings include “current and
non-current borrowings” as shown in the consolidated
statement of financial position. Total equity is ‘equity’
as shown in the consolidated statement of financial
position.

The gearing ratios as at 31 December 2022 and 2021
were as follows:

MBSEAREE(E)

(b) BEXEE(E)

FERRBEREBRLERETER - %
EERIZ BB AR LU AR ERE T o &
MU ERCEERRRAMIR
CRERIERBNER » HmBERIREGRS
BEABERANMTHN MEmI5tHE -

MR2022F ;2021 F12B31HNE X &
BRI -

As at 31 December

®12A31H
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHT BT
Total borrowings B4R RE = 4,946
Total equity T AREE 27,727 40,359
Gearing ratio BEXRGEEE - 12%

Gearing ratio decreased when compared with that of
the year ended 31 December 2021 resulted primarily
from the decreased in loan from an intermediate holding
company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

HEE2021F 12831 B IEFEMAL
BEXRGELEERD BHEEHREE
2022F 12831 BIEFERB —EHH
ZERABZ B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FaMBmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(c) Fair value estimation

Fair value of financial assets that are measured at fair
value on a recurring basis

The following table presents the Group’s assets that
are measured at fair value as at 31 December 2022 and

(NETTEITR)

3

MBEKREE (&)
(c) anfEEME

REEMRERAAIEEF BN THE
ERIRAEE

TR 20225 20215 12831H
FEERANBEFENEE !

2021:
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHBTT
Financial asset at FVOCI waRBESTAEMEZEmIRA
NEREE
— Club debenture —EFES - 330

Fair value hierarchy

The Group's policy is recognise transfers into and out of
fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the reporting

period.

The Group categorised its financial instruments
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting
period by the level in the fair value hierarchy as below:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

The fair value of financial instruments traded
in active markets (such as publicly traded
derivatives and equity securities) is based
on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period.

The fair value of financial instruments that are
not traded in an active market (for example,
over the-counter derivatives) is determined
using valuation techniques which maximise
the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates.
If all significant inputs required to measure
fair value of an instrument are observable, the
instrument is included in level 2.

If one or more of the significant inputs is
not based on observable market data, the
instrument is included in level 3.

PEAABIERARAR o 2022 FERS

FEBNBR AN REPARED L2 AE
BEEREBAKRE -

FEBRERSHRBERAAEES
ENERTABBANEERERDEN
o
F—k: PNEBTHEENERIA
(BIMEBETETARKRE
BHE) NARBETIRER
SHARBHIZHREMEE

B RNWEERTHBEENES/MT
B (BIassMTETR) A
AREBEMNBBERLEEE -
GESZEENBAHED
B85 BEVKBEIEN
BEMS - MEtEEMTA
WARBEFRNAEER
WMARBEAEHRHE A
ZEMITAIIAE MR °

WM—IRNZIRE R A B
I IFRIE P R R T 5 8
AZERMIBIIAS=MR -
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 3 BAEESIE (&)

(c) Fair value estimation (Continued) (c) AnEEMGST (&)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

The following tables present the financial assets that are

RQABEEAR ()

TREIR2021FE12B3N B ADE

measured at fair value at 31 December 2021. B ENEREE -
Valuation techniques
and key inputs Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HEFNREEH AR F—k BIR BZR st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET
As at 31 December 2021
720215128318
Financial assets at FVOCI:
BARBEFARMEZE
WANEHEE !
- Club debenture Market comparison
—gfMES approach based on
recent transaction price
BERRBRRZEEN
mIGLEEE - 330 - 330

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021,
there were no transfer between Level 1 and Level 2 or
transfer into or out of Level 3. The financial assets at
FVOCI has been derecognised during the year ended 31
December 2022.

RELE2022F % 2021%F12831H IEF
B B—MASMzELESR 5
R EEBASREE - AREEFA
Hitt2EW AN EREEEREE2022
F1283NBILFEEUHRES ©
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION OF
UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition,
will seldom equal the actual results. Management also needs
to exercise judgement in applying the Group’s accounting
policies.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated. They are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that may have a financial impact
on the entity and that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

(a) Provision of the ECL allowance on trade
receivables

The loss allowances for financial assets are based on
assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, basing on the Group's past history, existing
market conditions as well as forward-looking estimates
at the end of each reporting period.

4 FARGFHHERGESFEERR
ZEERIR

mANEEMBRRACRAEES  BRR
& REMEFARDENERER - EEET
RHAEEER S STEERELHE -

AEBEEERFEMN GG KA ZEMS
SHRABENBECRAEMER * FR
BERBER TN BERERM BT E R
SO B AR ARREFHITER o

(a) BERRWRIBEZRREEER
B

THEENBRERDERENRR M
BB ERNER - AEENMEHZES
R KBSt HR BB B A SRR
FIER > FIERDERN AEREBEER
EATTHIEIR AR & R S BASR BY AT B
PGSt ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (M 7T3ImR)

HKFRSs do not specifically address accounting for
cryptocurrency. Accordingly, for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, management needs to
apply judgement in determining appropriate accounting
policies based on the facts and circumstances of the
Group's holding of cryptocurrency.

Management has determined the revenue should be
recognised as the fair value of the cryptocurrency
received in exchange for smart retail business
services on the date that cryptocurrency are received
and subsequently classified as an intangible asset.
Management has exercised significant judgement in

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS 4 FARGHHERGFFAEERZE
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION OF ZEEJE,F( Z)
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Accounting of cryptocurrency (b) MBEEENGHER

BEBUBREER T AREFIFTRMNES
BB RIE - Bt > MGERGESYH
WRME ® BEEEFREREEFRFM
REENFERBR TETEENS
5tIEUR B (F H F i o

EIEfE O E Wi an FEFE SR A P AR A RS

MESTEXBRBINBZEEN UGS
MEZEERERZAREE ' HEDES
BILEE - EEENECBEE G RIE
R EFHERFE - HEBSSHEILE
BUERIES|  AEEPEREENH

determining the appropriate accounting treatment. In GETEER ’ LA SEHAEB 2 G5
the event authoritative guidance is issued by the HKICPA, WMRELEEAFE o

the Group may be required to change its accounting
policies, which could have a material effect on the
Group's consolidated financial statements.

As disclosed in note 19, in determining fair values used
for impairment tests, management needs to apply
judgement to identify the relevant available markets for
trading of cryptocurrency, and to consider accessibility
to and activity within those markets in order to identify
the principal cryptocurrency markets to ascertain the
respective fair market values.

AP SE1OPTIER * I E B RER
ANANEER > BEER L%#'JI:“ME
HA BB MRS EER R B Hi%
BERZFE FE%E’JTE’ZIE&EE&&F’
DR EZMBE R TS (EmbEEE
BRRHHEER -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

5 REVENUE

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

FaMBmRMEE

(NETTEITR)

5 =

REERERZ W AHIT :

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
(Restated)
FAET FET
(8%1)
Revenue from contracts with REEBUBEREENE15REE
customers within the scope AREE RTINS E
of HKFRS 15
Provision of smart retail services RESETERS 27,071 34,393
Provision of management, marketing and ~ FMFEERZBKRFEXNEREESHE
operating services for lottery system MSEEREERT
and lottery halls 211 -
27,282 34,393

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

As at 31 December 2022, the aggregated amount of the
transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations under the Group's existing contracts is
approximately HK$17,000 (2021: HK$18,000). The Group will
recognise the expected revenue in future when or as the
service is rendered, which is expected to occur over the next
12 months (2021: 12 to 24 months).

The Group has applied the practical expedient in paragraph
121 of HKFRS 15 to its revenue contracts such that the above
information does not include information about revenue that
the Group will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining
performance obligations under the contracts that had an
original expected duration of one year or less.

MEERGHNDEERFEOERR
B 7 B

R2022E 128310 BENREXAERERAE
BHETHRBARENR ZERBENS
17,0007 75 (20214F : 18,0008 75)  AEH
BERRERBDIRME (FEHEAREKK12E A
(20214F 1 12E24B B %) R R FEHA U

%
m °

AEBEREBMBHREERE155RE 12
BAETREDEZEANRERD G4
It FHERABEAERERTEA (RN
HR—FHER) BTRBEOEBRRAE
ESRMmE R} o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group’s operating segments are determined based on
information reported to the Board of the Company, being
the CODM, for the purposes of resources allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on types of
goods or services delivered or provided.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group ceased
its business in financial technology services business and
sports training business which are classified as discontinued
operations.

Specifically, the Group's reportable and operating segments
under HKFRS 8 Operating Segments during the year ended 31
December 2022 are as follows:

Continuing operations

- Smart retail business — provision of new retail digital
transformation solutions and new retail integrated
software service platform to chain retailers and
merchants, and extended services such as cloud
services, omni-channel payment services and SMS
marketing services, etc.;

- Lottery business — development of computer system and
provision of technical consultancy services market.

Discontinued operations
- Financial technology services business — provision of
credit referral and services such as credit facilitation

services and post-origination services;

- Sports training business — provision of sports training
services.

DEER

ﬁ%lz%ﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁzﬁﬁﬁﬂi@ﬂ EEg R

BILERRE) FF2RUNETERDERD
iéii%fﬁaﬁézﬁﬂg IER PR A 7 5a
SUFTiR RSS2 4R AL -

BE2022F12831HIEFE » AEEBLIE
TRBRRBEBREBINIRES * ZFF
BOEADRIEEEERT -

1=k P EHE2022F12831HIEFE > K
%m% B SR FEISF LB NIEY
A 2RSS SEWT -

HBIEEXRT

|
o

ﬁﬁm

ST EX - AEHTELERER

N TEHFCBEMRSRERMNMET
E—RRTRERBTE * MOERS
RO IRB B (E E AR IR
%

FFFF

- EREB-FHEBK
ARG o

R R AR AT EE
BRILEEERR
TR IR EFH —REEENTERR

% MEERERBMNERRT

—  BEEIIRES —RHEESIIRRTE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(@) Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and

(NETTEITR)

6 NEER(E
(a) PHEW=RER

BURThiZP] 2| EE| D 2 REE BRI

results by reportable segment: AR EEDT
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
RREEEE BAHEEEE
Smart retail Lottery Sports training ~ Financial technology Apartment leasing
business husiness Subtotal business services busingss busingss Subtotal Total
BETELY YELR It ERilGEE  SRUGREEE  QEHEE et 3t
2022 00 2022 021 2022 01 2022 2001 2022 A2 2022 021 2022 NN 202 0
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000
T TEn TEm TEr TEm TEn TEn TEr TR TEn TEm Thr TEm TEr tAm TEn
Restated) [Restateq) [Restateq)
(E51) () (E5))
Segment revenue from external  BEIRENMIZEZ
customers recognised: MEkE
- (ver time -I-BEER M Al 66 1938 - - - 66 1938 a1 198
-point n time -RE-RY 2011 3393 - - M U - - - - - - M UM
Revenue from external customers — RESNIREZME 2,011 34393 M - U8 UM 66 1938 - - - 66 1938 27,348 363
Segment loss NEER (2832) (7945 (2003 (L0 (4925) (6485 (263 (43 (776) (1441 (1,039) (1873 (5.964) (10,3%9)
Bank inerest income FTHERA 42 5 A4 83
Otfer income and offer EHAR
gainsflosses), et Hitig/
(B 58 (784) (1793 507 6157 (277) (7950
Central administraton costs RTHAA (5,346)  (6577) = () (5346 (6578
L0ss before tax S EE (10,643)  (16830) (511) (7383 (11,154) (423

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue
generated from external customers. There were no
inter-segment sales in the current year (2021 Nil).

The accounting policies of the operating segments are
the same as the Group's accounting policies described
in note 2. Segment loss represents the loss incurred
by each segment without allocation of interest on bank
deposits, other income and gains/(losses) and central
administration costs. This is the measure reported to
the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance.

PEAABIERARAR o 2022 FERS

EXEHBRZDER=IBERBIEGER
Z W o AFE I ED BB E (2021
FiE
MEDRZ B BRI 2T I A &
B g5t BR—X - nEBRESDE
EEZEBER (UEDERITERME
EARA R Wz (B518) Fe R SRITEUR
x) o WIHRERD D BRIEFFT G
MmEEBEERREZRIBER °
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 DEERE
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) nEEERERE
Continuing operations Discontinued operations
HaLess BiHEEE
Smart retail Lottery Sports training ~ Financial technology
business business Subtotal business services business Subtotal Total
BEEELE PEES it BRilGEs  SEMRREER it a3t
2020 a0¢ 22022 A 2022 0 2022 AN 202 W w2 0 AN w2 A
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000  HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000  HKS'000 HK$'000  HK$000
T i A TEn TEm TEr TEm TEn T TEn TR A TEm T
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E5]) (E5]) (E5])
Segment assets hEEE 15978 0065 1158 1368 17136 3143 381 658 - IW 381 35 75T 1008
Comorate and unallocated assets AERFNEEE B8 083 - B 083
Consolicated assets LhaEE 40983 5228 I/ B 4364 0M
Segment liabilities DEBR 9764 2113 650 628 10414 27780 M 56 = 112 kil 638 10725 283%
Corporate and unallocated lisbiities  A%REAEEE 291 08 - 2912 28
Consolidated liabilties LAER 13326 49944 M 638 13,637 0582

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance
and allocating resources between segments:

. all assets are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and
corporate assets; and

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments
other than other unallocated head office and
corporate liabilities.

AEENBERBEREDEBOEER

s FEBEEEMDE

H R 5 B A8 &

55 &

s FAEREHIDE

HithR D ECHBE
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(c) Other segment information

6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

6 ZDEEHE)

(c) HthDEEH

Continuing operations Discontinued operations
TR BRIHIEEH
Smart retail Sports training  Financial technology Apartment leasing
solution busingss  Lottery business Subtotal business services business  business Subtotal Total
BETELE PEES it BRiGEE  SRMGRRER  OEHEER it a3t
020 a0 2022 A 2022 A 2022 A2 2022 0 2002 A 02 AN 2022 A
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HK$'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000
T TEr T TEr TERm TEn TEm TEn TEm TEn TR T THn TEr AR TEn
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
(E5]) (E5]) (E5])
Depreciation of property HEN e
plant and equioment e Al 17 2 % bk} Q 2 2 - - - - 2 2 25 U
Unallocated depreciation of Ei N
oroperty, plantand equioment EZHE - - - -
Total depreciation of property, 4%~ BERRfEL
plant and equipment b B 2 Y I
Depreciton of right-ofUse essels SEREEL17E - L R Y SN 7 R R K
Unallocated depreciation of *EpREEEZ
right-0f-Use asses & L7 - - WM
Total depreciation of FRREEZNEAE
right-of-use assets 1158 1400 200 68 1367 208
Interest on lease fiabiltes EEVALY [ 5 = # 51 5 = - = - 5 6 9
Unllocated inerest on HEBBZANENE
Iease lioiities 19 % - - 19 %
Totel ntereston ease fabliies ~ MEEEZFISAE 0 7 54 65 18
Reversal of loss allowance for SHEESERE
contract assets ) - - - - - - - - m - - - -
Recognition of loss alowance for ~ ERREMENETE
frade and ofher receivatles BREE/RD 69 2% - 69 2% - - -y - - - %6
Covid-19-related rent concession  HRERAERERS
i > - = = - o) ® = - = S 1 ¢ R )/ A
Ganondisposal of asubsiciary — HE-TIHBATZ
Wi - - - - - (140) - - - - - (140) - (140) -
Loss on deregistration of pizliEINGe S
subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - b6 - b416 - b6
Addtions tonon-curentassets i EEE -8 - - B 5 - - - - 501 0%
PRABIERARAR o 2022 FERS 159
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SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
(d) Geographical information

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas —
the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group's revenue from external customers by
location of operations and information about its non-
current assets by location of assets are detailed below:

(=)}

(d) tEHE#

DEEH(E

FEFZEBTEMNMEME -G

REH o

FEBBREBMER D ZREINIER
ZWmkiGEEMRR D2 IERBEE
ZERFBOT

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

REIMNIE R Z W ERBEE
2022 2021 2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET F#Ex FET
(Restated) (Restated)
(&871) (E751)
continuing operations EREER
The PRC A 27,282 34,393 144 961
Hong Kong &5 - - 266 660
27,282 34,393 410 1,621
Discontinued operations BAILREER
Hong Kong 578 66 1,938 - 371
27,348 36,331 410 1,992

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes financial asset
at FVOCI.

EXERIERBEENEN N REER
EMMSHERNBERANBEF AR
2 EHWAREE °
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6 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6 HEEH (&

O (e) Information about major customers (e) FBEXERZEH
Revenue derived from customers that accounted for FER O EAREBARGTIORTU EZE
10% or more of the Group’s total revenue during the year PURESIEWNT -

are disclosed below:

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET
Smart retail business HETEEK

Customer A EJSPN 4,993 N/A*A @ A
Customer B =ZFB 4,565 8,969
Customer C =Ty N/A* AR E Y 9,566

# The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the # AE R & W S (G A S E AR U R Y 10% ©

total revenue of the Group.

BN

hEABEERAEIRAR o 2022 EE*&%}; 1
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OTHER INCOME

7 EfA -

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T8z
(Restated)
(8751)
Bank interest income IRITFBIA 412 25
Government grant (note (i) AT 4B (MF5E() 357 9
Tax concession (note (ii) RUEE (i) 138 127
Sundry income MEIEWA - 1
907 162

Notes: BI5E

In 2022, government grants income included an amount of approximately
HK$24,000 (2021: Nil) from the Employment Support Scheme under the
Anti-epidemic Fund, set up by the Government of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (“HKSAR"). The purpose of the funding is to provide
financial support to enterprises to retain their employees who would
otherwise be made redundant. Under the terms of the grant, the Group
is required not to make redundancies during the subsidy period and to
spend all the funding on paying wages to the employees.

It represents the tax concession revenue generated by the policy of
additional deduction of input value-added tax.

From 1 April 2019 to 31 December 2022, taxpayers in the production
and living service industries are allowed to add 10% of the current
deductible input value-added tax to offset the value-added tax payable.
As the Group’s businesses meet the requirements of the policy, those
businesses are eligible for the tax benefit.

(if)

20224 BFHBNBA B EEBRIITHE
(TFEBSE)) BUTRIINNEES TR £ 8
#924,000787T (20214 © ) - R ZBEEZ BN
ThE R R * MURB A SESWENNE
B o IRIBMANIER  AEEREZ MRS
HEWEBERHEEHANZ(IREETE -

R ETRE RN SRR R AR BB U
Ao

H2019F4818BE2022F 128310 * RsTEER
ERERBFEAIRA LR EH IR EREIRR
BEINET10% ° HRAEAIZEIRER o RS AEMET
HARHRER > ZEEBUZIZRNES -
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8 OTH OSSES, NET 8 EMASIE ’ B

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#ET FET

(Restated)

(8751)

Net foreign exchange (losses)/gains FER (B518) /Wi 328 (535) 369
Recognition of loss allowance for trade B 5 R EMEWRETESIREE

and other receivables = (629) (2,299)
Written off for financial assets at fair value A4 BEFGTFAEMEEIRAZ

through other comprehensive income SRS EMIE (115) =

(1,279) (1,930)

PR ARIEIERRAIRAT o 2022 FEER
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EXPENSES BY NATURE

9 mEHEBSMWES

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(875)
Cost of inventories recognised as EHEBART 2 FEMA
an expense (included in cost of (Gt ASHE K ARFE B A)
sales and services) 7 127
External technical service fees INER LT AR TS B 16,671 24,570
Auditor’s remuneration Z BN &
— Audit services — BIZARTE 1,120 1,000
— Non-audit services —IEEZREE 780 630
Employee benefit expenses BEEHNER 12,302 14,673
Directors’ emoluments BRI 2,112 2,254
Total staff costs 48 T A 14,414 16,927
Short-term leases expenses SHATHE R 111 110
Depreciation of property, M BEREEZITE
plant and equipment 23 56
Depreciation of right-of-use assets EREEEZINE 1,158 1,400
Other expenses Hihgaz 3,157 4,506
Total cost of sales and services and THE MARFS A R AT & B4R EE
administrative expenses 37,441 49,326
EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES 10 EERNNEH
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAE7T
(Restated)
(&%)
Salaries and other benefits in kind e RHMEYEF 9,623 10,832
Contributions to retirement IRIREFETEIMERR
benefits schemes 1,472 1,746
Discretionary bonuses FISTEAT 1,207 2,095
12,302 14,673
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

10 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued) 10 EEwRFIEHR (&)

(a) Pensions - defined contribution plans (a) BT — A EMNETE
No forfeited contributions were utilised during the year TR BESHBASEWMER > KRE
and no forfeited contributions were available at the R BEE S RBUERE] B LUR I R R #
year-end to reduce future contributions. ;o
Contributions totalling approximately HK$38,000 (2021: REXR’> BERAEKRKSZNTHREFTH
HK$97,000) were payable to the fund at the year-end. 38,0008 7T (20214 : 97,000/87T) °©
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEEEHER
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments REAEERAEReHEEY X —F&
in the Group, one (2021: two) were directors of the (20214F - MB) AXRABZ2ES > HEH
Company whose emoluments are included in note 11. EEPRME o BRFUE (20215 & =
The emoluments of the remaining four (2021: three) B EeEEZHMENT

individuals were as follows:

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHTT FABTT
Salaries and other benefits in kind e REMEYIEF 1,138 1,302

Contributions to retirement benefits BRIREF 5T 8 1R
schemes 91 9
Discretionary bonuses EIETEAL - 464
1,229 1,775

Number of individuals
EEAE
2022 2021
Emoluments bands 2 E

Nil = HK$1,000,000 # — 1,000,000/ 7% 4 2
HK$1,000,000 — HK$1,500,000 1,000,00078 75— 1,500,000/ 7% - 1
4 3
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments for the year, are disclosed pursuant
to the applicable GEM Listing Rules and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven (2021:

11

(BBTTHITR)

EEME

FEEZEEMEHREBERZGEM LR

AR EBAEN

RBUIER o

M # (20214 : "R) EFZAHENLZH

six) directors were as follows: £WF
Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits Discretionary benefits
Fees in kind bonus schemes Total
HEREM RIKGEF
& BYMEH RIBTEAL BEIIGEA st
HK$'000 HK$'00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FET FTET TET FTAET
2022 20225
Executive directors WTEE
Sun Haitao HiEE = 714 880 18 1,612
Zhu Jianfei (note (i) RBIFR (HEE() - 144 - - 144
Wu Shan (note (if)) SR (B 52 (1) = = = = =
Independent non-executive BIFRNITESR
directors
Song Ke R 114 - - - 114
Wu Bo (note (iv)) SR (B EE(v) 77 - - - 77
Yu Tat Chi Michael FES 128 - - - 128
Liu Jia (note (iii)) B (HI5E(in) 37 - - - 37
356 858 880 18 2,112
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11 DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

11 EFME (&

Salaries Contributions
and other to retirement
benefits Discretionary benefits
Fees inkind bonus schemes Total
HehHEM RIREA
we EMER BIBTEAL SHEIMHER 4Et
HK$'000 HK$'00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiET FET BT FET FET
2021 2021F
Executive directors WTER
Sun Haitao %EE - 714 368 18 1,100
Zhu Jianfei (note (i) RBIFR (M) - 166 - - 166
Zhao Ke (note (v)) e (FEEW) - 527 - " 538
Independent non-executive BiERITES
directors
song Ke R 150 - - - 150
Wu Bo (note (iv)) B (MIH(v) 150 - - - 150
Yu Tat Chi Michael ES e 150 - _ _ 150
450 1,407 368 29 2,254

During the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, no
emoluments were paid to the chief executive officer of the

company.

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the
early termination of the appointment during the years ended

31 December 2022 and 2021.

Notes:

(i) Mr. Zhu Jianfei was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 3 September 2021 and he resigned as an executive director of the

Company on 14 April 2022.

(i) Ms. Wu Shan was appointed as an executive director of the Company on

14 April 2022.

(i) Ms. Liu Jia was appointed as an independent non-executive director of

the Company on 19 August 2022.

(iv) Mr. Wu Bo resigned as an independent non-executive director of the

Company on 19 August 2022.

(v) Mr. Zhao Ke resigned as an executive director of the Company on 3

September 2021.

R ABIEIERRAIRAT o 2022 FERSE

REE2022F R2021F12A31HIEFE ° &
AR W EZHITEBHME -

REE2022F %2021E12B31HIEEE * i
HEOERESZITEEASINIREHEEE -

it

(i) RBIFREENF 20219 B3RBEER/ARBIT
EE - W202FIBV4BRERATHNTESE ©

(i)  RMLER2022F4F148REEBETRBNITE

Eo

(i) BIEXLN2022F8B 198 EEZERRABEILIE
WITEE -

(v RIRFTEEN202268819HEHEARRBEILIFAIT
E%-

(v)  HEEEER2021FE9B3HBELARTRTES ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MBI IR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

No payment was made to directors or receivable by the
directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the
Company for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

No compensation was paid during the financial year or
receivable by directors or past directors for the loss of office
as a director of any member of the Group or of any other
office in connection with the management of the affairs of any
member of the Group distinguishing between contractual and
other payments for the years ended 31 December 2022 and
2021.

No payment was made to any third-parties for making
available directors’ services during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour
of directors, bodies corporate controlled by and connected
entities with such directors during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration for the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

(BBTTHITR)

11

EEME (F)

REZE2022F 2021512831 HIEEE
EOBESEZNTARIBREWTIE > EAD
ARABHINARAT 2 BHIER ©

REE2022F 52021512831 HIEFE ° #]
B AERTARB AR ESHAMAER
AR EAREEETNEMAEMBE SR
MEEEHFEEEZMERNYRFENE
B EWEIE (BRIR & AR ERIERE MG

) o

REE2022F K2021F12831HIEFE ° 1
ERHESREMEIAE = AZIRIE -

MREE2022F R2021F12A3MBIEFE ° 1]
BUEE RZSZEFEFREABERE K&
FEENHEERARm ARHNER &
EMRHEAMIZ S o

REE2022EK2021E12B31HIEEE > #§
EEENEYRENETAEFHINZ 25

FINANCE COSTS 12 MR
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FEIT

Interest on loan from an intermediate E—EFEIER AT 2

holding company BERZHE 52 52
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaBEZMEXZH 60 77
112 129
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13 INCOME TAX CREDIT 13 FRERIKGR

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
PRC Corporate Income Tax R 2EFTSR
- Current tax —BIEATRIE = -
— Over-provision in prior years — B FEBEEEAE = (2,116)
Income tax credit FREMIE%R = (2,116)
Income tax credit is attributable to: MU IEEENMERIER
- Continuing operations —FEREER = (2,119)
- Discontinued operations —BARIEKEER = (M
- (2,116)
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the HREAMEFERERTEREEEER
Group had no assessable profits arising in or derived from BEEVER AT S EEEAFNEREL
Hong Kong for both years. B o
Under the prevailing tax law in the PRC, the Corporate Income RIEPEERITHRE > PR B AR MESE
Tax ("CIT") rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for both years. EZ SR (TSR REA25% °
Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom Technology Limited (“Hangzhou TNREABEREERAE (THINREL) A
Zhongtuo”) qualifies as a “Software Enterprise” which is HEBREN Mgt BEREERFF
entitled to an exemption from the CIT for the first two years E AEREMFRBEEMESREER
and 50% reduction for the next three years from such entity’s = FIL50% B FEFTSR o

first profitable year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MBI IR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (M 7T3ImR)

INCOME TAX CREDIT (Continued) 13 FRfSMIBR (&)
The tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before AEEZRBIESEGSEZREMEEIR
tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other AFKFRMAIEGEREZ HIRWNT ¢
comprehensive income as follows:
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
(Restated)
(E71)
Loss before tax from continuing operations 2k BB K& £ BN AT R (10,643) (16,830)
Loss before tax from discontinued operations 2k B B4 IH4S & 2 38R TR Al BT 18 (511) (7,383)
Loss before tax for the year KEEFRRATEE (11,154) (24,213)
Tax at applicable tax rate 25% (2021: 25%) 1R BRI E25% (20214 : 25%)
FTEZINIE (2,789) (6,053)
Tax effect on different tax rate of group REMBE ARG SE EEEHE
entities operating in other jurisdictions AEREKRZHRBELE (114) 592
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ENCIE LR o)A
for tax purpose 1,981 4,504
Tax effect of income not taxable for FREWAZRIEZE
tax purpose (105) (636)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KR RIBEEIE KRB 1,027 1,593
Over-provision in prior years BEFFEBREE = (2,116)
Income tax credit FRiSiRIE %R = (2,116)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had estimated
unused tax losses of approximately HK$20,729,000 (2021:
HK$22,613,000) arising from subsidiaries operating outside
Hong Kong which is available for setting off against future
taxable profits of that subsidiary is due to expire within five
years and estimated unused tax losses of approximately
HK$51,046,000 (2021: HK$52,188,000) available for offset
against future profits that may be carried forward indefinitely.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
estimated unused tax losses due to the unpredictability of
future profit streams.

R|ERR > 2EBHREZHES B
HELENMBABNGE KRB ARIES
1849 20,729,000 %8 7T (20214 :© 22,613,000
Bro) 0 ARIEHEZMN B A BN RKERR
wmH O RAEFERER MAEEBGER
Eh R TE RS 18 4951,046,0007# 7T (2021 4F ©
52,188,00078 75) > R £4 n] PR AR A 8 Y
KT o AR RBETEFT R KEFKIR * 8,
TR AT R E BN IEGIBRRIRIERIEE
= o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
SFEMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)

14 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 14 BARLEREET
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed
its sport training business in Hong Kong and the Group has
intended to cease its financial technology services business
in the PRC. The results of the discontinued operations for
the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are presented

REE2022F 12831 HILEE > REBHE
TREANBAEINMER > RAEERKLL
HR P ENSMEIRRBER - ERILEKE
ERNEE2022EK2021F12831H EEE
HEENTXET o

below.
2022 2021
HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
(Restated)
(E71)
Revenue s 66 1,938
Cost of sales and services & R AR TS A (230) (1,443)
Gross (loss)/profit EGE)F (164) 495
Other income and losses, net HR A K18 > F48 528 (5,509)
Administrative expenses THER (870) (2,328)
Finance costs BB R A (5) (41)
Loss before tax PRISHIES1E (511) (7,383)
Income tax credit FiiEiit® = 1
Loss for the year TEERE (511) (7,382)
Other comprehensive income Hhz2mElA
Other comprehensive income for TEEHMEEWA
the year - _
Total comprehensive expense arises REBKRIEESEBNAEE
from discontinued operations PESZ4EEE
for the year (511) (7,382)
hEAEIEERARAR o 2022 FERS 171



14 DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

14 BRIEREET (B)

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Other income: HA -
Bank interest income RITH EUA 21 643
Government grants BT BN 150 130
sundry income FETEUA 167 307
Covid-19-related rent concession A EAREEERE SRR 50 33
388 1,118
Other gains/(losses), net: Hithlss,~ (B518) ° J$48 .
Loss on deregistration of subsidiaries sTEHMT B AT 2 B8 = (6,616)
Gain on disposal of subsidiary HEWBAT 2 W 140 -
Reversal of loss allowance for BB ERBBEERRD
contract assets = 28
Recognition of loss allowance for B 5 M EMEWRIEEE
trade and other receivables B2 TR = (39)
140 (6,627)
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14 DISCGN’i’INUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 14

BRIEEEER (&

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Expenses by nature: RS
Employee benefit expenses EEEFER 701 2,700
Depreciation of property, ME - BERKREZITE
plant and equipment 2 2
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEEZINE 209 628
Other expenses Hihf 188 441
Total cost of sales and services BR 7% AR A B AT B &
administrative expenses 1,100 3,771

The net cash flows incurred by the discontinued operations

BRIEEEEFREENRSREFRNT ¢

are as follow:

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FEIT
Net cash used in operating activities RS EBPT AR R (19,093) (25)
Net cash used in investing activities RERFFMAREIEE (17) -
Net cash used in financing activities & EBFT IS R EE = -

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents B4&IFKE#KITS
in discontinued operations BEEEYRL FEE (19,110) (25)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MBI IR

(BBTTHITR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

15 LOSS PER SHARE

16

174

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss of the
Group for the year attributable to owners of the Company
by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
during the year.

15

BkRiEHE

SRERGENRAADES ABIEAER
£ PO 1B IR LA PO B 35T R AR I 1 A9 3
s o

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
(Restated)
(7))
Loss attributable to owners NTEE NELEE
of the Company
- From continuing operations —REFEREE (9.260) (11,813)
— From discontinued operations —REBERILKEE (486) (7,382)
(9,746) (19,195)
Weighted average number of BEITEIBRZ INETI98
ordinary shares in issue ("000) (F5%) 4,686,048 4,686,048
Basic loss per share SREAREE (SREW)
(HK cents per share)
— From continuing operations —REFEREETR (0.20) (0.25)
— From discontinued operation —REBRIEEER (0.01) (0.16)
(0.21) (0.41)

As the Group incurred losses for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2021, the potential ordinary shares were not
included in the calculation of dilutive loss per share, as their
inclusion would be anti-dilutive. Accordingly, diluted loss per
share for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2021 are the
same as basic loss per share.

DIVIDENDS

The Company has not declared any dividends for the years
ended 31 December 2022 and 2021.

16

R AERNEE2022F %20214F 128318
FFEELBIE WETESRESHEER
WS RBEEER  FEREF BT A
REEEREEXE - it > HE2022F K
221F12A3MHIEFENSREEHIENS
IEEAEIBER o

iz 2

AT FEFEE, E2022F K 2021E12831H
IEFEERERRKE °
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17 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

17 V% - BER&HE

Furniture, Computer
fixtures and  and office Leasehold
fittings  equipment improvements Total
Rt~ RfE BlKk
REE  BWAERE HEYEEE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT FET TR AT
Cost %N
Balance at 1 January 2021 R2021E1B1H 2 &8 145 805 1,413 2,363
Additions wE - 38 - 38
Written off b6 - (10) - (10)
Effect of foreign currency ERERTE

exchange differences - 4 - 4
Balance at 31 December 2021 and  722021E12831H K&

1 January 2022 20221 AV H 2 4R 145 837 1,413 2,395
Additions nE - 16 - 16
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33)  tHE&E—EIKIEBAE (H5£33) - (37) - (37)
Effect of foreign currency EREBETE

exchange differences - (18) - (18)
Balance at 31 December 2022 122022128318 2 &8k 145 798 1,413 2,356
Accumulated depreciation and ZRFHFERR{E

impairment
Balance at 1 January 2021 202151818 2 458k (145) (744) (1,399) (2,288)
Written back on written off (RIS &[] - 10 - 10
Depreciation expense TERS - (44) (14) (58)
Effect of foreign currency exchange EREZEFE

differences - ©] - 3)
Balance at 31 December 2021 and  722021F12831H &

1 January 2022 20221 A1 B 2 kR (145) (781) (1,413) (2,339)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) & —RMIEAS) (HiEE33) - 19 - 19
Depreciation expense TERS - (25) - (25)
Effect of foreign currency exchange [ER Z=iae 2

differences - 14 - 14
Balance at 31 December 2022 120226 12H31H 2 4585 (145) (773) (1.413) (2,331)
Carrying amounts IRE(E
Balance at 31 December 2022 F2022F 128318 2 &8 - 25 - 25
Balance at 31 December 2021 120214128318 2 4567 — 56 - 56
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

LEASES

Amounts recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

The consolidated statement of financial position shows the

following amounts relating to leases:

(BBTTHITR)

18 8

RiFEMBRAREDNEZE

REMBRRREBTRUTHEE RIS :

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FATT
Right-of-use assets FREEE
Leased properties HEY= 385 1,936
Lease liabilities HEEE
Current REN 288 1,458
Non-current JETRED - 290
288 1,748
The movements of the right-of-use assets of lease properties HEMEGCRAEBSENEBUWT !
were as follows:
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT
At 1 January R1818 1,936 2,591
Additions NE - 1,346
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33) HE—REKBAR (FE33) (157) -
Depreciation expenses ERX (1,367) (2,028)
Effect of foreign currency exchange PERERERE
differences (27) 27
At 31 December 128318 385 1,936

At 31 December 2022, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate
applied to the lease liabilities was ranged from 4.75% t0 5.13%

(2021: 4.75% t0 5.13%).

The total cash outflow for leases in 2022 was approximately

HK$1,288,000 (2021: HK$2,196,000).

R2022F 128310 > AFEAEEGEEARN
S ENFENTFA4.75%E5.13% (20214 -

4.75%%E5.13%) ©

1220224 > MHERE M HABEIAI 1,288,000

HEIT(20214F © 2,196,000 7T) ©
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LEASES (Continued)

The Group had lease liabilities repayable as follows:

18 HE (&)

FEERESHEERENT

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHETT
Within 1 year R—ER 288 1,458
After 1 year but within 2 years —EBERER - 290
288 1,748
CRYPTOCURRENCY 19 ME&
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FHETT
Cryptocurrency =g
Held on exchange institutions R ZEBIEE
— USD Tether ("USDT") — ETTRE (TZREK ) 568 -

Cryptocurrency held by the Group have been assessed based
on each type of cryptocurrencies for impairment testing. The
Group carries out their impairment testing by comparing the
recoverable amounts of cryptocurrencies to their carrying
amounts. An impairment loss will be recognised when the
recoverable amount is lower than the carrying amount, while
a gain will not be recognised even when the recoverable
amount is higher than the carrying amount. A gain will only be
recognised if the cryptocurrency is disposed of, assuming the
proceeds from disposal at that time is higher than its carrying
amount.

FEEBE T MBEEDRBENEEKE
IS RE R AT o AEB TS T
U [B] 4 98 5 EL B T 48 EE R U AT B 31, o
OT U Bl S BB K AR T RS * S TR AS
B REEINESESNEDE  tRe
SRR o USSR N AR B M b X fER G
B > FHERUES I E IR EER S T UL
BesD o
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CRYPTOCURRENCY (Continued)

The recoverable amount of each type of cryptocurrencies
are determined based on fair value less costs of disposal. In
determining the fair values, the relevant available markets are
identified by the Group, and the Group consider accessibility
to, and activity within those markets in order to identify
the principal cryptocurrency markets for the Group. The
fair value of USDT traded in active markets (such as trading
and exchange platforms) is determined based on quoted
market prices at the end of the reporting period. A market is
regarded as active if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm'’s
length basis. Therefore, the fair value used for assessment
of recoverable amount in impairment tests is determined
as quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for USDT
(Level 1).

As at 31 December 2022, the Group carried out impairment
tests for USDT. Based on these impairment tests, the
recoverable amount of USDT are close to its carrying amounts
of approximately HK$568,000, therefore no impairment loss
was recognised.

19 MESX (&)

BEMBEBEN A REIS R REQAEE
MEENAEE - REEANEER  £&
ERH#HANEEARRTS > BAEEEEREZ
EMHENA RMROERIZE ° UHEHAER
MEE2NREETE - LaEHE GINEE
kXZF¥a) LEEBNREBNAAEETZ
RBERNTIHZREEE - HRZPAEIME
R R ERFRE ° RIBRM SR AEE M
ZEBRRBRURATFEEER R EHIET
MH5ERS o it EREANED ARG
A EEHEN AN BEEEE S RERETE
Bin ERVRE CRCHEE) (B14R) -

B E2022F12831H * *EEHREKET
BEAR - REZFRENSR ° REENT
Wi Ie] s B8 12 3 HOBR E {5 49 568,000 7T
It > W EREESRERTE o
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20 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 20 #EHEIISMNEMTAE

The Group holds the following financial instruments: KAEBRFBEUTEMIA
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Financial assets: ERBEE
Financial asset at FVOCI BAnBESF A EMEEBRAR
ERMEE = 330
Financial assets at amortised cost FHEE R A STEN SRE E
Trade and other receivables B 5 R EMERRIE 11,054 19,400
Amount due from an intermediate W —REBIER AT 2B
holding company = 18,346
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FEW—RERRNB AT 2B 1 1
Cash and bank balances e RIBTAE 28,203 48,961
39,258 87,038
Financial liabilities: EREE:
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BRI At ENsas
Trade and other payables B 5 REMELRIE 11,881 19,531
Lease liabilities HEafE 2388 1,748
Amount due to ultimate holding company  FE{JRARIZIR AT 2 I8 618 18,965
Amount due to an intermediate e —RBER AR Z I8
holding company = 4,290
Loan from an intermediate KE—BTEERATZER
holding company - 4,946
12,787 49,480

The Group’s exposure to various risks associated with the

financial instruments is discussed in note 3.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the

HE3ES o

reporting period is the carrying amount of each class of EhEE AEMBEEE o

financial assets mentioned above.

R ABIEIERRAIRAT o 2022 FERSE
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FINANCIAL ASSET AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

Financial asset at FVOCI comprise debt securities where the
contractual cash flows are solely principal and interest and the
objective of the Group’s business model is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial asset.

Debt investment at FVOCI comprise the following investment:

21 BARBEN A MR ERAL
SHEE

BARBESFAHRMEZEARANTREESR
BEaNREREERAETE RN ENERE
0 AEEBBRESGHNRERBRHES
MEENBREHEN -

BARBESFARMEERANGESERES
BUTRE

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#T FET
Non-current asset: ERBEE :
Club debenture DFTES - 330

On derecognised of the debt investment, any related balance
within the FVOCI reserve is reclassified to other gains within
profit or loss.

BUHRRZEBRER ® BRAABEFAH
thEEUWAREETREREREREREND
BEREPHIEMIEE ©
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INVENTORIES 22 78

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T8t
Finished goods E ) 38 49
Inventories recognised as an expense during the year ended REE2022F12H3 1B L FERIEARXIBN
31 December 2022 amounted to approximately HK$7,000 FE4947,0005% 7T (20214 130,000 7T) °
(2021: HK$130,000). These were included in cost of sales and Bt AHE RARFEH AT o
services.
CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 23 AHNEBEERGNER
LIABILITIES
(a) contract assets (a) BHEE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET TFA7T
contract assets BHREE - 13,278
Loss allowance E5IR R = (13,278)
Contract assets, net BNEBE B - -
Contract asset represents the Group’s right to SHNBEIEAREBFTIREIRFS M
consideration in exchange for services that the Group VS BRI REF o
has provided.
Movements on the Group’s loss allowance of contract KAEBSHSEGBRESEINT
assets are as follows:
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Balance at 1 January R1B1H Z 458 13,278 12,927
Reversal of loss allowance for the year — FREIEEE > #5[o] - (28)
Effect of foreign currency exchange ERERETE
differences (1,126) 379
Amounts written off lsy %8 (12,152) >
Balance at 31 December R128318 2 458k = 13,278
PREAEIBIERARAR o 2022 FERS 181
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CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Contract liabilities

——
=i

23 AHNEERGHAER

(b) EX9&E

2022 2021
HK$’000 HK$'000
TFHT THEIT
Smart retail business (note (i) BRTEER () 850 974
Sports training business (note (ii)) REE s RS (M) - 128
850 1,102

Notes: Pt

(i) Smart retail business
The Group receives a deposit before certain technical consultancy
services and software development service commence, which will
give rise to contract liabilities until revenue is recognised when
the service is delivered to the customers.

(i) Sports training business

The Group receives payments from students in advance before
commencement of sports training courses.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract
liabilities

The following table shows how much of the revenue

iy EBETEEHR
REBPNE T HAMT B IR R R
BREMKRZES  EBRRELEEGNR
& BEERBINTERRESW@E AL

(i)  EEEAIMRETR

FEBETRAIRREHBRARAKR LS
Ao

HEH R IEIEREY B i3 W i

TRIITFECEIN T EEEGH

recognised for the year relates to carried-forward BEBEEERE °
contract liabilities.
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue recognised that was included in FE4Jst A &H & ELEERM
the contract liabilities balance BRI -
at the beginning of the year:
Provision of smart retail services RHEETERT 836 486
Provision of sports training services RS INRRE 128 174
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24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24 H5REMBRRE

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET TFET

Trade receivables B S W EIE 7,344 17,886

Less: Loss allowance of trade receivables 78 : B R EUWFUIBEIEEE (2,805) (2,424)

4,539 15,462

Deposits and other receivables g K A g U =B 7,970 5,567

Less: Loss allowance of deposits B R R EMEWEIEE B

and other receivables (1,455) (1,629)

6,515 3,938

Prepayments FEFIA 1,090 1,862

Total trade and other receivables B 5 R E e SR IE 4258 12,144 21,262

Trade receivables represent income receivables from BSREWFIEEREREESIORE &

provision of omni-channel payment services, software HRZERE - JITEART - ERFBRIEE
development services, technical consultancy services, cloud SRS 2 FEUGRIBUS A ©

services and SMS marketing services.

Trade receivables are due within 30 days from the date of BREWIER

billing.

R ABIEIERRAIRAT o 2022 FERSE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MBI IR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (M 7T3ImR)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24
(Continued)

The following is an analysis of trade receivables by age,
presented based on the respective revenue recognition dates
and net of loss allowance:

B REMEBURTRIEGE)

DURTh 28R 8 81 B B 5 FEWGRIBBY DA
Thig& Uil B RREREFHRRED

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET TET

0 - 30 days 0&30H 2,709 14,515
31 - 60 days 31260H 848 68
61 -90 days 61290H 786 49
Over 90 days o0 H 196 830
4,539 15,462

Trade receivables disclosed above include amounts (see
above for ageing analysis) which are past due at the end of
the reporting period for which the Group has not recognised
an allowance for doubtful debts because there has not been
a significant change in credit quality and the balances are
still considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over these balances
nor does it have a legal right to offset against any amounts
owed by the Group to the counterparties.

Movements of the Group’s loss allowance of trade and other
receivables are as follows:

(a) Trade receivables

EXRENE S BERASERRERRE
BRI A S B i RS R AR AR (RER
DHBRELEX) > RANDEEEREESEX
SC BERBR AR ERIUR D] o B I KT
ZEFRBEHAEMIER R EMEEERE
h o IR ERGE R E FH R EARERIE
IRV B R RER o

FEEEF REMBURRIEZ BERFHE
LI

(a) BRBUWRIE

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Balance at 1 January BB 1H 2 &5 2,424 78
Recognition of loss allowance FAEIERG

for the year 629 2,299

Effect of foreign currency exchange (EREERE
differences (248) a7
Balance at 31 December P12831H 2 458% 2,805 2,424
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24 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 24 BE REMEWEIE (&

(Continued)
(b) Deposits and other receivables (b) T RHEMEWRIE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET BT
Balance at 1 January M1B1H 2 458R 1,629 1,545
Recognition of loss allowance for the year f R E5E 3 2 HEER - 39
Effect of foreign currency exchange fERERERE
differences (174) 45
Balance at 31 December R12831H 2456 1,455 1,629
25 AMOUNTS DUE FROM/TO RELATED 25 FEUR & RRE 75 =R I8 Fe P R
PARTIES AND LOAN FROM AN lRABER
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
The amounts due from/to related parties are unsecured, ZIEW,TE(SRIE R AT EIRIF - RE K
interest-free and recoverable/repayable on demand. BigERIW[E],MEE -
Loan from an intermediate holding company is unsecured, RE—KFEERATNER A EIN ~ 1%
interest-bearing at an effective interest rate 6.5% per annum EREFEE 5% B BN —FREE o
and repayable within one year.
26 CASH AND BANK BALANCES 26 WERIPITLHEER
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET BT
Cash at banks and in hand IRIT KR FERE 28,203 48,961
Less: Restricted cash B ZIREIRE (156) (156)
Cash and cash equivalents in the RiEaReEmERNTER
consolidated statement of cash flow RBEEEY 28,047 48,805
Bank balances carry interest at floating rates based on daily IRITAE RS HIRTTE A R Z B A =5t
bank deposit rates. Bo
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27 BEREMBEARE

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET BT

Trade payables B S ENRIE 7,414 14,142

Accrued salaries and other benefits in kind  FEs+#EN R Eth B Y6E7) 1,684 1,008

Other payables and accruals HtEN R IB A ET &P 2,783 4,381

Total trade and other payables B 5 R ELfh e TR IE48 R 11,881 19,531

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on RBERR > BERENRBRENFEZAH
invoice date at the end of the reporting period: ARERDATAE ¢

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

F#ET BT

0 - 30 days 0Z30H 6,917 13,681

31 - 60 days 31260H 159 2

61— 90 days 61290H 6 3

Over 90 days BiEo0H 332 456

7,414 14,142
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28 7
Number
of ordinary Share
shares capital
ZiBREE &N
‘000 HK$'000
T T
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, 20211818 ~ 2021E128318 ~
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, 202251 B1HX20226128318
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each SREE0.005B TN EIER 20,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: EEITREE
At 1 January 2021, 31 December 2021, 2202151818 ~ 20214912831
1 January 2022 and 31 December 2022, H ~ 2022518 1H 520225128
ordinary shares of HK$0.005 each 318 ° EREE0.0058 THI L iE
5% 4,686,048 23,430
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MBI IR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

WARRANTS

On 23 November 2019, Zzhong Tuo Limited (“Zhongtuo”), a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into an a
cooperation agreement (the "Agreement”) with independent
third parties, Mr. Ye Cunshi (“Mr. Ye"), Ningbo Yunni Enterprise
Management Partnership (“ Ningbo Yunni ”) and Ningbo
Yun Ma Enterprise Management Partnership (* Yun Ma
Partnership”). Both Ningbo Yunni and Yun Ma Partnership
are controlled by Mr. Ye. Pursuant to the Agreement, each
of the parties agreed to jointly establish a new company
Hangzhou Zhongtuo to explore the business development,
cooperation and investment opportunities in the area of smart
retail business. On 27 February 2020, Hangzhou Zhongtuo
was established which is owned by Zhongtuo, Ningbo Yunni
and Yun Ma Partnership as to 51.0%, 14.7% and 34.3%,
respectively.

Pursuant to the Agreement, the Company has issued
700,655,257 warrants to Yun Ma Limited (a company owned
by Mr. Ye) at the issue price of HK$0.001 per warrant
as performance incentive in February 2020 for a total
consideration of approximately HK$666,000.

The warrants entitled the holder of each warrant to
conditionally subscribe for one warrant share of the Company
at an exercise price of HK$0.054 per share at any time during
a period of 36 months commencing from the date of achieving
certain conditions, which include that Hangzhou Zhongtuo
shall achieve an audited profit after tax of RMB25,000,000
or above for the year ended 31 December 2020 (the “profit
target”). The warrants shall lapse if the conditions could not be
achieved.

As at 23 March 2021, the warrants lapsed as Hangzhou
Zhongtuo could not meet the profit target.

(BBTTHITR)

29

o B HE 5

[R2019F 118230 * ARBZ2EWBAF
FIRBRAE (THA)) BEIE =7 FEFH
FETREE ) RERERLXEEGHD
F(ERES)MEREBEXEESKD
FOEHBEBDITUAERE (THHE)) - F
REBREHEBIIRTLEES - HIL
L HERBHER I — M A BNINRIE
DBRREETEEBEINETER « &fF
M E © 202028278 > HiINRIAMIL
Wi BEREBNEFSHB D A1E51.0%
14.7%7H134.3% o

RBEHZEE2020F 2B A AR LEITESH
BIREF0.001B TR EFAR AT (HEL
EHEABRTE)) U EEX666,0008 70T
700,655,25717 50 AR ESE (F A AE RUARD ©

REEERTEMNAREEFEABEIE
LEREIS & 2 HHE3618 B PR IR R > 4T
EBER0.054B LB KRB RAT K
R REERDIRER o BEBGAATUNRIA
HZE2020F12B3MHIEFENKBZRET
THMEER A REE2,5008 Tat il £ (TRIERE
) o WEAREMEMARY > VRS LN o

B E202153823H ’ RREEBRMMNRIA
REEERFBEZMA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FaMBmRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

30 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 30 RiEZHELNAGBYHIE
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRHAVNWAERRE TS ELNEREES
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non- BIERERIFREES MEEFFEENEG
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are HENRENEELHRKRBEREF SN A
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, EENGERERERTOEARETIN
classified in the Group's consolidated statement of cash flows BERenaiEe

as cash flows from financing activities.

Loan
from an
intermediate
holding Lease
company liabilities Total
7k B R
NEINER HEaRE Hast
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT FET
At 1 January 2021 720211818 - 2,493 2,493
Financing cash flow BEReRE
— Repayment for loan from an —BERE—EPREIEERAE
intermediate holding company 28 4,300 - 4,800
— Capital element of lease rentals paid —BHESHEEZBEREED - (2,078) (2,078)
- Interest element of lease rentals paid — B EHRE > 225D - (118) (118)
New leases WHRE - 1,346 1,346
Other changes Hher
— Finance costs — SRS 52 118 170
— Covid-19-related rent concession — A ENESEEES SR - (33) (33)
Effect of foreign currency ERERETE
exchange differences 94 20 114
At 31 December 2021 and R2021FE12831H &
1 January 2022 2022%181H 4,946 1,748 6,694
Financing cash flow MERERE
— Repayment for loan from an EBIERE — R R AT
intermediate holding company 2B (4,800) - (4,800)
— Interest paid for loan from an MR E—RE TR AT 2
intermediate holding company ERZANE (104) - (104)
— Capital element of lease rentals paid —E2fHEHEE BRI D - (1,223) (1,223)
— Interest element of lease rentals paid —E{IHAEMR T F 229 = (65) (65)
Other changes Hiheg)
— Disposal of a subsidiary —HE—RBENBAE - (175) (175)
— Finance costs — SRS 52 65 117
— Covid-19-related rent concession — A ENESEEES RS - (50) (50)
Effect of foreign currency ERERETE
exchange differences (94) (12) (106)
At 31 December 2022 722022128318 = 288 288
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
4R E MR M ST

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key
management during the year was as follows:

(BBTTHITR)

31 AEARS
TESEABFHM

FRNEEATEZEEBHEMMENMEINT ¢

2022 2021

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Short-term benefits roHAER 2,094 2,225
Post-employment benefits HKILEBEEN 18 29
2,112 2,254

Saved as disclosed above and elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group did not have any material
related party transactions during the years ended 31
December 2022 and 2021.

Further details of balances with related parties are disclosed in
note 25.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The Group's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2022 and
2021 are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have
share capital consisting solely of ordinary shares that are
held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership
interests held equals the voting rights held by the Group. The
country of incorporation or registration is also their principal
place of business.

Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued

bR EX R ARG B HRR EMI DR ES
G 0 REBREE2022F &2021E12831H
IFETEIMERMEARS °

BARRIE 5 M ERRYIE— BN MY RE25 IR EE ©

32 ZAFTMEEMBATFE

BR2022F K 2021 F12B3MHAEBN F EH
BARMT - BREEME ERAERARE
EEZFEANZERMAMN > FriFRELL 5] R
NEBAFRAEAR o sEMAIIEEMH
BERITARETES IS -

Proportion of

registration/operations and fully paid share capital/ ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity ~ registered capital by the Group Principal activities
s/ s/ BRTRERRE/ KEERE
WEATHE Yy i HMELRFR FERERA DT TBEH
Directly Indirectly
i i
E-silkroad.net Corporation BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of 1 United 100% - Investment holding
company States dollar ("US$") (2021:100%) (2021:-)
EERUER (eSS 100% - REER
BREMAT (M) MEER (201% :100%) (2021 :-)
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32 PARTIC-thARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

32 ARAFMETEMBABFE (&

(Continued)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued Proportion of
registration/operations  and fully paid share capital/ ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity  registered capital by the Group Principal activities
s/ s/ BEIRARRE/ FEERE
WEBLFEHE B ERAEI HMELRHR FERERE AL TEEE
Directly Indirectly
B i
Easywin International Holdings Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company (2021: 100%) (2021:-)
JER ER R AR AT EERCEE BREE \REEERNEER 100% - REER
AT (2021 = 100%) (021 :-)
Done Best Global Investments Limited BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company (2021 100%) (2021:-)
YERREERRAR EERGEE BREE \REE1ERNEZER 100% - REER
AT (20214 1 100%) (0215 1)
Ocean Keen Investment Holdings Limited  BVI, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company (2021: 100%) (2021:9)
EEREERERAR FERVEE BREE \REEERNEZER 100% - REER
G (20214 1 100%) (021 1)
Glory Top Management Limited Hong Kong, limited liability Ordinary shares HK$1 100% - Investment holding
company (2021: 100%) (2021:9)
BRERERAT &% BREHLH TETHNEER 100% - REER
(20015 1100%)  (011F )
Surplus Trade Limited Hong Kong, limited liability  Ordinary shares HK$1 100% - Investment holding
company (2021 100%) (2021:-)
REERAF &% BREHLH TETINEBR 100% - REER
(201% :100%) (2021 :-)

Hui S0 Hung Table Tennis Sports
Centre Limited ("HSH Company")

FRIEEREETUERAE
(Tr &I A7)

Shine Win Inc. Limited

ERZARAT

Hong Kong, limited liability
company
&8 BREALF

Hong Kong, limited liability
company
&% BREALF

Ordinary shares HK$5,000,000

5,000,000 THE B

Ordinary shares HK$1

TEnfvE kR

(2021:-)

(021 -)

(2021:)

(2021: 60%)

(20214 : 60%)

100%
(2021: 100%)
100%

(2021 1-) (20215 : 100%)

R ABIEIERRAIRAT o 2022 FERSE
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services
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32 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

32 ZATMEIEHEAT NS (2

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

W, /

(Continued)
Place of incorporation/  Particulars of issued Proportion of
registration/operations  and fully paid share capital/ ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity  registered capital by the Group Principal activities
BRI Ve BRIREERE/ rEERE
WBLFEHE B RAEA SERHR FERERADL TBER
Directly Indirectly
B i
MR EREERAR PRC, wholly-foreign-owned HK$5,000,000 - 100%  Provision of technical services
(Shenzhen Gaorong Caizhi enterprise (2021:-) (2021:100%)  on the establishment of lottery
Technology Company Limited) sales points
HED AEEERE 5,000,000/7% - 100% RERIVEHEHN
(20215 :-) Q01F 1 100%)  FfifRE
MMEAEEREERAT PRC, wholly-foreign-owned RMB6,064,882 - 100%  Investment holding
(Hangzhou Safen Information enterprise (2021:)  (2021:100%)
Technology Company Limited)
HE AEEE LR NEH6,004,8827 - 00% REER
(2015 =) (20215 1 100%)
MR EREERAT PRC, wholly-foreign-owned HK$15,000,000 - 100%  Ceased of the business
(Hangzhou Hongmai Information enterprise (2021:-) (2021: 100%)
Technology Limited")
( THMaLRR) )
("Hangzhou Hongma”)
HE NEEELE 15,000,000% 7 - 100% BRILEER
(20215 1<) (2021% - 100%)
MNHEEEEEERAT PRC, limited liability RMB5,671,212 - 100%  Ceased of the business
(Hangzhou Weizi Assets Management company (2021:5)  (2021:100%)
Limited®) (AN 1) *
("Hangzhou Weizi")
HE BREFAT NEH5,671,21270 - 100% BRIEEE

(2012 <) (2021  100%)
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32 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 32 AREINETEWBEATEE (&
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31
December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

R2022F 202112831 B AR B8 F EY
BATBENT

Place of incorporation/ Particulars of issued Proportion of
registration/operations and fully paid share capital/ ownership interest held
Name of subsidiary and kind of legal entity registered capital by the Group Principal activities
SRR/, BETREERE/ FEBRE
(EVACE LB RtE  FRELAHE FAREGZEDLT FTEEE
Directly Indirectly
Ef ik
Zhong Tuo Limited BV, limited liability 1 ordinary share of US$1 100% - Investment holding
company (2021:100%) (2021:-)
HEREYEE REEIETNEER 100% - REER
EREAAT (2021 100%) Q021 -)
Zhong Tuo Holdings (HK) Limited Hong Kong, limited ~ Ordinary shares HK$100 - 100%  Investment holding

liability company
&8 EREMAT  100ETHERR

MNFREEREBRAR PRC, limited liability ~ RMB490,000
(Hangzhou Zhongtuo Netcom company
Technology Limited) HE BREMEAE  AREL90,0007T
B9 (58) BRAE Hong Kong, limited ~ Ordinary shares HK$100
(Yuntuo (HK) Limited) liability company

&8 BREEAT 100ETAEER

(2021:-)  (2021:100%)
100% BEZFR
(20214 : 100%)

(20214 : -

- 51%  Provision of smart retail
(2021:-) (2021:51%)  services
- 5% REBZZERS
(201 :-) 2015 1 51%)

- 51%  Provision of smart retail
(2021:-) (2021:51%)  services
- 5% RESZDERS
Q015 -) (0215 - 51%)

# English name for identification purpose only.
* The equity interests of Hangzhou Weizi is held by individual nominee on
behalf of the Group.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which,
in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
or assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group has
decided to cease the business of Hangzhou Hongmai and
Hangzhou Weizi.

HSH Company was disposed on 21 April 2022.

¢ EXERERREEN

* o HMHERRESREANS ANREERRE o
ERFSINARBIMB AR > HEERAH
FEEXENEERUEATENRBEA

Bl e BEERN SHIHMNBARNESRR
BIBRE

REE2022F12831HILFE ° AEERE
A AETUN AR B AN B BIZE TS ©

R ATIBNR20225F4821HEE ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR MBI IR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(a) Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
that have material non- controlling
interests

Set out below is summarised financial information for
the subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are
material to the Group. The amounts disclosed for the
subsidiary are before inter-company eliminations.

Summarised statement of financial position

32 XRAFTMEEMB AT FE (F

(a) EAERIFERERNIFEE

bt B 2B BT

TREYIAEEE BAIEEREDAIM
BRBNYBERE - WEAQBPTH
BTSN B BHIHABIBER -

Hangzhou Zhongtuo

MERREER N FRA
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
current assets MEEE 15,102 28,729
Current liabilities mENEE 15,110 26,697
Current net (liabilities)/assets RE(agd)  BERE (8) 2,032
Non-current assets EREEE 144 959
Non-current liabilities ERBAE = -
Non-current net assets JERBIEEFE 144 959
Net assets BEFE 136 2,991
Accumulated non-controlling interest RIEIFERER 331 1,745
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EEMFEHRRME
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (B TEIR)
32 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 32 ZRBEINEEHRBLABFE (&)
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)
(a) Details of non-wholly-owned (a) EEEARIFERERENIEEE
subsidiaries that have material non- M ATIBIEENS ()

controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised statement of comprehensive income

Hangzhou Zhongtuo

EHBRABER WM RE
2022 2021
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FAE7T
Revenue W= 27,071 34,393
Loss for the year NEEEGE (2,788) (5,703)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income  EHta2mE () UA (66) 140
Total comprehensive expense 2HERAZ4EEE (2,854) (5,563)
Loss allocated to non-controlling interest B = IEPEIE 5518 (1,383) (2,794)

Summarised statement of cash flows

Hangzhou Zhongtuo

HEMEMER M RIE
2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Net cash used in operating activities KRBT RS P8 (4,745) (4,8517)
Net cash generated from/(used in) WEMR (FA) IR 28
investing activities 28 (33)
Net cash (used in)/generated from EEE (FFAE) /B IRS %58
financing activities (691) 3,911
Net decrease in cash and cash RERREEEYRL BEE
equivalents (5,408) (973)
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32 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL

. . ;1 96

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
(Continued)

(b) Financial information of subsidiary in
which the equity interest is held by
individual nominee on behalf of the
Group

The summarised financial information below represents

=Y, /

32 ARANTEWBARRM (H)

(b) BREEBEARE ARKRAEE
BENKE AR S EE

T BEN IR A BB HHETHIE

amounts before inter-company eliminations: ]
2022 2021
HK$000 HK$'000
TFHT AT
Revenue g - _
Loss for the year KEEEB (3) (4)
Net assets BEFE 11,194 13,573
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33 DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY 33 HE—FHNBAE

The Group operated HSH Company in Hong Kong to provide TEEBNREABKEHFRLAT > ATEEL
table tennis training services to students with different ages Bk FRB AR B EEIKGINMRARTS o R4
and levels. The business operation and revenue of HSH RENEBEERMNER I FEIRENFHE
Company were unfavourably affected by the continuous HBIRBFENAFEE - AEGCHIRIE—FE
outbreak of COVID-19. In order to prevent further loss, the B AREEBRBHFZRILAT Z60%EHEE > IE
Group has disposed of 60% equity interest in HSH Company to BEAHEFHFEN LT (FRAFZTIATZ
Ms. Hui So Hung, the non-controlling other shareholder of HSH GG ER) ©

Company, at zero consideration.

The carrying amounts of assets and liabilities at the disposal REER > BEEREBENREENT !
date were as follows:

2022
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment M~ BEMEE 18
Other receivables HhEWERIE 124
Bank balances, deposits and cash IR1T4EER ~ FRURIRS 82
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 157
Other payables HERRIE (311)
Lease liabilities HeakE (175)
Contract liabilities GHEE (128)
Net liabilities disposed of HEZBEFRE (233)
Non-controlling interests IR 93
Net liabilities disposed of attributable to KANBVEBANELHHEZSEF5E
the owners of the Company (140)
Less: Consideration received BB -
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEWBABZ W (140)
Analysis of cash flows on disposal: HEZREREDN :
Cash consideration RERE -
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of HERSRIRESZEY (82)
Net cash outflow on disposal HEZIRESRHFEE (82)
34 COMPARATIVE FIGURES 34. LEEREF
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform TR FEENDEUTEERAEENZ
to the current year's presentation. HIFH o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
REMBRRMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB TEIR)

35 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 35 Zx/A BB ISIAR R R HHE S
RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

(a) Statement of financial position (a) MFEIRRT

2022 2021
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T8

Non-current assets ERHEE
Property, plant and equipment M2~ BB Rkt - -
Investments in subsidiaries RBABZRE - -

current assets MENEE
Other receivables HAthfE W k1B 340 362
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary EWR—ERRMKBAB ZFIE 1 1
Bank balances IR1T4ERR 22,460 18,813
22,801 19,176
current liabilities meEaE

Other payables HAhFE (S 7B 2,310 2,498
Amounts due to subsidiaries NN EIN=IE ] 88,712 61,806
Amount due to ultimate holding company FE{d R4 IZARA Bl > 218 618 18,965
91,640 83,269
Net current liabilities BB EFEE (68,839) (64,093)
Total assets less current liabilities #EERGTHEE (68,839) (64,093)
Net liabilities BEFEE (68,839) (64,093)

Capital and reserves BARRKHE
Share capital %N 23,430 23,430
Reserves i (92,269) (87,523)
Total deficit 544838 (68,839) (64,093)
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35 STAT‘E-M“ENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AND RESERVES MOVEMENT OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Reserve movement of the Company

35 ZRBWMBRARKEFREDH

(#&

(b) AT EELS

Capital
Share  redemption Warrant ~ Accumulated
premium reserve reserve losses Total
RVEER BXAEDHE DRESHE ESayi fazt
HKS$'000 HKS$'00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TET FAT TET TEL
Balance at 1 January 2021 RN E1B1BZE5 3,466,638 1 666 (3,539,807) (72,502)
Loss and total comprehensive expense AEEBBEREAELAE
for the year - - - (15,021) (15,021)
Lapse of warrant options DRERLN - - (666) 666 -
Balance at 31 December 2021 12021128318 &
and 1 January 2022 02E18 102 5 3,466,638 1 - (3,554,162) (87,523)
Loss and total comprehensive expense AEEBEREAELAE
for the year - - = (4,746) (4,746)
Balance at 31 December 2022 R2022E12A318 2 458% 3,466,638 1 - (3,558,908) (92,269)
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For the year ended 31 Decen\i‘ber"

HE12B31HLEEE
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$'00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET BT FET FHET
Results £
Revenue Wz 49,966 61,500 34,626 34,393 27,282
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (B518) /af 12,937 (9,149) (15,489) (22,097) (11,154)
Continuing operations FEREER 15,906 (2,251) (13,486) (14,715) (10,643)
Discontinued operations DRIEEEER (2,969) (6,898) (2,003) (7,382) (511)
(Loss)/profit attributable to: TIIATRER (518) &F
Owners of the Company N/NIEZZ=DN 16,197 (5,680) (17,315) (19,195) (9,746)
Non-controlling interests JEIERG IS (3,260) (3,469) 1,826 (2,902) (1,408)
12,937 (9,149) (15,489) (22,097) (11,154)
At 31 December
®128318
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
HK$'00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TET TET FET THET
Assets and liabilities BERAR
Total assets REE 107,654 131,844 66,395 90,941 41,364
Total liabilities RS =N (45,987) (81,509) (11,581) (50,582) (13,637)
61,667 50,335 54,814 40,359 27,727
Equity attributable to owners of KNATHEE NEGER
the Company 58,806 51,216 56,552 38,681 27,396
Non-controlling interests JEER S 2,861 (881) (1,738) 1,678 331
61,667 50,335 54,814 40,359 27,727
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